



## ASPE REPORT

# Best Practices for COVID-19 Vaccination and Testing: Environmental Scan Report

Prepared for

The Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE) At the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

> By Mathematica

April 2023

## Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation

The Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE) advises the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) on policy development in health, disability, human services, data, and science; and provides advice and analysis on economic policy. ASPE leads special initiatives; coordinates the Department's evaluation, research, and demonstration activities; and manages cross-Department planning activities such as strategic planning, legislative planning, and review of regulations. Integral to this role, ASPE conducts research and evaluation studies; develops policy analyses; and estimates the cost and benefits of policy alternatives under consideration by the Department or Congress.

## The Office of Science and Data Policy

The Office of Science and Data Policy within ASPE is the departmental focal point for policy research, analysis, evaluation, and coordination of department-wide public health science policy and data policy activities and issues. The Office provides authoritative advice and analytical support to the ASPE and departmental leadership on public health science policy and data policy issues and initiatives, coordinates science and data policy issues of interagency scope within HHS, and manages interagency initiatives in science policy and data policy. The Office works closely with staff from across the Department on strategic plan development and implementation efforts. The Offices also carries out a program of policy research, analysis, evaluation, and data development in these issues.

## **Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health**

The Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health (OASH) oversees key public health offices and programs in HHS, a number of Presidential and Secretarial advisory committees, 10 regional health offices across the nation, and the Office of the Surgeon General and the U.S. Public Health Service Commissioned Corps.

## The Office of Infectious Disease and HIV/AIDS Policy

The Office of Infectious Disease and HIV/AIDS Policy (OIDP) within OASH provides strategic leadership and management, while encouraging collaboration, coordination, and innovation among federal agencies and stakeholders to reduce the burden of infectious diseases. The Office develops, coordinates, and supports a range of infectious disease initiatives, such as the Minority HIV/AIDS Fund. The Office manages 5 Federal Advisory Committees including the National Vaccine Advisory Committee. One key activity is to develop national action plans to prevent infectious diseases related to vaccines, viral hepatitis, HIV/AIDS, sexually transmitted diseases, blood/tissue safety and antimicrobial resistance. The National Vaccine Program (NVP) is housed within OIDP and functions to advise the Assistant Secretary for Health on immunization issues. The NVP fosters collaboration among federal agencies and stakeholders around a shared vision of eliminating vaccine-preventable diseases through safe and effective vaccination over the lifespan. The NVP coordinates two key national plans related to vaccines: *Vaccines National Strategic Plan* and *Vaccines Federal Implementation Plan*.

This report was produced by Mathematica under Contract No. HHSP2332015000351, Task Order No. 75P00122F37069 for the Office of Science and Data Policy.

## **Suggested Citation**

Mathematica. E. Michaels, C. Alvarez, K. Bradley, A. Bosold, C. Staatz, R. Hsu, S. Hoag. BEST PRACTICES FOR COVID-19 TESTING AND VACCINATION: ENVIRONMENTAL SCAN REPORT. Report for the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. April 2023.

#### CONTRIBUTING AUTHORS

Eli Michaels, PhD, Mathematica Cindy Alvarez, MPH, Mathematica Katharine Bradley, PhD, Mathematica Alyssa Bosold, MPH, Mathematica Colleen Staatz, MPH, Mathematica Ruth Hsu, MPH, Mathematica Sheila Hoag, MA, Mathematica

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Arnold Chen, MD, MSc, Mathematica Suzanne Felt-Lisk, MPA, Mathematica Divya Gupta, MS, Mathematica Yamai Jack, BA, Mathematica Rosalind Keith, PhD, Mathematica Lauren Maul, MA, Mathematica Nikhil Tiwari, PhD, Mathematica Madison Vincent, BA, Mathematica Deliya Wesley, PhD, Mathematica Members of the Expert Panel for the Best Practices for COVID-19 Testing and Vaccination Study

#### PROJECT OFFICERS AND PROJECT LEADERSHIP

Trinidad Beleche, PhD, ASPE Deborah Porterfield, MD, MPH, ASPE Susan Farrall, MPH, OASH Sharon Arnold, PhD, ASPE David Kim, MD, MA, OASH



## **Table of Contents**

<b>F</b>		C	-	
Exe	zxecutive Summary			
١.	Introduction			
	Α.	Motivation for the study and statement of the problem	13	
	В.	Purpose of the environmental scan	14	
	C.	Summary of methods	15	
	D.	Key concepts and definitions	16	
	E.	Organization of the report	18	
II. Populations of focus for COVID-19 testing and vaccination and routine vaccination			20	
	pro		20	
	Α.	Summary of populations at disproportionate risk of COVID-19 and adverse outcomes	20	
	В.	Barriers to COVID-19 testing, COVID-19 vaccination, and routine vaccination	22	
		1. Barriers to awareness and confidence	22	
		2. Barriers to access	23	
	C.	Populations prioritized by programs reviewed in this environmental scan	23	
III.	Кеу	indings on COVID-19 testing	25	
	A.	COVID-19 testing methods, types of tests, and reporting of test data	25	
	В.	Changes in COVID-19 testing guidelines over time	26	
	C.	COVID-19 testing programs	30	
		1. Primary approaches used for COVID-19 testing programs	30	
		2. Strategies to facilitate delivery of COVID-19 testing programs	32	
		3. Challenges to COVID-19 testing program implementation	37	
		4. Strategies to facilitate COVID-19 testing program implementation	39	
IV.	Кеу	indings on COVID-19 vaccination	42	
	A.	COVID-19 vaccine types and current vaccination guidelines	42	
	Β.	Changes in COVID-19 vaccination guidelines over time	42	
	C.	Equity implications of vaccine distribution	45	
	D.	COVID-19 vaccination programs	46	
		1. Primary approaches used for COVID-19 vaccination programs	46	

<ol> <li>Challenges to COVID-19 vaccination program implementation</li></ol>
<ul> <li>4. Strategies to facilitate COVID-19 vaccination program implementation</li></ul>
<ul> <li>V. Key findings on routine vaccination</li></ul>
<ul> <li>A. Routine vaccination guidelines, changes in vaccination rates during the COVID-19 pandemic, and pandemic-related barriers to routine vaccination</li></ul>
<ul> <li>B. Routine vaccination programs</li></ul>
<ol> <li>Primary approaches used for routine vaccination programs</li></ol>
<ol> <li>Strategies to facilitate delivery of routine vaccination programs</li></ol>
<ol> <li>Strategies to routine vaccination program implementation</li></ol>
3. Challenges to routine vaccination program implementation
4. Strategies to facilitate routine vaccination program implementation
VI. Programs' approaches to identifying populations and assessing performance
A. Data sources to identify populations that are medically or socially at disproportionate risk for COVID-19 or related adverse outcomes
B. Metrics programs reported using to assess performance72
1. Program outputs
2. Program outcomes
VII. Discussion
A. Key findings across testing and vaccination programs77
B. Understanding programs' implementation experiences and performance
C. How these findings inform the survey and site visits for the Best Practices for COVID-19 Testing and Vaccination Study80
References
Appendix A. Additional information on research methodology for the literature review
Appendix B. Organizations included in key informant interviews
Appendix C. Glossary of terms

## **Exhibits**

I.1.	Key concepts, definitions, and examples17
III.1.	Summary of COVID-19 testing milestones and COVID-19 testing guidelines (2020–2022)27
111.2.	Primary approaches of COVID-19 testing programs
111.3.	Strategies to facilitate delivery of COVID-19 testing programs
111.4.	Implementation challenges and strategies of COVID-19 testing programs
IV.1.	Changes in COVID-19 Vaccination Guidelines 2020–202244
IV.2.	Primary approaches of COVID-19 vaccination programs46
IV.3.	Strategies to facilitate delivery of COVID-19 vaccination programs
IV.4.	Implementation challenges and strategies of COVID-19 vaccination programs54
V.1.	Guidelines on routine vaccinations by age group <sup>1</sup> 58
V.2.	Primary approaches of routine vaccination programs61
V.3.	Strategies to facilitate delivery of routine vaccination programs
V.4.	Implementation challenges and strategies of routine vaccination programs65
VI.1.	Data sources used to identify populations at disproportionate risk of COVID-19 and direct their services
VI.2.	Metrics programs used to assess their effectiveness72
A.1.	Literature search terms and search strings
A.2.	Sources identified, screened, deemed highly relevant, and reviewed105
B.1.	Organizations included in key informant interviews107
B.2.	Research questions covered interview guides, by respondent type108
C.1.	Glossary of terms

### **Executive Summary**

#### I. Introduction

As part of U.S. Department of Health and Human Services efforts to combat COVID-19 and prioritize health equity, the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE) and the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health (OASH) have sponsored a mixed-methods study of testing and vaccination policies and programs for people who are medically or socially at disproportionate risk for COVID-19 or related adverse outcomes (Best Practices for COVID-19 Testing and Vaccination Study). Study goals include identifying and examining promising and best practices to improve (1) **COVID-19 testing** awareness, access, and uptake; (2) **COVID-19 vaccination** confidence, access, and uptake; and (3) **routine vaccination** confidence, access, and uptake during the COVID-19 pandemic. Mathematica is ASPE's research partner for the Best Practices for COVID-19 Testing and Vaccination Study, which started in 2022 and will finish in 2025.

Although the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency ended on May 11, 2023, the COVID-19 virus continues to cause illness, hospitalization, death, and disability. Moreover, experts agree that another pandemic is possible, and even likely. Findings from this study can support ongoing efforts to combat COVID-19 as well as efforts to prepare for future pandemics.

**Purpose of this report.** This report summarizes findings from an environmental scan of testing and vaccination policies and programs serving the populations of focus for the study, which we have defined as those who are medically or socially at disproportionate risk for COVID-19 or related adverse outcomes.<sup>1</sup> This definition encompasses groups with medical conditions that increase their risk of infection and adverse outcomes, groups that face greater risk of COVID-19 exposure because of where they live and work, and groups facing barriers to services, such as restrictive work schedules, low transportation access, language barriers, or low levels of income. These findings will inform the design of other study components, including a national survey of local organizations that have implemented testing and vaccination programs and site visits to selected organizations. The study team will disseminate synthesized findings from all phases of the research to federal, state, tribal, and local practitioners and policymakers seeking to improve COVID-19 outcomes and prepare for future public health crises.

**Methods and limitations.** We developed search terms and a screening process for a targeted literature review of materials published since 2020.<sup>2</sup> We also interviewed key informants to identify guidelines and programs focusing on COVID-19 testing and COVID-19 vaccination and guidelines and programs focusing on routine vaccinations during the pandemic. We extracted information on programs from articles, websites, and our interview notes in an Excel-based tool. We analyzed this information using thematic inductive coding to identify themes within a taxonomy of program elements, including in program approaches, delivery strategies, implementation barriers, and implementation strategies. Because of the study's timeline, we made choices that may have implications for our findings. First, we purposely limited the search of routine vaccination programs to those focused on halting the declining rates during the COVID-19 pandemic. Second, we limited the search to materials printed in English, although there is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Throughout this report, we refer to these groups as "populations at disproportionate risk."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For further information on our methodology, see Appendix A.

inherent selection bias in doing so. Another limitation is that relatively few literature sources discussed barriers to program implementation, although understanding this was a goal of the environmental scan.

#### **II.** Highlights of environmental scan findings<sup>3</sup>

# Populations at disproportionate risk of COVID-19 or related adverse outcomes and common barriers to testing and vaccination

**Populations at disproportionate risk.** People and communities may experience disproportionate risks of COVID-19 or related adverse outcomes due to medical factors, social factors, or both. People who are immunocompromised face higher risks of contracting COVID-19 and those with chronic conditions have increased risk of adverse outcomes from infection. Social factors such as living conditions or barriers to care can increase both the risk of COVID-19 exposure and adverse outcomes. These factors often intersect and compound to amplify risk. For example, structural inequities affecting some racial and ethnic groups have resulted in over-representation in essential service jobs and higher risk of COVID-19 exposure, high rates of medical conditions that increase risk of adverse COVID-19 outcomes, and low access to medical care. Populations that face disproportionate risks (medical, social, or both) include *older adults and people with chronic conditions; Black, Hispanic or Latinx people, American Indian/Alaska Native people, and Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander people; people who live in rural areas; people with disabilities, people with low income, and people who are uninsured.* 

**Barriers to COVID-19 testing, COVID-19 vaccination, and routine vaccination.** Populations at disproportionate risk of COVID-19 face multiple barriers to testing and vaccination related to awareness, confidence, and access. These barriers are rooted in historical and ongoing structural racism, economic inequality, and the inequitable allocation of social and health care resources.

- Awareness and confidence barriers include *misinformation, low health literacy, digital divides, and language barriers* (for example, lack of access to a computer or smartphone prevents people from being able to register online for testing or vaccination appointments) and *distrust in the health care system,* often rooted in a legacy of exploitation in clinical research and lived experiences of discrimination in health care settings.
- Access barriers include geographic barriers, such as for rural and farmworker communities where
  health care services are not readily available; transportation barriers and restrictive employment
  conditions that preclude some people from being able to reach testing and vaccination services or to
  take time off work to do so; and financial, health care, and legal barriers, such as not being able to
  lose wages to attend an appointment, perceived costs of vaccine or testing, not having a governmentissued identification card, or fear of deportation, among others.
- Pandemic-related disruptions—such as stay-at-home orders, social and economic effects on families, and delays in receipt of many routine health care services, among others—exacerbated other barriers, leading to missed or delayed routine vaccinations.

**Strategies to overcome barriers to testing and vaccination.** Programs worked to help populations at disproportionate risk overcome barriers to awareness of, confidence in, and access to testing and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Citations excluded from executive summary for brevity; see main body of report for all sources.

vaccination. This report organizes findings on the programs we identified in the environmental scan using a taxonomy of program elements that includes approaches (the primary mechanism or vehicle programs used to achieve intended outcomes) and strategies for delivering those approaches (the activities used to make the program approach effective). We organize findings on approaches and strategies according to their goals (whether they sought to improve awareness, confidence, access, uptake, or a combination). In practice, most program approaches and strategies were designed to help people overcome barriers to one or more goals.

#### **COVID-19 testing programs**

COVID-19 testing programs identified through the scan included primary approaches focused on increasing access. These included *mass clinics or events, testing in health care settings, community testing clinics, mobile testing clinics, and in-home testing.* Programs adopted a wide variety of strategies to enhance the effectiveness of these approaches.

- To increase awareness of, confidence in, and access to COVID-19 testing, programs often *partnered with community organizations and trusted community leaders* (such as faith leaders or school staff) or *engaged multilingual staff* to reduce barriers for those who did not speak English.
- Programs also worked to increase testing awareness and confidence by using multiple communication methods, such as using print materials, radio and TV ads, social media ads, and text messaging; sometimes tailoring or translating messages into other languages to raise awareness among specific populations. The programs prioritized comfort, safety, and dignity by doing things like erecting privacy screens and allowing people to collect their own samples.
- To increase access to testing, programs offered *expanded hours* and *offered walk-up options*, rather than limiting testing to those who made an appointment in advance. They also *addressed financial barriers, reduced documentation requirements*, and *enhanced registration and tracking* for those without internet access and those with low digital literacy. Some programs *paired testing with other services*, such as offering other health care services or providing concrete supports to address health-related social needs, like a hotel or food voucher.

Testing programs experienced resource limitations, logistical issues, and challenges with some partnerships. To address these challenges, programs *maximized scarce resources* by using volunteers or accepting donations from the government and partners, or by using the infrastructure of community partners, such as electricity, computers, and waiting areas. They also *implemented logistical efficiencies* to ease traffic and patient flow and *used communication tools* to streamline information sharing.

#### **COVID-19 vaccination programs**

Some COVID-19 vaccination program approaches identified through the scan mirrored testing program approaches focused on improving access, including *mass clinics or events, vaccination in health care settings, community vaccination clinics, mobile vaccination clinics, and even in-home vaccination* for homebound populations. Other COVID-19 vaccination programs focused on increasing awareness and confidence via *education events and outreach* rather than vaccine delivery. Like testing programs, COVID-19 vaccination programs used a range of strategies to enhance the effectiveness of their primary approaches.

- COVID-19 vaccination programs *partnered with trusted community groups, used multilingual staff,* and *coordinated with routine vaccination efforts* to expand access for specific populations and to increase confidence in the new vaccines.
- Programs also *developed culturally appropriate, translated messages;* and *used multiple dissemination channels* to expand the reach of their messages.
- Programs expanded access to the vaccines by *offering extended hours* or *walk-in appointments* to get vaccinated, while some provided COVID-19 vaccinations *without documentation requirements* like identification, insurance, or proof of residency. Others *helped with transportation services*.
- A few programs *offered financial incentives* to increase uptake of COVID-19 vaccinations and others *paired vaccinations with other services*, such as offering contact tracing and COVID-19 testing, other health care services, or food assistance.

Common implementation challenges for vaccination programs were *limited resources*, including funding, staffing to meet demand, vaccine supply, and storage capacity (like ultracold freezers); *information systems that could not exchange data* with state or county systems about who was or was not vaccinated; and *logistical challenges*, such as transporting vaccines in rural communities or lack of wireless connectivity. In addition to using strategies adopted as part of COVID-19 testing efforts (like using volunteers), *technical assistance* helped many groups by educating staff and volunteers on topics like how to address vaccine hesitancy as well as by connecting programs with community partners. *Flexible funding* and *vaccine donations* helped to alleviate some resource constraints. A few programs *conducted ongoing monitoring and quality improvement activities*, such as collecting data to monitor vaccine equity and using the data to develop proactive strategies to reach underserved groups.

#### **Routine vaccination programs**

The environmental scan found few programs focused on increasing routine vaccinations during the pandemic, although there is evidence that declining rates of routine vaccinations motivated some COVID-19 vaccination programs to focus on increasing routine vaccination uptake. Routine vaccination programs used similar approaches to COVID-19 testing and vaccination programs, including *vaccination in health care settings, community and mobile vaccination clinics,* and *vaccine education outreach*. Strategies to enhance the effectiveness of routine vaccination programs included *drawing on COVID-19 vaccination strategies, at times bundling routine vaccines with COVID-19 vaccines, engaging multilingual staff, forming community partnerships, using multiple channels to amplify messaging, and coordinating with other health services.* 

Few routine vaccination programs reported implementation challenges, but some noted **challenges bundling routine and COVID-19 vaccinations** since routine vaccinations had different funding sources and thus required payment or insurance. Others noted **staffing challenges**, in some cases because staff were deployed to work on COVID-19 vaccination efforts or were overwhelmed by the pandemic. Some programs **invested resources in training on specific vaccines and best practices for vaccine delivery**, and others **implemented quality improvement and evaluation efforts** or **invested in data infrastructure**, which programs expect will have long-term benefits for routine vaccination delivery.

#### Programs' approaches to identifying populations and assessing effectiveness

Programs in this review used published research and quantitative and qualitative data, sometimes in combination, to identify populations of focus and tailor their services to communities in need. For example, *published literature and national COVID-19 surveillance reporting* helped programs describe COVID-19 inequities by race, ethnicity, age, or other social factors and motivate or emphasize the importance of serving specific populations. *Local surveillance data* helped programs determine intervention sites in communities facing greater levels of transmission, hospitalization, and death from COVID-19; similarly, *information on social vulnerability in specific neighborhoods* helped them allocate resources. Programs also used data on *COVID-19 testing and vaccination* rates to identify communities in need of more services. Qualitative sources included *surveys with community members, physician referrals, community working groups, and social media,* all of which helped programs illuminate contextual and community-specific needs that might be missed using quantitative data.

Testing and vaccination programs that assessed their effectiveness used *measures of the quantity and quality of their activities and services (program outputs)*. These measures included the reach of outreach and education efforts, number of clinics and events, number of appointments made or tests or vaccines ordered, number of tests or vaccine doses administered, number of people tested or vaccinated, geographic reach of services, and patient satisfaction. *Less commonly, programs assessed outcomes, or measures of changes among program participants,* such as changes in rates of COVID-19 testing and vaccination, changes in knowledge or attitudes about vaccination, and changes in routine vaccination rates, sometimes in relation to pre-pandemic rates.

#### **III.** Discussion

This environmental scan encompasses programs and policies focused on a variety of populations, operating at the local, state, and federal levels. Most other review or synthesis papers focus on only a single population group, or on either testing or vaccination. The breadth of our focus enables us to identify patterns in barriers to testing and vaccination services and cross-cutting themes in programs' approaches and strategies. These themes support a taxonomy of program activities that aids understanding of how programs work to overcome various barriers to testing and vaccination. The breadth of our focus also supports informed recommendations for future research.

Our findings suggest that many barriers—and programs' efforts to overcome them—are not unique to testing or vaccination, nor even to COVID-19. This is not surprising given that many barriers are rooted in historic and structural inequities. However, COVID-19 added complexity to existing barriers. For example, policies such as stay-at-home orders and early limits on vaccine eligibility inhibited both testing and vaccination for populations bearing the brunt of longstanding social inequities. Fears of missing work and losing income with positive test results inhibited testing for people with low-wage jobs.

**Efforts to bring services closer to people were common across programs, as were partnership strategies and strategies for increasing trust.** Many of the strategies leveraged community assets, such as partnerships, trusted leaders, systems and infrastructure. Although these strategies are used in other public health interventions, the COVID-19 pandemic also drove some innovations, such as a broader range of partnerships and financial and other supports for people testing positive.

The programs in this review helped people navigate barriers but did not address their root causes. For example, offering extended hours does not address the labor conditions that prevent essential workers from taking time off to get a test or vaccine. However, fixing structural issues is out of the scope and reach of most testing and vaccination programs. Federal policies, though, such as the free testing and vaccination and stimulus payments authorized by the CARES Act, could help to ameliorate structural inequities if they were extended and expanded.

Most programs in our review assessed their performance using outputs, or measures of the quantity and quality of their services, rather than outcomes or community feedback. Focusing on outputs alone, such as the number of people programs reach or the number of services they deliver, might not reveal the effectiveness of program approaches. However, a few programs used comparative outcome data, such as testing rates resulting from different program approaches, vaccination status compared to a baseline or control group, or vaccination and testing rates for different demographic groups. Other than a few programs that used satisfaction surveys, programs we reviewed did not report efforts to solicit community feedback. How communities perceive testing and vaccination programs should matter a great deal for any efforts to serve communities that are medically or socially at disproportionate risk of COVID-19 or related adverse outcomes.

#### IV. Implications for study design

The goal of this ASPE/OASH project is to disseminate findings on promising practices for closing gaps in COVID-19 testing and vaccination and routine vaccinations and for reducing inequities in testing and vaccination in future pandemics. Ultimately, learnings from this project might help inform policymakers' efforts to mitigate the human and societal devastation of large-scale infectious disease outbreaks and the disproportionate impacts on those most at risk.

This environmental scan is only a first step in developing findings that will be useful to the field and to funders. Our findings point to the need for additional research on several topics, including how federal, state, and tribal context matter for programs, implementation challenges and strategies, which strategies programs view as effective, and how programs gauge community views of what works well, if at all. The project team will use this environmental scan's findings and unanswered questions to shape a national survey of local organizations and site visits to states and tribal organizations, and the programs working within them. Guided by an expert panel of federal and nonfederal experts in COVID-19 testing and vaccination, the project will use these data sources and a theoretical framework to identify promising practices for reducing testing and vaccine inequities that will maximize learnings from the COVID-19 pandemic and response.

#### V. Implications for future pandemics and public health crises

The findings in this report focus on approaches and strategies to help people overcome barriers to COVID-19 testing, COVID-19 vaccination, and routine vaccination, but the findings are broadly applicable to future pandemics and public health emergencies. In fact, many findings in this report are also relevant to routine care and efforts to overcome persistent inequities in health and wellbeing. Most barriers to COVID-19 testing and vaccination and routine vaccination predated the pandemic, resulting from longstanding inequities in social conditions that drive observable differences in access and health service use. However, the COVID-19 pandemic added complexity to these barriers and to efforts to

overcome them; the same will likely be true of future pandemics. Policymakers and practitioners at federal, state, tribal, and local levels should therefore consider how strategies identified in this report, such as working with trusted community partners to bring health services directly to places where people already congregate, can help to advance health equity in the near term. The findings in this report also suggest that policymakers and practitioners can prepare for future public health threats on two fronts: both by strengthening underlying community infrastructure, partnerships, and resilience, and by developing strategies and funding mechanisms specifically focused on overcoming barriers to public health services that might be exacerbated in a crisis.

### I. Introduction

#### A. Motivation for the study and statement of the problem

The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated longstanding health inequities (Simmons et al. 2021). Historically marginalized, systematically under-resourced, and medically underserved U.S. communities have disproportionately experienced more COVID-19-related infections, hospitalizations, and deaths, compounded by limited access to vaccines and other effective mitigation strategies (Khanijahani et al. 2021; Smith et al. 2021; Romano et al. 2021; Webb-Hooper et al. 2020; Islam et al. 2021; Nayak et al. 2020). The evolving nature of COVID-19 guidance and the inconsistent approach to testing and vaccination across jurisdictions in the U.S. delayed shared learnings and rapid implementation of effective strategies for all communities (DeSalvo et al. 2021). Contextual factors such as social and cultural beliefs and norms presented additional challenges to COVID-19 testing and vaccine uptake in many communities once tests and vaccines were available (Reitsma et al. 2021; Nguyen et al. 2022). Further, rates of routine child and adult vaccinations fell during the pandemic in these already hard-hit communities, hampering efforts to eliminate existing inequities in routine vaccination coverage (CDC 2023b; Jain et al. 2022; Skolnik et al. 2021).

COVID-19 not only exacerbated longstanding inequities, but also exposed the structural factors underlying them (Isasi et al. 2021). Structural racism—defined as public and private policies, norms, and cultural representations that lead to unequal freedom, opportunity, value, resources, advantage, restrictions, constraints or disadvantage for individuals and populations according to their race or ethnicity (Braveman et al. 2022)—upholds racial inequities in political, legal, economic, health care, education, and criminal justice systems (Braveman et al. 2022; Feagan and Ducey 2018). As a result, structural and social conditions—including residential segregation, the inequitable allocation of social and health resources, concentrated poverty, over-representation in low-wage jobs and in the prison systems, and higher levels of chronic stress—cluster together to create higher barriers to health and wellness for Black, Latinx, Indigenous, and other communities of color (Egede and Walker 2020; Pirtle 2020). Moreover, historical exploitation and abuse by medical and research entities including the federal government (for example, the Tuskegee Syphilis Study) and present-day lived experiences of racial discrimination in health care settings have led to distrust in the medical establishment, eroding confidence in COVID-19 testing and vaccination (AuYoung et al. 2022; Neely et al. 2021; Willis et al. 2023).

The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) responded by making significant investments in COVID-19 programs that prioritize health equity, such as the Administration for Strategic Preparedness

and Response's investments in home testing, the National Institutes of Health's Rapid Acceleration of Diagnostics– Underserved Populations (RADx-UP) initiative, and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's Partnering for Vaccine Equity program. These programs have already generated evidence to develop new approaches to improve vaccine access and confidence for specific communities.

Recognizing the need for additional evidence to support federal, state, and local efforts to close testing and vaccination gaps—and to identify useful lessons for future pandemics—the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE) and the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health (OASH) sponsored a mixedmethods study of best practices in COVID-19 testing and vaccination and routine vaccination for people who are medically or socially at disproportionate risk for COVID-19 or related adverse outcomes (Best Practices for COVID-19 Testing and Vaccination study). The goals of the study are to identify and examine promising and best practices to (1) increase COVID-19 testing awareness, access, and uptake; (2) increase confidence in, access to, and uptake of COVID-

#### Federal agencies provided resources to increase COVID-19 testing and vaccination

- Federal agencies—including the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Department of Agriculture, Department of Homeland Security, and Housing and Urban Development—funded testing and vaccination programs in amounts ranging from \$15 million to \$5 billion.
- Recipients included state, tribal, and local governments, health centers, and community organizations.
- Some federal funding focused on increasing equitable access to tests and vaccines. Federal agencies also supplied COVID-19 tests and vaccines and established testing sites (CDC 2023g; HRSA 2022c; ASPR 2022).

19 vaccines; and (3) improve confidence in, access to, and uptake of routinely recommended vaccines for children and adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. Mathematica is ASPE's research partner for the Best Practices for COVID-19 Testing and Vaccination study and developed this report based on a targeted environmental scan of testing and vaccination programs serving populations facing disproportionate risks. Although the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency ended on May 11, 2023, the COVID-19 virus continues to cause illness, hospitalization, death, and disability (Schnirring 2023). Moreover, experts agree that another pandemic is possible, and even likely (Linder et al. 2023). Thus, findings from this study can support ongoing efforts to combat COVID-19 as well as efforts to prepare for future pandemics.

#### B. Purpose of the environmental scan

The environmental scan is an important first step to understand the range of programs intended to improve COVID-19 testing, COVID-19 vaccination, and routine vaccinations for the populations of focus for the study. Findings in this report will inform the design of other components of the study, including a national survey of local organizations that have implemented testing and vaccination programs and site visits to selected organizations. The study team used research questions in the following three topic areas to guide the environmental scan.

**Contextual factors for programs.** The environmental scan included a review of federal regulations and guidelines that provide context for programs designed to increase COVID-19 testing and vaccination among people who are medically or socially at disproportionate risk for COVID-19 or related adverse outcomes. We also looked for information about how programs have used resources (such as funding,

staffing, and supplies) provided by local, state, or federal jurisdictions to increase COVID-19 testing and vaccination.

**COVID-19 testing and vaccination program implementation and evaluation.** A primary purpose of the environmental scan was to review information about how programs increased COVID-19 testing and vaccination in intended populations. Although the study initially developed research questions about slightly different outcomes or goals for COVID-19 testing and vaccination and routine vaccination— specifically, naming increased awareness as one goal of testing programs versus increased confidence for vaccination programs—the scan found that programs sought to increase both awareness and confidence for both testing and vaccinations, as well as to increase access. We also reviewed how programs identified their intended populations, how they evaluated their programs (for example, by measuring changes in uptake or use of testing and vaccines), and what data sources they considered for these tasks.

**Routine vaccination.** The environmental scan included a review of strategies that programs have used to ensure that children and adults were up to date on routine vaccinations during the pandemic, and how or if they addressed inequities in routine vaccination access and uptake.

#### C. Summary of methods

To inform this report, we conducted a targeted literature review of materials published from 2020 through January 2023, <sup>4</sup> printed in English, and focused on the United States, and we interviewed key informants. See <u>Appendix A</u> for more detail on sources and methods.

**Literature on testing and vaccination guidelines.** We identified background information on COVID-19 testing, vaccination, and disparities and on routine vaccination through focused Google searches. We also searched relevant federal agency websites, such as Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), Food and Drug Administration (FDA), and Association of Public Health Laboratories (APHL).

Literature on policies and programs. We reviewed peer-reviewed and gray literature on programs focusing on COVID-19 testing and COVID-19 vaccination and routine vaccination during the pandemic. We created specialized search strings that included key words such as "program," "initiative," "campaign," "model," "intervention," "policy," or "strategy," combined with terms related to the population of focus (people who are medically or socially at disproportionate risk of COVID-19 or related adverse outcomes). We searched the PubMed, CINAHL, SOCIndex, and Health Policy Reference Center bibliographic databases and Google using search strings for each program focus (COVID-19 testing, COVID-19 vaccination, and routine vaccination). For our Google search, we reviewed search results for each of these three program foci until we approached saturation indicated by duplicate links. This yielded roughly 40 results for each program focus. We also reviewed an inventory of federal programs related to COVID-19 testing, COVID-19 vaccinations, and routine vaccinations that ASPE provided.

**Key informant interviews.** We conducted 22 one-hour interviews with respondents implementing or funding COVID-19 testing and vaccination and/or routine vaccination programs. Respondents were representatives of health care organizations, local and state health departments, community-based organizations, academic institutions, foundations, and federal agencies. We identified key informants

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> However, information on COVID-19 vaccination guidelines in Section IV and on routine vaccination guidelines in Section V is current as of April 2023.

through recommendations from the project's expert panel members and internet searches. We sought variation in organization type, geographic location, and population(s) of focus. We conducted all interviews virtually in February and March 2023, using interview guides tailored for key informants' organization type. See <u>Appendix B</u> for more information on key informants and interview topics.

**Analysis.** We extracted information on specific programs from articles, websites, and our interview notes in an Excel-based tool. We used thematic inductive coding to identify themes within a taxonomy of program elements, including in program approaches, delivery strategies, implementation barriers, and implementation strategies (see Exhibit I.1).

Limitations. The environmental scan was purposive and targeted, rather than systematic. The findings in this report are not based on an exhaustive search of all relevant programs. They also privilege those programs that were able to publish findings—such as programs administered by universities and funded by federal grants—as well as those able to publish by January 2023. Some reports may be in progress and have not yet been published. Thus, findings do not represent all relevant programs or promising practices, and it is possible that our taxonomy of program elements organized by the goals of increasing awareness, confidence, access, and uptake would change with more (and more updated) data. In addition, sources may exclude programs for, or findings about, some groups of people at disproportionate risk of COVID-19 or related adverse outcomes, for example because they are small and excluded from the data sources that would help programs identify and serve them. We purposely limited the search of routine vaccination programs to those focused on halting the declining rates during the COVID-19 pandemic, but this limited our findings on general promising practices for encouraging routine vaccinations. We also acknowledge the inherent selection bias in limiting the search to materials printed in English. Finally, although understanding barriers to program implementation was a goal of the environmental scan, relatively few sources discussed this topic.

#### D. Key concepts and definitions

We define and provide examples of concepts central to the environmental scan in this section and in Exhibit I.1. We also explain how we use certain terms to describe findings. See <u>Appendix C</u> for a glossary with additional terms.

**Use of the term "program."** For parsimony, we use program throughout the report to refer to any organized, planned, and ongoing change effort. Sources sometimes used different terms interchangeably, such as intervention and program, or described efforts labeled as programs, projects, or models in similar ways. We searched for a broad list of terms to ensure that we reviewed relevant practices, regardless of word choices in the sources we reviewed. We use specific terms such as "campaign" to describe our findings where such a term adds meaning or clarity. Policies can include guidelines, rules, regulations, laws, procedures, principles, or directions. Like programs, policies can also constitute interventions to reduce COVID-19 testing and vaccination and routine vaccination disparities. In this report, we focus on federal policies—primarily testing and vaccination guidelines, but also key federal legislation—that provide context for program-related findings. State-level policies varied widely. Although the sources we reviewed did not include in-depth descriptions of individual state policies, possibly because states are less likely to publish descriptions of their efforts, the Kaiser Family Foundation (2021) and Williams and others (2023) provide helpful syntheses.

**Information on levels and actors.** The sources we reviewed included programs at the local (neighborhood, city, county), state (or region of a state), multi-state, and national levels. Programs in our review often involved partnerships among funders, administrators, and implementers operating at different levels. For example, a program might have been funded at the federal level, administered by a state or county health department, and implemented by community-based organizations. The primary administrator or implementer was not always clear in the sources we reviewed. Many of the entities administering programs in this environmental scan were universities, possibly because of universities' relatively greater ability to publish findings about programs they were involved in. Where possible, we include information on the level or location and entities administering the programs in our discussion of findings.

**Terms for program elements and outcomes.** Although other resources on COVID-19 testing and vaccination use different terms for program elements or group them differently, for example by describing all COVID-19 vaccination program elements as "strategies" (CDC 2022l), organizing findings according to the taxonomy in Exhibit I.1 allows for more precision in understanding program activities and promising practices for addressing testing and vaccine inequities. We used these concepts to organize findings about program delivery, implementation, and evaluation. Specifically, we categorized programs' primary approaches and the strategies they use to enhance the effectiveness of their primary approaches. We organized findings on approaches and strategies according to whether they sought to increase testing and vaccination awareness, confidence, access, or uptake. For the most part, those efforts helped people overcome barriers to awareness, confidence, and access). Most programs in our review directly sought to increase awareness, confidence, or access; increased uptake is the desired result. However, a few programs used strategies that directly affected uptake, such as financial incentives.

Concept	Definition	Examples
Policy	<ul> <li>A law, regulation, procedure, administrative action, incentive, or voluntary practice of governments and other institutions intended to influence systems development, organizational change, and individual behavior to promote improvements in health</li> </ul>	<ul> <li><u>American Rescue Plan Act of 2021</u></li> <li><u>Public Readiness and Emergency Preparedness (PREP) Act</u></li> <li>Funding policy and guidance, for example in notices of funding opportunities from the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)</li> </ul>
Guideline	<ul> <li>A specific type of policy; a set of recommendations related to a particular topic provided by an agency and directed to states, public health practitioners, or individuals</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)'s <u>evidence-based guidelines</u>, such as:</li> <li><u>CDC guidelines for COVID-19 testing</u></li> <li><u>CDC vaccination schedules for health care providers</u></li> </ul>
Program	<ul> <li>An organized, planned, and ongoing change effort, at the local, state, multi- state, or national level. A program may include multiple approaches. We use the term "program" to encompass a broad set of terms used by sources, such as intervention, project, model, or campaign.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li><u>Sav Yes! Covid Test</u> (National Institutes of Health)</li> <li><u>One Vax Two Lives</u> (University of Washington)</li> <li><u>Catch Up to Get Ahead</u> (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services)</li> </ul>
Program focus	<ul> <li>The type of program or primary topic of a program, based on the three overarching study objectives</li> </ul>	<ul><li>COVID-19 testing</li><li>COVID-19 vaccination</li><li>Routine vaccination</li></ul>

#### Exhibit I.1. Key concepts, definitions, and examples

Concept	Definition	Examples
Program	• The primary mechanism(s) or vehicle(s)	Mass testing/vaccination clinics
approach	programs used to achieve intended COVID-19 testing, COVID-19 vaccination, and routine vaccination outcomes	Testing/vaccination in health care settings
		Community testing/vaccination clinics
		Mobile testing/vaccination clinics
		In-home testing/vaccination
		Vaccine education events or outreach
Strategies to facilitate <b>delivery</b> of	<ul> <li>Strategies or activities designed to make the program approach effective, focusing on the needs of program participants. Specific delivery strategies can be used across multiple approaches to further enhance their effectiveness.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Partner with trusted community organizations and leaders to deliver messaging and interventions</li> <li>Develop clear, accessible, and culturally tailored</li> </ul>
program		messaging, delivered through multiple channels
approaches		<ul> <li>Provide walk-up options and expanded hours to increase access</li> </ul>
		Remove need for physician referral, health insurance, or other documentation
Strategies to facilitate <b>implementation</b> of program approaches	<ul> <li>Activities designed to facilitate implementation of program approaches, focusing on program personnel and administration</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Ensure staff have adequate training and supplies</li> <li>Hold planning meetings between partnering organizations</li> </ul>
Program	<ul> <li>Proximate measures of the program's</li> </ul>	Number of testing or vaccination events
outputs	performance, including the quantity and quality of service delivery	<ul> <li>Program reach, such as the number of people reached through outreach and education</li> </ul>
		Number of COVID-19 tests administered
		Number of COVID-19 vaccines delivered
		Number of influenza vaccines delivered
Program	<ul> <li>Measures of changes among program recipients and program effects on intended populations</li> </ul>	Changes in testing and vaccine confidence and awareness
outcomes		<ul> <li>Changes in rates of testing and vaccination</li> </ul>
		Changes in COVID-19 incidence and deaths

#### E. Organization of the report

The report is organized as follows. Section II reviews populations at disproportionate risk for COVID-19 or adverse outcomes, common barriers to testing and vaccination services experienced by these populations, and populations prioritized by the programs we reviewed. The next three sections review findings on COVID-19 testing (Section III), COVID-19 vaccination (Section IV), and routine vaccination (Section V). Each section begins with information on relevant federal guidelines and changes in those guidelines over time. We then describe programs' primary approaches, delivery strategies, implementation challenges, and implementation strategies.<sup>5</sup> In Section VI, we provide an overview of data sources that are used, or can be used, to identify communities in need of COVID-19 testing, COVID-19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> At the time of this reporting, programs were at various stages of implementation. Some programs were completed, others ongoing, and others had not yet begun. For readability, we use the past tense throughout, except in Section II, where we describe (1) populations that are medically or socially at disproportionate risk of COVID-19 or related adverse outcomes or (2) barriers to COVID-19 testing and vaccination and routine vaccination services. Many risks and barriers are ongoing.

vaccination, and routine vaccination services and to measure the outcomes of programs' efforts. We conclude by summarizing broad themes and implications for future work to address social inequities in COVID-19 testing and vaccination, in routine vaccinations, and in responses to the next pandemic.

# II. Populations of focus for COVID-19 testing and vaccination and routine vaccination programs

In this section, we first summarize the evidence on populations that are medically or socially at disproportionate risk of COVID-19 or related adverse outcomes. This definition of the population of focus for the environmental scan encompasses groups with medical conditions that increase their risk of infection and adverse outcomes, groups facing greater risk of COVID-19 infection because of where they live and work, and groups facing barriers to health services. Drawing on equity concepts, we then review barriers to COVID-19 testing and vaccination awareness, confidence, access, and uptake. Finally, we provide a high-level summary of how programs sought to address these barriers and how they have defined and prioritized communities facing barriers.

# A. Summary of populations at disproportionate risk of COVID-19 and adverse outcomes

People and communities may experience disproportionate risk of COVID-19 due to medical factors, social factors, or both (Au Young et al. 2022; CDC 2020e, 2022a, 2022h). People who are immunocompromised face higher risks of contracting COVID-19 and those with chronic conditions have increased risk of adverse outcomes from infection. Social factors such as living conditions or barriers to care can increase both the risk of COVID-19 exposure and adverse outcomes. These factors often intersect and compound to amplify risk. For example, structural inequities affecting some racial and ethnic groups have resulted in overrepresentation in essential service jobs and higher risk of COVID-19 exposure, high rates of medical conditions that increase risk of adverse COVID-19 outcomes, and low access to medical care.

Below we summarize the disproportionate impacts of COVID-19 exposure, hospitalization, and death on various communities, including older adults, people with comorbidities, specific racial and ethnic groups, people in rural areas, people who are incarcerated, people experiencing homelessness, people residing in long-term care facilities, people with disabilities, and people who are uninsured. We further describe the inequities and barriers contributing to greater risk of COVID-19 and adverse outcomes for these groups in Section 11.B.

**Older adults and people with multiple conditions are at highest risk of hospitalization and death from COVID-19.** Adults ages 65 and older have had the highest rates of death from COVID-19 throughout the pandemic. Those ages 85 and older have had especially high mortality: in April 2023, the COVID-19 death rate for adults over 85 was 350 times higher than for people ages 18–29 and, as of September 2022, adults over 85 made up about 40 percent of deaths in the U.S. from COVID-19 (CDC 2023d, 2022h). Having medical conditions such as asthma, cancer, HIV, chronic liver or lung diseases, or diabetes increases the risk of death and complications from COVID-19 (CDC 2023f). As people age, their risk of some chronic conditions increases, compounding their risk of adverse outcomes. People with substance use disorder also have a higher prevalence of chronic conditions, such as kidney, liver, and lung diseases, and hence a higher risk of death and hospitalization from COVID-19 (Wang et al. 2021; Baillargeon et al. 2021).

Multiple racial and ethnic groups including Black, Hispanic or Latinx, American Indian/Alaska Native people, and Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islanders have experienced higher age-adjusted rates of

**COVID-19 cases and deaths than non-Hispanic white people.** Disparities in COVID-19 cases and mortality by race and ethnicity have changed at different points in the pandemic, generally widening as the virus surged (Ndugga et al. 2022). In 2021, Pacific Islanders, Hispanic or Latinx people, Black people, and American Indian/Alaska Native people had death rates that were double those of non-Hispanic white and Asian Americans (CDC 2021f). Black and Hispanic people had the highest mortality rates during the first few months of the pandemic, but for most of the pandemic, American Indian or Alaska Native people have experienced the highest mortality rates (CDC 2022h). Some gaps in testing and vaccination narrowed over time, particularly as vaccination and testing programs focused on reducing inequities and increasing vaccine confidence (Rubin-Miller et al. 2020; Anderson et al. 2021; Kriss et al. 2022; CDC 2021e). For example, disparities in rates of vaccination between Black and non-Hispanic white populations have narrowed from a 14-percentage point difference in April 2021 to a difference of 8 points in November 2021 (Burki 2021; Kriss et al. 2022). As of July 2021, vaccination rates among American Indian and Alaska Native people changed from being among the lowest by race and ethnicity to the highest (Kriss et al. 2022; Bennett 2021). Disparities in death rates by race and ethnicity have also decreased over time but still persist (CDC 2022h).

**People in rural areas have faced higher risk for COVID-19 infection and death in the later phases of the pandemic.** Initially, in early 2020, COVID-19 infections were highest in urban areas. However, in late 2020 rural areas began to experience higher rates of infection and death, and the urban–rural disparity in COVID-19 morbidity and mortality has increased throughout the pandemic (Cuadros et al. 2021; Saelee et al. 2022). Testing and vaccination barriers such as provider shortages, distance to test or vaccination sites, and lower levels of vaccine confidence among rural populations compared to urban populations have contributed to these disparities (Saelee et al. 2022; Tan et al. 2020).

**COVID-19 death rates are also higher for people who are incarcerated, are experiencing homelessness, or reside in a long-term care facility.** In addition to geographic location, living situations also put people at increased risk for COVID-19. For example, in 2020, people who were incarcerated had infection rates 5.5 times higher than the general population and death rates that were three times higher (Saloner et al. 2020). While these disparities began to decline in early 2021, cumulative COVID-19 case and mortality rates are substantially higher among the incarcerated population compared to the general population (Marquez et al., 2021b). People experiencing homelessness often reside in congregate settings, such as encampments and shelters, and have less access to prevention measures and health care. One 2021 study found that the COVID-19 mortality rate was 1.3 times higher for people experiencing homelessness than the general population (Leifheit et al. 2021). Residents in long-term care facilities, while less likely to be infected with COVID-19, had high mortality rates, particularly before the COVID-19 vaccination was available. In March 2021, about 8 percent of people in long-term care facilities had died of COVID-19 (The Covid Tracking Project 2021). However, after the introduction of the vaccine, mortality rates dropped steeply in most states (Chidambaram et al. 2021).

**People with disabilities and people who are uninsured also have experienced increased risk for COVID-19 and adverse outcomes.** For example, a 2022 study demonstrated that people with a physical or intellectual disability are less likely to be vaccinated than those without a disability, despite having more vaccine confidence (Ryerson et al. 2022). While research on the impact of COVID-19 for people with disabilities is limited (Lebrasseur et al. 2021), research demonstrates that individuals with intellectual disabilities are at increased risk of death (Gleason et al. 2021). One 2020 study cited morality rates eight

times higher than the general population (Landes et al. 2020). People who are uninsured are also at increased risk of adverse outcomes from COVID-19, despite having access to free testing and vaccination. For example, fear of co-pays and costs of treatment after receiving a positive test, contributes to delayed care and higher rates of COVID-19 hospitalization and mortality (Wafsy 2023; Gaffney et al. 2022; Miller et al. 2021). In addition, while federal legislation requires insurers to cover the costs of COVID-19 tests and provided funding for free tests for uninsured people, some providers nevertheless charge patients for tests, contributing to confusion and concerns around costs (Gaffney et al. 2022).

#### B. Barriers to COVID-19 testing, COVID-19 vaccination, and routine vaccination

Multiple health equity frameworks recognize that inequities in structures, policies, and systems influence environments, living conditions, resources, and service delivery, posing barriers to health (Hacker et al. 2022; WHO 2010; O'Neil and Wesley 2021). These structural and social inequities cause barriers to COVID-19 testing and vaccination and routine vaccination services through several causal pathways, affecting confidence in and awareness of testing and vaccination services, access to those services, and ultimately use of testing and vaccines. Although other sources categorize barriers to COVID-19 vaccination in different ways—such as structural, behavioral, and informational barriers (CDC 2022l), or structural and attitude-related barriers (Gonzalez et al. 2021)—we organize findings on barriers according to our research questions, focusing on awareness, confidence, and access, which drive testing and vaccination uptake. We discuss additional barriers to routine vaccinations during the pandemic in Section V.

#### **1.** Barriers to awareness and confidence

Misinformation, low health literacy, digital divides, and language barriers limited awareness about testing and vaccination guidelines and available resources. Misinformation and limited information about current guidelines and available vaccination and testing resources dissuade people from seeking testing (Alcendor et al. 2021; Corneli et al. 2022; Hernandez et al. 2021). For example, one testing program serving a low-income, majority Hispanic community in Northern California described a common misconception that people needed to be symptomatic to be tested or that testing was not necessary post-vaccination (Chamie et al. 2022). Low health literacy and digital divides made it difficult for some people to research available resources and register online for vaccination and testing appointments (Hansotte et al. 2021; Abdul-Mutakabbir et al. 2021; Public Health—Seattle and King County 2021). Many programs also noted language as a critical barrier to engaging with testing and vaccination resources, particularly among Latinx communities (Bigelow et al. 2021; Degarmo et al. 2022); one article we reviewed also noted language as a barrier for the San Carlos Apache Tribe accessing vaccination information (Le-Morawa et al. 2022).

**Distrust in the health care system diminished confidence in COVID-19 testing and vaccination.** Communities of color, Indigenous communities, immigrants, people with disabilities, and people with low levels of income and education have faced exploitation and discrimination within the U.S. health care system (AuYoung et al. 2022; Jaklevic et al. 2021). Given this legacy, some members of these communities have had lower levels of confidence in health care providers and health care organizations and were therefore hesitant to engage with testing and vaccination programs (Alcendor et al. 2022b; Boyd et al. 2022; Evans et al. 2021; CDC 2020e; DeGarmo et al. 2022; Neely et al. 2021). For example, in describing their intervention to improve the COVID-19 testing experience and build trust among those living in congregate settings—many of whom were people of color—Neely and colleagues (2021) emphasized how the present-day trauma of the COVID-19 pandemic for these communities compounded the historical trauma of medical racism (for example, in the Tuskegee Syphilis study), necessitating trauma-informed approaches to service delivery.

#### 2. Barriers to access

Structural inequities in the allocation of health care resources resulted in geographic barriers to testing and vaccination services. For example, rural communities (McCollum et al. 2022; Kepka et al. 2021; CDC 2020e), tribal communities (Le-Morawa et al. 2022; Sears et al. 2023), and farmworker communities (UC Davis Health 2020) have been underserved by health care resources. Within urban areas, inequities in the spatial distribution of resources have resulted in health care "deserts" for lower-income communities and communities of color (Alcendor et al. 2022a; Neely et al. 2021; Servick 2020). An analysis of travel time to COVID-19 testing sites found that testing sites were more likely to be located at a farther travel distance from rural communities and communities with a higher percentage of racial and ethnic minorities and people who are uninsured (CDC 2020e).

Lack of reliable transportation and employment conditions are social determinants of health that compounded geographic access problems. For people who do not own vehicles, transportation poses a critical barrier to accessing vaccination and testing services, especially when those services are far away (AuYoung et al. 2022; Ella 2020; Hansotte et al. 2021; Kaiser Family Foundation 2021; Bigelow et al. 2021; Marquez et al. 2021a). Likewise, restrictive work schedules for essential workers and low-wage workers made it difficult to miss work for COVID-19 testing or vaccination appointments (Abdul-Mutakabbir et al. 2022; Jaklevic et al. 2021; Chamie et al. 2022).

**Financial, health care, and legal concerns created barriers to testing and vaccination services.** For people with low income (Gupta et al. 2022; Relias Media 2021; Hernandez et al. 2021) or who are uninsured (Barry et al. 2020; Budhwani et al. 2023), accessing testing and vaccination services may be financially out of reach. Out-of-pocket costs, lost wages for appointments or a positive test result, or a combination of these factors can impede access (Chamie et al. 2022; Gupta et al. 2022; Rockefeller Foundation 2022; Servick 2020). Moreover, those without a primary care provider may struggle to access testing and vaccination services without a physician referral (Degarmo et al. 2022; Jaklevic et al. 2021). People who are undocumented may face additional barriers to vaccination and testing, including not having a government-issued identification card or fear of deportation (Bigelow et al. 2021, 2022; Hernandez et al. 2021; Winterbauer et al. 2021; Buro et al. 2022; Demeke et al. 2022a; Demeke et al. 2022b). Despite federal legislation and guidance requiring free testing and vaccination with minimal documentation, identification, and referral requirements, people may still be confused by or unaware of these policies (Demeke et al. 2022a; Demeke et al. 2022b).

#### C. Populations prioritized by programs reviewed in this environmental scan

Programs included in the environmental scan and key informant interviews worked to deliver services to populations that were at disproportionate risk for COVID-19 or adverse outcomes based on the social and medical factors described in Section II.A and those facing barriers to testing and vaccination access, confidence, and awareness, described in Section II.B. The communities served by the programs we reviewed aligned closely with CDC's guidance for prioritizing the selection of communities for vaccination

interventions (CDC 2021f). In Section VI, we provide details on the data and information that programs used to identify priority populations.

**Communities and people with lower access to health care resources were the broad focus of most programs, which aimed to directly deliver interventions to communities.** At the community level, many programs worked to deliver testing and vaccination services in rural areas (Appa et al. 2021; Beste et al. 2021; Centene Corporation 2020; Dumproff et al. 2022; Molling et al. 2020) or urban neighborhoods with gaps in health care resources (AuYoung et al. 2022; Gupta et al. 2022; Jaklevic et al. 2021; Baker et al. 2021). At the individual level, many programs sought to provide testing and vaccination services to people who did not have health insurance (Barry et al. 2020; Gillwald et al. 2022; Winterbauer et al. 2021).

**People deemed high-risk for COVID-19 due to specific conditions or illnesses were the focus of some programs.** This included those living with HIV, people with substance use disorders, frail or older persons, pregnant persons, and those living with chronic disease (Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health 2020; Kim et al. 2021; Marcell et al. 2022; Washington et al. 2022; Whanger et al. 2022; Winterbauer et al. 2021).

**Communities of color, such as Black, Hispanic or Latinx, and Indigenous communities impacted by the effects of structural racism were the priority for many programs.** For example, the Black Doctors COVID-19 Consortium, in partnership with the Philadelphia Department of Public Health, offered church-based and mobile testing to Black residents in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania (Jaklevic et al. 2021). In a program run by the Indian Health Service, pharmacists delivered vaccination services to Indigenous communities living on Indian reservations in Oklahoma, Minnesota, Wisconsin, Michigan, Arizona, and Illinois (Gregory et al. 2021). The Clínica Esperanza/Hope Clinic hosted community testing events for Hispanic/Latino communities in Providence, Rhode Island (Barry et al. 2020). Many programs serving communities of color noted distrust of the health care system due to historical and ongoing discrimination as a barrier to intervention uptake (Evans et al. 2021; CDC 2020e; DeGarmo et al. 2022; Neely et al. 2021).

People in specific occupational or residential settings with increased levels of COVID-19 transmission were the focus of some programs. For example, a California program planned to deploy vans to deliver testing to farmworkers and their families (UC Davis Health 2020). Many farmworkers did not have access to personal protective equipment and could not stay six feet apart due to the nature of their work. A similar vaccination campaign sent vans to rural areas across three states to deliver vaccination services (Relias Media 2021). Other programs set up temporary clinics in congregate settings to serve those living and working there, including homeless shelters (Berner et al. 2022), public housing (Alcendor et al. 2022a), detention centers (Chidavaenzi et al. 2022), and nursing homes (Alcendor et al. 2022a), among other spaces (Neely et al 2021).

**Populations served by these programs are not mutually exclusive.** Because of structural racism, people who are Black, Indigenous, Latinx, and from other communities of color are more likely to be essential workers, incarcerated, experiencing homelessness, or living with a chronic health condition (AuYoung et al. 2022; Boyd and Buchwald 2022; Hernandez et al. 2021; National Governors Association 2020; Servick 2020). Social and health resources are also less likely to be allocated to these communities (AuYoung et al. 2022). Many programs recognized these compounding risk factors, leading them to define their populations of focus at the intersections of race and ethnicity and poverty (Chamie et al. 2022; Baker et al. 2021) or occupation (NYU Silver School of Social Work 2022; Feifer et al. 2021).

## III. Key findings on COVID-19 testing

This section first presents background on COVID-19 testing, including the testing methods and types of tests currently available and the latest COVID-19 testing guidelines (Section III.A), and how testing guidelines have changed over time as the COVID-19 pandemic and response efforts evolved (Section III.B). Section III.C presents common approaches and strategies used to deliver COVID-19 testing services, challenges programs faced in implementing testing programs, and strategies programs used to overcome those challenges.

#### A. COVID-19 testing methods, types of tests, and reporting of test data

**Diagnostic, screening, and surveillance testing are the three main COVID-19 testing methods.** Diagnostic testing identifies a current COVID-19 infection for individuals, particularly for people who have symptoms or were recently exposed. Screening testing identifies infections among groups who may be at higher risk for COVID-19 and are performed regardless of symptoms or exposure. Surveillance testing focuses on ongoing monitoring and collection of de-identified testing data to look for outbreaks of COVID-19 at a population level (FDA n.d.a; CDC 2022k; APHL n.d.).

Molecular and antigen COVID-19 tests are used for diagnosis, screening, and surveillance. Other tests, including antibody tests, are used primarily for surveillance. As described further in Section III.B, types of tests and testing strategies evolved with the introduction of new technology, availability of tests, and organizational capacity for testing.

- Molecular tests detect ribonucleic acid (RNA), a genetic material from the SARS-CoV-2 virus that causes COVID-19 (APHL n.d.). These tests include polymerase chain reaction (PCR) tests and other nucleic acid amplification tests and are generally performed in a laboratory (FDA n.d.b). These tests are considered the most accurate. However, because RNA can stay in the body for up to 90 days, these tests are not recommended for people who tested positive for COVID-19 in the past 90 days (CDC 2022c).
- Antigen tests produce rapid results, typically within 30 minutes, and can be at-home tests or self-tests (CDC 2022c). Because antigen tests are more likely to produce false negative results, the FDA recommends repeat testing after a negative antigen test (FDA 2022a).
- Other types of COVID-19 tests include antibody (or serology) tests, which measure whether people were at one time infected with COVID-19. Because they cannot distinguish between current or past infections, these are not diagnostic tests, but they can be used for general surveillance (FDA n.d.b).

State, local, tribal, and territorial health departments require reporting for molecular and antigen tests, if they are performed in specific health care settings. Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments (CLIA)-certified hospitals, health care providers, and laboratories are required to report positive diagnostic and screening test results to patients and to their state, local, tribal, or territorial health department. This includes the results of nucleic acid amplification tests or molecular tests and of antigen test results. If tests are performed outside of a CLIA-certified facility (such as self-tests) or if tests are not FDA-authorized, results may be reported to the health department upon request, if they are de-identified and used for surveillance purposes only. After receiving data, health departments have the option to voluntarily submit

de-identified case data to CDC for national surveillance through the National Notifiable Diseases Surveillance System (CDC 2022k). CDC then displays state and national case counts in a COVID Data Tracker. While health departments may use self-tests for surveillance purposes, national surveillance data does not include positive self-tests or other tests performed outside of CLIA-certified providers (CDC 2022d).

#### B. Changes in COVID-19 testing guidelines over time

COVID-19 testing guidelines have evolved rapidly from 2020 to the present, influenced by changing science and key milestones such as the (1) development of testing and vaccine technology, (2) introduction of policies and funding to support expanded testing, and (3) implementation of federal programs to expand testing capacity. Exhibit III.1 provides an overview of testing accomplishments and milestones that represented turning points in the COVID-19 response, as well as changes in guidelines for using various tests and testing modalities, that were influenced by these milestones. We describe these changes and the current COVID-19 testing guidelines further in the text below.

## Exhibit III.1. Summary of COVID-19 testing milestones and guidelines February 2020–July 2022

1.1. Summary of COVID-19 testing min	este	mesa	and guidelines rebruary 2020–July 2
Key Milestones			Changes to Guidance
	20	020	
FEBRUARY • The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) issued an emergency use authorization (EUA) for a Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)-developed SARS-CoV-2 diagnostic test (CDC 2023a).	c ,	<	FEBRUARY • COVID-19 testing guidelines suggested reporting specific Patients Under Investigation (PUI) to CDC, including patients who (1) had fever or respiratory illness and close contact with someone who had COVID-19 or (2) had fever and respiratory illness and recently traveled from China. COVID-19 diagnoses needed to be confirmed with a CDC-developed test kit (CDC 2020b).
MARCH • The federal government declared COVID-19 a national public health emergency (CDC 2023a).			
• The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act was signed into law, requiring insurance providers to cover COVID-19 diagnostic			<ul> <li>Later, CDC updated PUI criteria to include any patients with a respiratory illness regardless of travel history (CDC 2020c).</li> </ul>
testing (Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act 2020). • A White House Joint Task Force established the			<ul> <li>The FDA also allowed some laboratories to begin using COVID-19 tests that were not developed by CDC, prior to their EUA (FDA 2020).</li> </ul>
Community-Based Testing Sites (CBTS) program,			MADCH
(CDC 2023a; Miller et al. 2021).			• The FDA announced that CDC did not need to complete confirmatory testing for a positive COVID-19 diagnosis (CDC 2023a).
• The CBTS program expanded to include the Pharmacies+ Testing program, which established testing sites at retail pharmacies and laborato- ries. This program supported testing at 7,708 locations across the United States (CDC 2023a).			• CDC expanded testing guidelines to prioritize testing for people who were (1) hospitalized with symptoms, (2) immunocompromised or otherwise at higher risk for poor outcomes, or (3) in close contact with confirmed COVID-19 cases (CDC 2020c)
• The National Institutes of Health (NIH) launched the RADx Initiative to rapidly develop and scale COVID-19 testing technology and increase testing capacity (NIH 2020).			
MAY • The FDA authorized the first at-home test for COVID-19 (CDC 2023a).			
ne U.S. Department of Health and Human rvices, CDC's Epidemiology and Laboratory pacity for Prevention and Control of Emerging ections, and Indian Health Services provided			
health programs, and local health jurisdictions to expand COVID-19 testing capacity (CDC 2023a).			JUNE
<b>JUNE</b> • The CBTS program established surge testing in 658 communities that experienced, or were likely		$\leq$	regardless of symptoms and suggesting screening testing to identify asymptomatic individuals in congregate settings (CDC 2023a).
to experience, large increases in COVID-19 transmission and infection rates (CDC 2023a).		<	AUGUST • CDC updated testing guidelines, noting that individuals who were in close contact with someone who had COVID-19 did not need to test if they were as wratematic (Curran 2020)
		K	• CDC reversed its prior updates, emphasizing that all close contacts of people with COVID-19 should seek testing (Feuer 2020).

#### JANUARY

• The Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act authorized HHS and CDC to provide \$22 billion for testing and vaccine roll-out in states, localities, and territories (CDC 2023a). This included CDC funding to address COVID-19 disparities through expanded testing, contact tracing, and other strategies (CDC 2023a). 2021

#### **Key Milestones**

#### Changes to Guidance

#### FEBRUARY

• Ellume agreed to send 100,000 at-home rapid test kits per month to the United States through July 2021 (CDC 2023a).

• The federal government invested \$680 million to expand testing in communities at disproportionate risk of COVID-19, schools, and congregate settings. With this funding, CDC launched Operation Expanded Testing, which established regional coordination hubs to support testing, specimen collection, and laboratory analysis (HHS 2021b; CDC 2022e).

#### MARCH

• The American Rescue Plan was signed into law and included \$50 billion to expandCOVID-19 testing capabilities (American Rescue Plan Act 2021; CDC 2021b).

• NIH and CDC started a pilot of the Say Yes! COVID Test program in Pitt County, North Carolina, and Chattanooga/Hamilton County, Tennessee. The program measured whether at-home tests reduced the transmission of COVID-19 and identified best practices for distributing at-home tests (CDC 2023a). The program later expanded to Georgia, Hawaii, Kentucky, and Indiana (Collins 2021).

#### JUNE

• Using funds from the American Rescue Plan, the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) launched the Rural Health Clinic COVID-19 Testing and Mitigation Program, which supported rural health clinics with expanding testing capacity (HRSA, 2022).

#### DECEMBER

• Through the HRSA COVID-19 Testing Supply Program, HRSA offered free testing supplies to any HRSA-funded health centers and Medicare-certified rural health clinics (HRSA 2023).

#### JANUARY

• The federal government announced a requirement that insurance providers must cover the cost of at-home COVID-19 test kits (CMS 2022).

• The federal government purchased 1 billion COVID-19 at-home test kits and created an online portal to provide people with free tests and delivery (CDC 2023a).

• The federal government launched the Test to Treat initiative. Through this initiative, people who test positive for COVID-19 at specific locations can have a prescription filled for oral antiviral medication at the same location. Test to Treat sites include pharmacies, Federally Qualified Health Centers, and other clinics (CDC 2023a; ASPR, n.d.a).

#### JULY

• As part of CDC's Increasing Community Access to Testing program, Quest Diagnostics offered free COVID-19 testing to uninsured people (Quest Diagnostics 2022).

#### MARCH

2021

• CDC expanded COVID-19 screening testing guidelines, suggesting screening testing in communities where transmission was high.

• CDC updated guidelines to include health equity considerations, such as expanding access to testing for populations at disproportionate risk for COVID-19 (CDC 2021h).

#### JUNE

• CDC updated guidelines for fully vaccinated people, suggesting testing was not needed after contact with someone who has COVID-19 (Christ 2021).

#### OCTOBER

• CDC updated guidelines for fully vaccinated people based on evolving evidence, suggesting testing 5–7 days after close contact with someone who has COVID-19, regardless of vaccination status (CDC 2021g).

2022

Initial guidelines for COVID-19 testing reflected limited testing supply and recommended only performing diagnostic testing for priority populations. In February 2020, CDC required providers to report patients who either (1) had fever or respiratory illness and close contact with someone who had COVID-19 or (2) had fever and respiratory illness and recently traveled from China (CDC 2020b). Diagnostic testing for these patients could only be completed using CDC test kits analyzed at CDC laboratories. To support increased testing, the FDA released a policy in late February allowing some laboratories to use tests before they were authorized for emergency use (FDA 2020). Following this policy, CDC expanded its guidelines slightly to prioritize testing for people who were (1) hospitalized with symptoms, (2) immunocompromised or otherwise at higher risk for poor outcomes from COVID-19, or (3) in close contact with confirmed COVID-19 cases (CDC 2020k).

As new COVID-19 tests were authorized for use and testing capacity expanded, populations prioritized for testing also expanded. In June 2020, CDC recommended testing for all close contacts of people with COVID-19, regardless of symptoms, and suggested regularly testing asymptomatic people in high-density living situations such as shelters, nursing homes, or long-term care facilities (CDC 2020d). In March of 2021, CDC noted the expanded availability of tests and expanded its screening testing guidance, referring to screening of asymptomatic people as a key strategy in COVID-19 prevention, particularly in communities or settings such as schools with high levels of transmission (CDC 2021h).

**CDC continues to change its testing guidelines as research on COVID-19 evolves.** For example, as COVID-19 vaccines became widely available, CDC updated guidelines to note that only unvaccinated close contacts needed to be tested. However, the agency later reversed this change with new research demonstrating that asymptomatic vaccinated people could still transmit the SARS-CoV-2 Delta variant (CDC 2021h; Haroun and Brueck 2021; CDC 2021g). CDC also made more recent updates to de-emphasize screening in certain situations, based on research suggesting that this may be less cost-effective in settings with low rates of COVID-19 (Goodman and Cohen 2022; Massetti et al. 2022).

As of April 14, 2023, CDC recommends diagnostic testing for people with symptoms of or exposure to COVID-19 and screening testing in specific high-risk scenarios. CDC recommends (1) testing immediately if experiencing symptoms of COVID-19, (2) testing at least five days after exposure to COVID-19, and (3) considering testing before visiting someone who is at risk for severe COVID-19 (CDC 2022c). Screening testing recommendations are based on COVID-19 community levels. Community levels (low, medium, and high) help to classify the burden of COVID-19 in counties based on case and hospitalization data (CDC 2022i). CDC outlines prevention and testing strategies at each community level. While all communities are encouraged to provide access to testing, including at-home tests, CDC also recommends that communities with medium or high levels consider screening testing in high-risk settings such as schools, assisted living facilities, correctional facilities, and homeless shelters (CDC 2022b, 2022g).

CDC's current guidelines also emphasize the importance of providing affordable, quality testing, with timely results for racial and ethnic minority communities, rural communities, and other groups experiencing inequities (CDC 2022g, 2023c). Recognizing that systemic health and social inequities influence disparities in COVID-19 burden as well as access to vaccination and testing, CDC established a COVID-19 Response Health Equity Strategy (CDC 2022a). The testing-related elements of the strategy include plans to (1) collect data to monitor and identify differences in testing by age, race, ethnicity, sex, and other demographic variables; (2) expand culturally relevant testing programs; (3) disseminate

culturally relevant materials and practices to frontline workers serving communities experiencing disparities; and (4) build a more diverse and representative COVID-19 response workforce.

#### C. COVID-19 testing programs

Despite new testing technologies and evolutions in testing practices and guidelines, testing rates have shown inequitable uptake in different communities due to the barriers discussed in Section II.B (Pond et al. 2022; Rader et al. 2022). A primary goal of this environmental scan is to understand how public and private programs attempted to overcome these barriers and reduce inequities. In this section, we discuss the primary approaches and delivery strategies reported by COVID-19 testing programs that we reviewed, as well as the barriers to implementation they experienced and the implementation strategies they used to overcome those barriers.

#### 1. Primary approaches used for COVID-19 testing programs

**Programs' primary approaches to increase COVID-19 testing identified in the scan all addressed access to testing, and fell along a continuum in terms of the travel required of test recipients.** On one end of this continuum, centralized testing sites required test recipients to travel, often outside of their neighborhoods, and on the other end of the continuum, programs brought tests to recipients' homes. We use travel to categorize these approaches because it represents the effort required to access different testing services, and because inequities in the distribution of services, coupled with limited transportation and scheduling constraints, posed critical barriers to testing (and vaccination) services. Exhibit III.2. summarizes these approaches. They are not mutually exclusive; some programs used them in combination. Many programs also bundled testing services with education and outreach intended to increase awareness and confidence in testing, although we did not find any testing programs whose sole approaches consisted of education or outreach (in the absence of testing services).

Approach	Description		
Increase access to COVID-19 testing			
Mass testing clinics or events	Programs held large-scale testing clinics or events set up to provide a high volume of tests in one location. These could be drive-through or walk-up events and could be recurring or one-time events. If they were recurring, they usually had a consistent time and location.		
Testing in health care settings	Programs delivered testing in health care settings, such as federally qualified health centers. These services were generally recurring, rather than one-time events.		
Community testing clinics	Programs set up testing clinics in community spaces where people congregate. The clinics relied on existing infrastructure from the community sites. These services were generally recurring, rather than one-time events.		
Mobile testing clinics	Programs deployed traveling vans or mobile units to convenient locations in the community, and individuals came to the mobile units to receive testing.		
In-home testing	Mail-in testing programs enabled people to self-test. In addition, mobile teams provided COVID-19 testing in the recipients' homes. Some organizations also distributed rapid tests (for later home use) at community events.		

#### Exhibit III.2. Primary approaches of COVID-19 testing programs

## COVID-19 testing programs implemented several approaches to make testing convenient for communities.

- Mass testing clinics or events. Mass testing clinics were large in scale, functioning to provide a high volume of tests in a single location, such as a parking lot or other open space. Mass testing programs were mostly commonly administered by city, county, or state health departments. For example, the Utah Department of Public Health, in partnership with the Utah National Guard and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, established a mass testing site in a vacant rodeo barn outside of Salt Lake City, Utah, providing tests to nearly 40,000 people from December 2020, through April 30, 2021 (Gillwald et al. 2022).
- Testing in health care settings. Federally qualified health centers (FQHCs) commonly provided testing for communities (Berner et al. 2022; Davis et al. 2020; Kim et al. 2021). Other examples of health care-based clinics included community health clinics (Barry et al. 2020) and rehabilitation centers for people

#### Bringing testing to communities

Examples of community clinic locations:

- Churches
- Food pantries
- Homeless shelters
- Schools
- Workplaces

Examples of sites that mobile clinics visited:

- Airports and bus transfer stations
- Areas where farmworkers live and congregate
- Barber shop parking lots
- Church parking lots
- Homeless encampments
- Parks
- Roaming

experiencing homelessness (Berner et al. 2022). Testing clinics in health care settings sometimes integrated testing into clinical care and sometimes set up separate testing operations directly outside of the clinics. For example, La Clínica Esperanza, a community clinic in Providence, Rhode Island, set up a tent outside of the clinic where people could receive testing (Barry et al. 2020). Many health care-based clinics offered testing to people regardless of whether they were existing patients (Barry et al. 2020).

- Community testing clinics. Community testing clinics delivered testing at specific spaces in the community where people regularly congregate for work, education, worship, or other activities, as shown in the call-out box. Of the testing programs we reviewed, most such clinics were administered by local health departments, followed by academic institutions, often in partnership with local community-based organizations (CBOs). Testing services were typically recurring and integrated into existing operations at these locations. For example, in the Faithful Response to COVID-19 program, staff from the Kansas City, Missouri Health Department partnered with local faith-based organizations and church to integrate COVID-19 testing with church activities at a predominantly African American church in Kansas City (Berkley-Patton et al. 2022).
- Mobile testing clinics. Some programs deployed vans or trailers to provide testing at various locations around the community. In some cases, mobile testing units supported the community-based testing services described above, with mobile units parked outside of venues like churches and barber shops (Whanger et al. 2022, key informants). One key informant from a county health department described setting up vans at community events such as health fairs. In other cases, vans moved around communities and residential areas based on communities' needs. For example, Atrium Health deployed mobile testing units to emerging COVID-19 hotspots in Charlotte, North Carolina, based on

geographic information system data mapping COVID-19 incidence (Atrium Health 2020). In Section VI, we describe methods for identifying hotspots and communities at disproportionate risk of COVID-19 in more detail. Mobile testing programs were administered by academic institutions, CBOs, and hospitals or health systems, often working in partnership.

• In-home testing. In-home testing programs, commonly administered by academic institutions and state health departments, enabled patients to get tested for COVID-19 without leaving their homes. In most cases, this occurred through mail-in testing programs that provide test kits (generally rapid antigen tests) to qualifying households and included instructions for their use (Barrett et al. 2022; Illinois Department of Public Health 2022, the Rockefeller Foundation 2022; Singler et al. 2023; University of Utah 2022). For example, the NIH-administered Say Yes! Covid Test program mailed COVID-19 test kits to households, along with instructions for their use and post-testing guidance (Singler et al. 2023). While most in-home testing programs in our review operated by mail, we identified one program in the literature that deployed vans staffed with emergency medical service providers to the households of frail and older adults to administer in-home PCR testing (Goldberg et al. 2020). Similarly, a key informant's academic institution used community health workers (*promotoras*) to visit and perform in-home testing for local residents who could not attend community testing clinics due to their age or health status. Several key informants' organizations, often CBOs, distributed rapid antigen tests (for later home use) at community events where people were already congregating, such as community vaccination clinics.

**Programs selected testing sites based on the needs of the populations they served.** For example, mass testing sites often were established in communities with lower income, communities with high proportions of people of color, and communities with notable gaps in testing services (Hansotte et al. 2021; Gillwald et al. 2022). Beyond addressing resource sparsity, community-based and mobile testing clinics often selected locations based on convenience, with specific populations in mind. For example, several programs serving Black and Latinx populations selected churches as venues for community-based testing clinics, given the recognition of the central role that churches often play in these communities (Berkley-Patton et al. 2022; Bigelow et al. 2021; 2022; Jaklevic et al. 2021). An NIH-funded, academic-community partnership seeking to increase testing access among farmworkers in California planned to deploy mobile vans to areas where farmworkers regularly congregate (UC Davis Health 2020). Information on community needs and assets was often gained through collaboration and planning with CBOs that have knowledge of their communities, as discussed in Sections III.C.4 and VI.A.

#### 2. Strategies to facilitate delivery of COVID-19 testing programs

COVID-19 testing programs used a variety of delivery strategies to enhance the effectiveness of the approaches described above. Exhibit III.3 and the following section presents these delivery strategies, organized according to whether they had the potential to achieve the following outcomes: (1) strategies to increase access to, awareness of, and confidence in COVID-19 testing; (2) strategies focused on increasing awareness of and confidence in COVID-19 testing; and (3) strategies used to increase access to testing. Within each of these categories, we present strategies organized by how commonly they appeared in the literature.

Strategy	Examples		
Increase access to, awareness of, and confidence in COVID-19 testing			
Partner with established community organizations and trusted leaders to promote and deliver testing	<ul> <li>Partnerships with community-based organizations, such as nonprofits (Brown et al. 2021), food pantries (Barry et al. 2021), churches (Bigelow et al. 2021)</li> <li>Trusted community leaders such as faith leaders (Berkley-Patton et al. 2022) and school staff (Chamie et al. 2021)</li> <li>Community health workers (University of Utah 2022), including promotores/as (DeGarmo et al. 2022)</li> </ul>		
Engage multilingual staff	<ul> <li>On-site interpreters (e.g., DeGarmo et al. 2022)</li> </ul>		
Increase awareness of and confidence in COVID-19 testing			
Develop population-specific or culturally tailored messaging to raise awareness about the importance of testing and available services	<ul> <li>Materials translated into multiple languages (Hansotte et al. 2021)</li> <li>Religiously tailored messaging (Berkley-Patton et al. 2022)</li> </ul>		
Use multiple channels to increase reach of testing information	<ul> <li>Printed materials (Barry et al. 2020)</li> <li>Radio and TV advertisements (Hansotte et al. 2021)</li> <li>Social and digital media (Singler et al. 2023)</li> <li>Phone calls and text messages (University of Utah 2022)</li> </ul>		
Prioritize patient experience, comfort, safety, and dignity	<ul> <li>Expedited testing process (Chamie et al. 2021)</li> <li>Privacy screens (Neely et al. 2021)</li> <li>Anonymized testing (Chidavaenzi et al. 2022)</li> </ul>		
Increase access to COVID-19 testing			
Offer walk-up options and expand hours	<ul> <li>Evening and weekend hours (e.g., Chamie et al. 2022)</li> <li>Testing offered during workplace shift changes (Chidavaenzi et al. 2022)</li> <li>Walk-up options (e.g., Appa et al. 2021; Barry et al. 2020)</li> </ul>		
Address financial barriers to testing	<ul> <li>Free testing (Berkley-Patton et al. 2020)</li> <li>Evening and weekend hours so recipients would not have to forego income (Chamie et al. 2022)</li> <li>Financial resources to help people testing positive make up for lost income (Bigelow et al. 2021)</li> </ul>		
Reduce documentation requirements for testing	<ul> <li>No identification requirement (Hernandez et al. 2021)</li> <li>No health insurance requirement (Atrium Health 2023)</li> <li>No referral requirement (DeGarmo et al. 2022)</li> </ul>		
Provide alternatives to online registration and tracking	<ul> <li>On-site registration (Hansotte et al. 2021)</li> <li>Phone or text message follow-ups (Barry et al. 2020)</li> </ul>		
Other goals			
Coordinate testing with other health and social services to meet health- related social needs	<ul><li>Vaccination services (Chamie et al. 2022)</li><li>Food resources (Barry et al. 2020)</li></ul>		

#### Exhibit III.3. Strategies to facilitate delivery of COVID-19 testing programs

The most common delivery strategies in our review—partnering with established community organizations and leaders and engaging bilingual staff—helped programs increase testing access, awareness, and confidence at the same time.

- Partnerships with CBOs provided venues to expand testing access while drawing on their trusted status. Many programs involved collaborations between academic institutions, medical centers, or public health departments and established CBOs (Berkley-Patton et al. 2022; Hansotte et al. 2021; Brown et al. 2021). As described above, these partnerships enhanced access by providing testing venues in places like churches and schools (Degarmo et al. 2021; Hansotte et al. 2021). These partnerships increased awareness by promoting testing events through existing communication channels (Berkley-Patton et al. 2020). They also helped to foster testing confidence by building on CBOs' longstanding relationships with the communities they serve (Hansotte et al. 2021; UC Davis Health 2020).
- Community leaders served as ambassadors to help increase awareness of and confidence in testing services (Barry et al. 2022; Berkley-Patton et al. 2022; Chamie et al. 2022). Church pastors (Berkley-Patton et al. 2022), school staff (Chamie et al. 2022), health care navigators (Barrett et al. 2022; DeGarmo et al. 2022), and other members of the community used

#### Program spotlight: Partnering with African American churches

স্ট

In the Faithful Response to COVID-19 program, the Kansas City Health Department partnered with local faith-based organizations to deliver testing to African American churchgoers (Berkley-Patton et al. 2022). Eight participating churches increased access by providing convenient venues for testing services, which were often scheduled to align with church programming. They disseminated information through church bulletins to raise awareness. Partnering with churches also gave programs access to pastors who were trusted and respected by many in the community. Church pastors used their influence to communicate the importance of testing to church attendees. They also role-modeled the process of being tested from the pulpit during church services, which may have increased confidence among churchgoers.

their reach, influence, and cultural competency to dispel misinformation, emphasize the importance of testing, and promote testing services. In some cases, these community partners also helped administer testing. For example, an NIH-funded central California mass testing program, run through a community-academic partnership, engaged the school superintendent—described as a trusted community leader—to administer tests to Latinx residents (Chamie et al. 2022). Community leaders also volunteered to support testing programs, by acting as greeters and directing traffic (Appa et al. 2021; Hernandez et al. 2021), or conducting follow-up calls with those testing positive (Barry et al. 2020).

• Engaging bilingual staff increased access and confidence among non-English speakers. A key informant from an academic institution noted that *promotoras* publicized testing events on social media and by word of mouth, in English and Spanish. Many programs in our literature review similarly engaged Spanish-language interpreters (Chamie et al. 2022; Gillwald et al. 2022), while several also provided interpreters for other languages, including Vietnamese (Hernandez et al. 2021) and Indigenous-Mayan language (DeGarmo et al. 2022). By making information accessible to people who did not speak English, this strategy addressed a key language access barrier. In addition to increasing access, the presence of bilingual staff on-site may have also fostered trust and confidence among non-English speaking communities (Degarmo et al. 2022).

Thoughtfully designed communication strategies and efforts to ensure positive testing experiences further increased awareness of and confidence in testing.

- Programs used clear, accessible, and culturally tailored messaging to raise awareness about the importance of testing, address misinformation, and promote specific testing services. These outreach strategies often involved a combination of educational content about the importance of testing and promotion of specific testing services (Barry et al. 2020; Davis et al. 2020; Whanger et al. 2022). Given that many people were unaware of COVID-19 policies, such as free testing made possible by the CARES Act, it was important for programs to communicate that testing was offered free of charge. It was also important that programs ensure promotional messaging was accessible for diverse communities. One program, run by an academic medical center in partnership with rural FQHCs, developed information at a 6th-grade reading level (Davis et al. 2022), and many programs translated communications into multiple languages, including English, Burmese, Spanish, and Vietnamese (Hansotte et al. 2021; Hernandez et al. 2021). Messaging was sometimes culturally tailored to specific communities. For example, the Faithful Response program developed religiously tailored messages about the importance of testing for African American church attendees (Berkley-Patton et al. 2022). In the Oregon Saludable: Juntos Podemos (Healthy Oregon: Together We Can) program, academic and community partners engaged Spanish-speaking promotoras to conduct outreach to Latinx communities to address misinformation and promote testing services; their communications drew on Latinx cultural values, such as collective welfare (DeGarmo et al. 2022).
- Disseminating information through a range of channels helped programs expand reach to different communities and raise awareness about testing. Digital platforms included social media (Jaklevic et al. 2021; Singler et al. 2023) and local health department websites (Barry et al. 2020; Whanger et al. 2022). Some programs used TV and radio advertising to promote testing, often with an emphasis on

দ্য

#### Program spotlight: Using multiple dissemination channels to provide education and raise awareness about testing

Drawing on principles of social marketing, the federal Say Yes! COVID Test program used a combination of website, digital advertising, social media, and paid media to encourage the use of home testing among historically marginalized communities (Singler et al. 2023). The NIH-administered program emphasized the importance of engaging local partner organizations and leaders to act as spokespeople and share personal experiences with testing. It also translated all promotional material into English and Spanish to broaden reach.

reaching specific populations like Spanishspeakers (Chamie et al. 2022; DeGarmo et al. 2022). Some programs distributed printed materials like pamphlets and flyers around the community (Hansotte et al. 2021; Davis et al. 2022). Other programs used in-person strategies such as door-to-door campaigning (Hansotte et al. 2021) or promoting in hightraffic areas like grocery stores, church services, schools, and workplaces (DeGarmo et al. 2022). In many cases, staff and volunteers made phone calls or sent text messages to inform people of testing services and remind them about upcoming appointments (University of Utah 2022). Many programs used multiple strategies to expand their reach (Hansotte et al. 2021; DeGarmo et al. 2022; Singler et al. 2023).

• Programs prioritized patient experience, comfort, privacy, and dignity throughout the testing process. Efforts to maximize patient comfort and create a positive testing experience included

expediting testing procedures (Chamie et al. 2022; McCollum et al. 2022); staffing on-site greeters to welcome patients and answer questions (Appa et al. 2021; Gillwald et al. 2022), creating a clean and welcoming testing space, and offering hygiene kits and snacks (Davis et al. 2020; Winterbauer et al. 2021). Several programs took measures to increase patient privacy and dignity, including anonymizing the testing process (Chamie et al. 2022; Chidavaenzi et al. 2022), erecting privacy screens (Neely et al. 2021), and using saliva testing kits, which are less invasive than to nasal swabs (Key informant). In a collaboration between several universities, an academic medical center, and the Chicago Department of Public health, nursing student volunteers allowed patients to collect their own samples (Neely et al. 2021). Self-sampling was described as a way to give patients control over their own bodies and build trust among communities who have been traumatized (Neely et al. 2021). These strategies are important because medical racism and stigma have undermined patient trust and decreased confidence in testing (Neely et al. 2021; Corneli et al. 2022; DeGarmo et al. 2022).

## Programs took measures to further enhance access to testing, beyond the primary approaches to increase geographic access described above.

- Offering walk-up testing and expanded hours helped to increase access to testing for people without cars or with restrictive work schedules. For example, an academic-community partnership bringing testing services to two predominantly Latinx counties in California selected walk-up testing sites in central, well-known locations that people could easily access on-foot, including a park and a community center (Chamie et al. 2022). Many of the mass testing events, while designed for drive-through operations, also offered walk-up options for those without vehicles (Appa et al. 2021; Hansotte et al. 2021). To accommodate workers facing scheduling constraints, programs offered testing services outside of typical business hours (Chamie et al. 2022; Gillwald et al. 2022).
- Programs increased financial accessibility by lessening the economic burden associated with going to get tested or receiving a positive test result. Under the CARES Act, insurance carriers were required to cover COVID-19 testing without cost sharing, and programs were funded to provide free testing to people who were uninsured (Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act 2020). However, lost wages associated with testing still posed a barrier to testing for many people. Programs that offered testing outside of standard working hours not only increased accessibility for workers but also helped to ensure recipients would not forego income when seeking testing (Chamie et al. 2022; Gillwald et al. 2022). Some testing programs also connected people who tested positive to financial resources to help them make up for lost income while they isolated (Bigelow et al. 2021; Chamie et al. 2022).
- Reducing or eliminating requirements for documentation or referrals further increased accessibility. Many programs eliminated requirements for physician referral or health insurance (Davis et al. 2020; Degarmo et al. 2022). This ensured that anyone could access testing, regardless of prior access to or engagement with the health care system. Some programs, particularly those serving Latinx and immigrant communities, did not require identification to be tested, thereby mitigating concerns about deportation among those who were undocumented (Chamie et al. 2022; Hernandez et al. 2021).
- Programs ensured those without internet or digital literacy could access testing appointments and test results. Many testing programs offered on-site registration for those without internet access or with less familiarity of online systems (Gillwald et al. 2022; Hansotte et al. 2022). In some cases,
program staff or volunteers called or texted patients to deliver test results instead of requiring them to log onto an online system (Barry et al. 2020; Chamie et al. 2022). Similarly, a key informant from a tribal health system described implementing a patient portal with an SMS system, which allowed patients to receive their COVID-19 test results via text message without having to use the internet. Follow-up calls and texts also presented an opportunity for staff to provide information to patients, including isolation guidance and COVID-19 treatment options for those testing positive (Barry et al. 2020; Chamie et al. 2022; DeGarmo et al. 2022; Gillwald et al. 2022).

### Key informant spotlight: Using community health workers to deliver test results

An academic organization offering testing services in different communities throughout a state noted that having to check test results online was a barrier for its populations of focus. To overcome this, community health workers called program recipients who had not checked their online results within 48 hours to ask for permission to share their results via phone instead.

স্য

Some programs began with COVID-19 testing and then recognized an opportunity to support people's health and social needs more broadly.

• Some testing programs addressed health care needs by bundling services or providing referrals. For example, a community testing program in California adapted their testing site to double as a vaccination clinic and also began linking patients with mental health services (Chamie et al. 2022). A qualitative review of best practices for providing community testing to vulnerable populations described a mobile testing service that doubled as a portable clinic, offering blood pressure and HIV screenings and referrals to primary care providers in

their community (Winterbauer et al. 2021).

Other programs addressed health-related social needs. For example, testing programs provided referrals to child care, hotels, food vouchers, and financial resources (Barry et al. 2020; Bigelow et al. 2021; Winterbauer et al. 2021). Similarly, a key informant at a local health department described coordinating testing with the provision of hot meals, groceries, and care packages. Another key informant from a CBO, operating at the county level, noted that such strategies not only enhance access to services but also build the community's trust in the organization sponsoring the testing program.

### Key informant spotlight: Meeting community needs

A local health department worked with the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development to set up testing and vaccination sites at housing facilities for senior citizens. They also used these sites to provide hot meals, groceries, care packages, mental health assessments, and follow-up check-ins for senior residents.

### 3. Challenges to COVID-19 testing program implementation

Both the literature and key informants described implementation challenges related to resources, operational inefficiencies, and partnerships. These challenges applied across different testing approaches. In this section, we describe common challenges to implementation that presented across different testing approaches. In the next section, we describe strategies that staff used to overcome those challenges.

Category	Challenges staff faced in program implementation	Strategies staff used to facilitate program implementation
Resources Budget and funding constraints, staffing I limitations, and issues with obtaining and v storing supplies posed a challenge to program implementation. r		Diverse staffing and donated supplies provided programs with needed resources.
		Logistical efficiencies also helped staff make use of scarce resources.
Operations and logistics	Issues with patient tracking, staff communication, and staff driving time decreased efficiency of program	Integrating testing into existing institutional infrastructure and processes; developing traffic management and other logistical efficiencies; and implementing systems for staff
	operations.	communication and coordination helped to facilitate smooth program delivery while making use of scarce resources.
Community partnerships	Some programs faced challenges related to buy-in and trust when engaging with community partners.	Early and frequent communication with community partners helped gain community buy-in.

#### Exhibit III.4. Implementation challenges and strategies of COVID-19 testing programs

Resource limitations—including constraints on budget, staffing, and supplies—were among the most cited challenges to implementation among the testing programs we reviewed.

- Issues with obtaining, storing, and transporting testing supplies were among the most common challenges staff faced. Several programs noted a shortage of supplies early in the pandemic, such as test kits and personal protective equipment for staff (Appa et al. 2021; Jaklevic et al. 2021; Molling et al. 2020; Whanger et al. 2022). For example, a city-level mobile testing program run by a Black physicians' group in partnership with the Philadelphia Department of Public Health noted that it was difficult to obtain testing kits early in the pandemic (Jaklevic et al. 2021). Programs also faced challenges with storing and transporting supplies, including test samples (Appa et al. 2021) and privacy screens (Neely et al. 2021). For example, a university-administered, city-level mass testing clinic in Bolinas, California noted that some of their samples leaked on transport (Appa et al. 2021).
- More broadly, some programs described constraints related to the cost of providing testing and restrictions placed on them by funders. Testing events were associated with numerous costs, including staff time, community mobilization, laboratory testing costs, and government support for people testing positive (Chamie et al. 2022). A source describing a partnership between a local CBO, the West Virginia Department of Health and Human Services, and the West Virginia National Guard to advance testing in West Virginia reported budgetary constraints for rural clinics related to obtaining and transporting supplies (Whanger et al. 2022). Programs also faced challenges related to funding requirements. For example, a key informant from an academic institution explained how restrictions on grant funds limited their options in implementing testing programs in coordination with vaccination services.
- Staff availability and capacity were also challenges for testing programs. For example, Whanger et al. (2022) conducted focus groups with rural clinic staff in West Virginia, who noted a strain on staff time needed to provide testing in addition to basic care. A program in which the National Guard partnered with local public health agencies to deliver mass testing to rural communities in West Virginia held events that were often scheduled with only 24 hours of lead time, which did not give them adequate time to find and onboard staff and volunteers (Dumproff et al. 2022).

Some testing programs also experienced logistical issues related to patient tracking and staff communication and transportation.

- Some programs faced challenges with patient registration and tracking. For example, a mass clinic in rural Wisconsin described challenges faced by staff when registering and following up with patients who did not have a preexisting relationship with the health system (Molling et al. 2020). This was because these patients did not have screening data available for registration and they did not have employer information available for sending return-to-work instructions (Molling et al. 2020). As described above, on-site registration was helpful for people without access to the internet; however, it posed challenges to implementation if hand-written labels were difficult for staff to read (Appa et al. 2021).
- Challenges with staff communication and transportation reduced program efficiencies. Program staff sometimes struggled to communicate about test results and participant information, particularly at the larger testing sites where they were stationed at a distance from one another (Gillwald et al. 2020) or when all parties were wearing masks (Appa et al. 2021). These communication issues made testing operations slower and less efficient. Programs noted additional inefficiencies related to staff transportation (Goldberg et al. 2020; Whanger et al. 2022). For example, health care workers faced long and inefficient driving routes to see only a few patients when traveling to older adults' homes to administer tests as a part of a state-level program run by a hospital system in partnership with the state department of public health (Goldberg et al. 2020).

**Programs involving health care–community collaborations described challenges around obtaining buyin from potential community partners.** For example, a key informant representing an academic institution described challenges collaborating with potential testing venues. While the organization identified grocery store parking lots as convenient testing venues, the grocery stores objected to being associated with a COVID-19 testing events and having potentially ill people congregate in their parking lots, fearing these activities would drive away customers. The informant's organization ended up moving its testing sites to community locations, such as parks, instead. One study from the peer-reviewed literature described a state-level trial in which community sites were randomly assigned to receive information about testing from *promotores* versus standard outreach protocols (DeGarmo et al. 2022). Authors noted that some community partners initially objected to the mode of outreach being randomized, but they eventually were supportive after trust between the researchers and community was established.

### 4. Strategies to facilitate COVID-19 testing program implementation

In this section, we elaborate on the third column of Exhibit III.4 to describe the strategies that staff, volunteers, and partners used to overcome common challenges and successfully implement testing programs.

Programs maximized scarce resources through creative staffing and donated supplies.

• At a time when health care staff were overburdened, diverse clinical and nonclinical staff and volunteers worked together to implement COVID-19 testing programs. In addition to health care providers (Davis et al. 2020; McCollum et al. 2022), staff and volunteers included medical students

(Neely et al. 2021), community health workers (Barrett et al. 2022; Barry et al. 2020; DeGarmo et al. 2022), church leaders (Berkley-Patton at al. 2022), and teachers (Chamie et al. 2022), among others. Engaging nonclinical staff helped to manage the workload and unburden clinical staff (Chidavaenzi et al. 2022; Whanger et al. 2022). By coordinating with CBOs, programs had access to robust networks of motivated volunteers to help promote, facilitate, and deliver testing services (Appa et al. 2021; Berkley-Patton et al. 2022; Chamie et al. 2022). In some cases, existing professional teams pivoted their services to support testing efforts. Examples include paramedics administering in-home testing to homebound residents (Goldberg et al. 2020), a mobile mammography clinic delivering COVID-19 testing in rural Louisiana, and the West Virginia National Guard helping to coordinate mass testing events (Dumproff et al. 2022).

### Key informant spotlight: Partnering with test manufacturers and a pharmaceutical company

- A foundation worked with COVID-19 test manufacturers to ensure a steady supply of tests throughout the country. The foundation also invested in a public–private partnership between one test manufacturer, state health departments, and a global logistics and distribution provider to ensure widespread access to at-home COVID-19 tests in five states.
- A local health department was approached early in the pandemic by a pharmaceutical company headquartered in its area, which offered to provide free testing services to frontline workers, including grocery store and day care workers.

Programs facing supply shortages benefited from donations from the government and partners. A surgeon in Philadelphia drew on her professional network to gather free COVID-19 tests for use by a small, city-level community testing clinic (Jaklevic et al. 2021). Several key informants from CBOs and health systems received at-home test kits for free through their state or county health departments, allowing them to spend grant funding on other needs, such as outreach and building staff capacity.

#### Operational efficiencies helped staff to deliver services while making use of scarce resources.

• Integrating testing services into host venues' existing infrastructure and systems took advantage of community assets and helped staff deliver services efficiently. Churches, schools, and other community-based testing venues provided needed infrastructure, such as electricity, computers, refrigeration, and gathering and waiting areas (Berkley-Patton et al. 2022; Molling et al. 2020; Neely et al. 2021). Programs increased the efficiency of staff efforts by delivering testing to coincide with host institutions' schedules, such as delivering testing during scheduled church programming (Berkley-Patton et al. 2022) or workplace shift changes (Chidavaenzi et al. 2022; see program spotlight). These integrations also helped to improve access and confidence among program recipients.

Program staff developed various systems to improve program operations. For mass testing clinics, which served hundreds and sometimes thousands of people daily, traffic management was critical to success (Dumproff et al. 2022; Gillwald et al. 2022; Hernandez et al. 2021). Several articles about larger testing clinics made a point to describe their traffic and site layouts (Appa et al. 2021; Molling et al. 2020). Designating personnel to direct traffic, greet patients, and provide additional logistical supports improved flow during testing events (Appa et al. 2021; Hernandez et al. 2021; Whanger et al. 2021). Similarly, a program administering in-home testing to homebound residents decided to cluster home visits to increase driving efficiency (Goldberg et al. 2020). Program staff also made improvements to internal communication (Gillwald et al. 2022; Molling et al. 2020). For

### Program spotlight: Integrating testing into the workplace

A program seeking to increase COVID-19 testing among members of the San Carlos Apache Tribe in southeastern Arizona implemented serial testing at a detention center and casinolocations (Chidavaenzi et al. 2022). Staff from the tribe's Department of Health and Human Services, with support from the CDC, conducted testing in different physical spaces within each venue, such as in detention center pods. They also conducted testing to align with workplace scheduling, including late nights and early mornings when casino employees changed shifts. Adapting testing protocols to the specific workplace buildings and employee schedules likely helped increase efficiencies for program staff while also enhancing accessibility and ultimately uptake among people being tested.

স্ট

example, one mass testing program, run by state and county health departments, faced challenges to communications between staff. The program responded to this challenge by using a Google spreadsheet so staff could track and communicate patient results in real time (Gillwald et al. 2022).

**Regular planning meetings were important for building strong community partnerships and designing effective services.** Partnerships between two or more organizations, including academic institutions, health departments, health systems, and local CBOs were nearly universal among the testing programs in our scan. Programs involving such collaborations described the importance of holding regular meetings

स्फ

### Key informant spotlight: Adapting reporting requirements to communities

Recognizing that some tribal communities have a historically informed distrust of reporting information to the federal government, a federal funder did not want significant reporting requirements to discourage these entities from applying for a federal grant. The agency purposefully required less reporting on outcomes than is typically required to make its COVID-19 grant accessible to tribal entities that had not previously received federal funding. for all partners to communicate and learn from each other throughout program planning and implementation (Berkeley-Patton et al. 2022, Davis et al. 2020; DeGarmo et al. 2022; Molling et al. 2020). CBOs have built robust and trusted relationships with communities, allowing them to offer insight into residents' needs, and what kinds of intervention strategies would be most resonant and effective (Office of Minority Health 2020, UC Davis Health 2020). For example, a university-administered program to bring mobile testing to farmworker communities in California's central valley gained insights from community partners who had longstanding relationships with farmworkers and could offer recommendations for convenient testing locations (UC Davis Health 2020).

### **IV.** Key findings on COVID-19 vaccination

This section reviews COVID-19 vaccine types and guidelines as of April 2023 (Section IV.A), key changes to vaccination guidelines over time (Section IV.B), and equity implications of vaccine distribution throughout the pandemic (Section IV.C). Section IV.D summarizes COVID-19 vaccination programs' primary approaches and delivery strategies, the implementation challenges they experienced, and the implementation strategies they used to overcome those barriers.

### A. COVID-19 vaccine types and current vaccination guidelines

The FDA initially granted emergency use authorization for four COVID-19 vaccines. These vaccines included two mRNA (messenger ribonucleic acid) vaccines developed by Pfizer-BioNTech and Moderna, Johnson & Johnson's Janssen viral vector vaccine, and the protein subunit Novavax (Adjuvanted) vaccine (CDC 2023e; FDA n.d.c). CDC issued a preferential recommendation for mRNA vaccines in December 2021. It fully approved the Pfizer BioNTech COVID-19 vaccine in August 2021 and the Moderna COVID-19 vaccine in January 2022 (CDC 2023a). For each vaccine, there is a recommended primary series, as well as a booster series. CDC distinguishes between original boosters, which were recommended in August 2021 to protect against the initial SARS-CoV-2 virus, and updated bivalent boosters, which were authorized by the FDA in September 2022 and provide additional protection against Omicron variants BA.4 and BA.5.

As of April 14, 2023, COVID-19 vaccination guidelines are based on age, vaccine type, and whether people are moderately or severely immunocompromised (CDC 2023e). Guidelines by age group for those who are not immunocompromised are as follows.<sup>6</sup>

- Children ages 17 and under: CDC recommends that children ages 17 and under receive two doses of the Moderna or Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 vaccine (primary series), with an updated booster shot at least two months after the last dose of the primary series. Children ages 12–17 are also eligible to receive the Novavax vaccine for their primary series, with an updated Pfizer or Moderna booster (CDC 2023e).
- Adults ages 18 and over: Recommendations are similar for adults ages 18 or over, but adults who completed a Novavax primary series may be eligible for an updated Novavax booster. In addition, the Johnson & Johnson vaccine is available to adults ages 18 or over but is not recommended as a first choice due to a risk of thrombosis with thrombocytopenia syndrome (CDC 2023e; CDC 2022f).

### B. Changes in COVID-19 vaccination guidelines over time

**COVID-19 vaccination guidelines evolved with the development and approval of vaccines for different age groups and as vaccines became available.** COVID-19 vaccines were initially distributed under emergency authorization use and in phases for specific populations, due to limited supply (National Academies 2020; CDC 2023a). In December 2021, CDC and Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) released guidelines for phased vaccine allocation with populations prioritized for vaccination as follows: health care workers and residents of long-term care facilities (Phase 1a), people ages 75 or older and non-health-care essential workers (Phase 1b), people ages 65–74 years and ages 16–64 with medical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> There are specific recommendations for people who are severely or moderately immunocompromised, which are outlined further at <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/vaccines/recommendations/immuno.html</u>.

conditions that put them at high-risk for COVID-19 (Phase 1c), and all others ages 16 years and older (Phase 2) (Dooling et al. 2020). Children under age 16 were not included in these initial phases because vaccines were not authorized for them at the time. Vaccines became widely available in May 2021 and were added to CDC's routine vaccination schedules in February 2023 (The White House 2021a, Weixel 2023). Exhibit IV.1 provides a summary of changing guidelines throughout the pandemic.

### Exhibit IV.1. Changes in COVID-19 vaccination guidelines December 2020–April 2023

Changes in COVID-19 Vaccine Guidelines			
<ul> <li>DECEMBER</li> <li>The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the Advisory Committee on Immuniza- tion Practices (ACIP) recommended phased allocation of COVID-19 vaccination with the following phases:</li> <li>Phase 1a: Health care workers and residents of long-term care facilities</li> <li>Phase 1b: Other non-health-care essential workers and people ages 75 and older</li> <li>Phase 1c: People ages 65–76 and people ages 16–64 years old with comorbidities</li> </ul>	20		<b>DECEMBER</b> • States implemented the recommended phased approach, beginning with Pfizer-BioNTech and Moderna vaccines (administered in a two-dose series), which ACIP recommended and the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) authorized through an emergency use authorization (EUA) (CDC 2023a).
Phase 2: People ages 16 and older (CDC 2023a).	20	021	
FEBRUARY  • ACIP recommended Johnson & Johnson's vaccine and FDA issued an EUA (CDC 2023a).			MARCH • Federal guidelines suggested that all states make school staff, teachers (pre-K to grade 12), and child care workers eligible for vaccination. • The federal government carefield a goal to reach
<ul> <li>ACIP recommended and FDA issued an EUA for use of the Pfizer-BioNTech vaccine for children page 12 15 (CDC 2023); Morallo 2021)</li> </ul>			Phase 2 of vaccination for all Americans by May 2021 (CDC 2023a).
<ul> <li>OCTOBER</li> <li>CDC and ACIP recommended that the following groups receive a booster of the Pfizer- BioNTech or Moderna COVID-19 vaccine:</li> <li>Adults ages 65 and older</li> <li>Adults over 18 with underlying medical conditions, who are residents of long-term care settings or who live or work in high-risk settings</li> <li>Anyone who received a Johnson &amp; Johnson vaccine (CDC 2021c)</li> <li>FDA issued an EUA for the Pfizer-BioNTech</li> </ul>			AUGUST • In a joint statement, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, CDC, and FDA reversed prior guidelines stating that booster shots were not necessary. The statement suggest- ed that a booster dose will support protection against severe disease, hospitalization, and death. ACIP and CDC announced recommendations for specific priority populations to receive booster shots over the coming months (CDC 2023a).
• CDC made a preferential recommendation for		<	CDC and ACIP recommended a booster dose for all adults (Gumbrecht et al. 2021).
use of mRNA COVID-19 vaccines, including Pfizer-BioNTech or Moderna vaccines, over the use of the Johnson & Johnson adenoviral-vectored vaccine due to safety concerns (CDC 2023a).		i.	
	20	022	
<ul> <li>JANUARY</li> <li>CDC and ACIP recommended that immunocompromised children receive an additional dose of the Pfizer-BioNTech vaccine in the primary series (for three doses total), and FDA amended its EUA to allow this.</li> <li>FDA issued an EUA to authorize booster doses of the Pfizer-BioNTech vaccine for children ages 12–15 (CDC 2023a; FDA 2022b).</li> </ul>			MARCH • CDC and FDA recommended a second Pfizer- BioNTech or Moderna booster dose for the following groups: • Adults over 50 • People who are immunocompromised • Anyone who received the Johnson & Johnson vaccine as their primary series and booster dose (CDC 2023a)
MAY • FDA issued an EUA to authorize booster doses of the Pfizer-BioNTech vaccine for children ages 5–11 (CDC 2023a; FDA 2022d.			<b>JUNE</b> • FDA issued an EUA to authorize Moderna and Pfizer-BioNTech vaccines for children ages 6 months to 5 years (FDA 2022c).
SEPTEMBER			
• CDC amended its guidelines to recommend updated bivalent booster shots, with additional protections against Omicron variants of COVID-19, for adults and FDA authorized bivalent booster shots with an EUA (PBS 2022).			OCTOBER • FDA issued an EUA to authorize bivalent booster doses for children as young as age 5 (FDA 2022d).
	20	23	
FEBRUARY • CDC added COVID-19 vaccines to its routine vaccination schedules (Weixel 2023).			MARCH • FDA issued an EUA to authorize bivalent booster doses for children ages 6 months to 4 years (FDA 2023).

### C. Equity implications of vaccine distribution

CDC and ACIP's initial guidelines for phased administration of the COVID-19 vaccine, when vaccine supply was limited, were informed by equity-focused research (Dooling et al. 2020). This research included work by the National Academy of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine which outlined priority phases for vaccination and suggested equity considerations within each phase (National Academies 2020). CDC's and ACIP's guidelines also prioritized essential workers in early phases of vaccination, emphasizing that people from racial and ethnic groups experiencing disproportionate risk of COVID-19 were often overrepresented in these essential jobs (Dooling et al. 2020; CISA 2020). In addition, CDC launched programs such as Partnering for Vaccine Equity (P4VE) to support equity in adult vaccination (CDC 2020a).

**Ultimately, states determined how vaccines would be allocated**, **leading to geographic variation in access.** States primarily adhered to the CDC and ACIP guidelines for phased vaccine distribution. However, there was some variation primarily due to states adding additional groups in initial phases. States also rolled out the vaccine on different timelines, meaning access and availability to the vaccine initially varied by state (Kates et al. 2021). In addition, states took different approaches to vaccine mandates, resulting in differential vaccination rates for certain people and geographic areas (McGarry et al. 2022, Juarez et al. 2022).

In March 2021, the president stated a commitment to equitable and widespread vaccine distribution. Specifically, the president expressed a goal to make the vaccines available to all Americans (Phase 2) by May 2021 and announced plans to double the number of federal mass vaccination centers and pharmacies with COVID-19 vaccines, particularly in communities at disproportionate risk for COVID-19 (The White House 2021a, 2021b). At this time, CDC also released its COVID-19 Response Health Equity Strategy, which prioritizes (1) collecting data to monitor and identify differences in vaccination by age, race, ethnicity, sex and other demographic variables; (2) expanding culturally relevant vaccination programs and information; (3) addressing barriers to access; and (4) building capacity for vaccine distribution and delivery (CDC 2022a).

ক্ষ

### Key informant spotlight: Benefitting from the Public Readiness and Emergency Preparedness (PREP) Act

Several key informants reported that the PREP Act Declaration (issued March 2020) helped increase COVID-19 vaccination access by allowing pharmacists to administer COVID-19 vaccines, as well as routine vaccines. An informant from a federal agency explained that this was instrumental in expanding the pool of available vaccinators, especially given staffing shortages of nurses. Following this announcement, several important programs and policies launched to support health equity. For example, the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) launched programs to expand vaccine access in specific communities. These included (1) the Community-Based Outreach Program, which focused on building vaccine confidence through locally focused and culturally tailored outreach in partnership with CBOs (HRSA 2022a); (2) the Rural Health Clinic Vaccine Distribution and Vaccine Confidence Programs, focused on partnering with rural health clinics to increase vaccination (HRSA 2022f, 2022g); and (3) the Health Center COVID-19 Vaccine Program, to

provide vaccines directly to FQHCs (HRSA 2022c). Analysis of three federal programs, including HRSA's Health Center COVID-19 Vaccine Program, CDC's Retail Pharmacy Program (2023h), and the Federal

Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Community Vaccination Center Pilot Site and Mobile Vaccination Program (FEMA 2021), found that these programs implemented equity-focused strategies, such as using population data on race and ethnicity when selecting vaccination sites (U.S. Government Accountability Office 2022).

### D. COVID-19 vaccination programs

As in Section III, this section presents findings on the COVID-19 vaccination programs we reviewed, including how they used primary approaches and delivery strategies to attempt to overcome barriers to vaccine use, the implementation challenges they experienced, and their implementation strategies.

### 1. Primary approaches used for COVID-19 vaccination programs

The primary approaches of the COVID-19 vaccination programs we identified in the scan intended to influence access to vaccination and awareness of and confidence in vaccination. Like COVID-19 testing programs, COVID-19 vaccination programs' primary approaches to address access differed in terms of the travel or effort required for recipients to access services. They also differed in terms of the number of people they reached at a given time and whether they were recurring or one-time approaches. Programs in this review often combined approaches to increasing access with approaches to increasing awareness and confidence (Abdul-Mutakabbir et al. 2022; Le-Morawa et al. 2022). Programs focused on increasing awareness of and confidence in COVID-19 vaccinations that did not deliver vaccines used educational events and outreach to populations of focus (Gregory 2021; Association of American Medical Colleges. 2022; AuYoung et al. 2022; Peteet et al. 2022; Venegas-Murillo et al. 2022). Exhibit IV.2 summarizes COVID-19 vaccination programs' primary approaches.

Approach	Description		
Increase access to COVID-1	Increase access to COVID-19 vaccinations		
Mass vaccination clinics or events	Programs held large-scale vaccination clinics or events set up to provide a high volume of vaccinations in one location. These could be drive-through or walk-up events and can be recurring or one-time events. If they were recurring, they usually had a consistent time and place.		
Vaccination in health care settings	Programs set up vaccination clinics in health care settings such as health centers, rural health clinics, and pharmacies.		
Community vaccination clinics	Programs set up vaccination clinics in convenient community sites where people congregate. The clinics relied on existing infrastructure from the community site. These were usually recurring venue-based initiatives but also included one-time vaccination clinics set up at community events (for example, school sports events).		
Mobile vaccination clinics	Traveling vans or mobile units brought vaccines to convenient locations in the community, and individuals came to the mobile unit to receive vaccines.		
In-home vaccination	Mobile teams traveled to recipients and provided COVID-19 vaccinations in the recipients' homes. These services supported homebound people who cannot travel to vaccination sites.		
Increase awareness of and confidence in COVID-19 vaccinations			
Vaccination education events	Educational events disseminated information about COVID-19 and COVID-19 vaccinations. These included webinars, forums, and town halls. They included both one-time and recurring events.		
Vaccination education outreach	Programs conducted outreach to populations of focus as a primary approach, not related to an accompanying vaccination delivery effort. They shared educational information on COVID-19 and COVID-19 vaccinations and address vaccine hesitancy or promote and coordinate uptake of		

### Exhibit IV.2. Primary approaches of COVID-19 vaccination programs

vaccines. Outreach methods included social media, phone calls, text messages, radio and
television ads, and flyers.

COVID-19 vaccination programs implemented several approaches to deliver vaccines. These approaches were largely similar to those identified for testing, with the addition of approaches focused on increasing vaccination confidence.

- Mass vaccination clinics or events. Mass vaccination clinics or events, like mass testing events, are
  larger in scale than community vaccination clinics and enable programs to vaccinate many people in
  short periods of time. For example, one program serving the San Carlos Apache Tribe in Arizona found
  that its mass drive-through clinics had the biggest impact early in its vaccination campaign (LeMorawa et al. 2022). Of the mass vaccination clinics or events we identified in the literature, most
  were administered by community-based organizations, local health departments (city or county
  health departments), health clinics, and tribal health departments.
- Vaccination in health care settings. Vaccination in health care settings allowed programs to leverage the established infrastructure, staff, and resources available in health care settings to deliver vaccines to communities. Health care settings included community health centers, (Public Health Seattle and King County 2021), rural health clinics (Beste et al. 2021), retail pharmacies (Osibanjo et al. 2022), nursing homes (Feifer et al. 2021), and substance use disorder agencies (Washington et al. 2022). For example, a program in Clarkston, Georgia set up a recurring vaccination clinic directly outside of the primary health clinic to provide community members a consistent and familiar location (Malone et al. 2022). Of the programs we reviewed, most of those that implemented this approach were administered by health clinics, sometimes in partnership with CBOs, and local health departments.
- Community vaccination clinics. Community vaccination clinics helped programs more equitably distribute vaccinations by using convenient locations such as churches, businesses, schools, and sites where populations of focus gather such as food pantries and senior centers (Bigelow et al. 2022; New York State Department of Health 2020). Some programs implemented community vaccination clinics with consistent locations and times (Bigelow et al. 2022) and others held pop-up clinics to meet community needs (Relias Media 2021; Le-Morawa et al. 2022). Similarly, key informants described strategically

### Key informant spotlight: Federally qualified health center (FQHC)-sponsored community vaccination clinics

An FQHC partnered with five meatpacking plants in its service area to offer vaccination services onsite, as many of the FQHC's patients were employed at the plants. The FQHC also partnered with a local food bank and a homeless shelter to offer regular on-site vaccination services in those locations.

choosing community vaccination sites such as libraries and public transportation centers, as well as various agencies providing social services to their populations of focus. Community vaccination clinics in the literature were most commonly administered by CBOs, followed by local health departments and state health departments.

• **Mobile vaccination clinics.** Like community vaccination clinics, mobile vaccination clinics enabled programs to provide COVID-19 vaccines more equitably by tailoring the site of the vaccination clinic to the needs of the program's population of focus. For example, programs implemented mobile

म्फ

vaccination clinics at community sites like church parking lots (Abdul-Mutakabbir et al. 2022), parks and recreation centers (Alcendor et al. 2022a), or encampments (Rosen et al. 2023). Recognizing potential transportation barriers, one program, administered by a university, the San Francisco Department of Public Health, and local community-based organizations, sought to increase vaccination rates among Latinx individuals in San Francisco by setting up a vaccination site in a small parking lot near a busy transport hub (Marquez et al. 2021a). It remained open four days a week. Mobile vaccination clinics in the literature were most often administered by local health departments followed by academic institutions and community-based organizations.

In-home vaccinations. In-home vaccination supported homebound people who could not travel to vaccination sites (Public Health - Seattle and King County 2021). For example, one multi-city program run by the Veterans Health Administration (VHA) sent off-site teams to vaccinate homebound veterans (Beste et al. 2021), and another program serving the San Carlos Apache tribe in Arizona offered in-home vaccinations to increase access (Le-Morawa et al. 2022). COVID-19 vaccination programs in the literature we reviewed did not implement in-home services as commonly as COVID-19 testing programs, but those that did were administered by CBOs, local health departments, large hospitals or health systems, health clinics, and tribal health departments.

### COVID-19 vaccination programs also implemented stand-alone approaches to increase awareness of and confidence in COVID-19 vaccinations.

 Vaccination education events. Some programs implemented vaccine education events such as community town halls (AuYoung et al. 2022; Marquez et al. 2021a; Mathur and Dolgin 2022), webinars (Abdul- Mutakabbir et al. 2022; Peteet et al. 2022), or provider-led educational lessons for patients (Venegas-Murillo et al. 2022) in addition to conducting vaccine education outreach efforts as stand-alone approaches. Vaccination education events were most often administered by academic institutions, followed by CBOs, local health departments, and large hospitals or health systems.

### Program spotlight: COVID-19 educational webinars



Vaccination education outreach. Several programs conducted vaccination education outreach as
their primary focus, without an accompanying vaccination service component. These programs had
providers or program staff call community members and provide education on COVID-19 vaccinations,
used social media to dispel myths and boost confidence in vaccines, and created and posting flyers
around the community (Marcell et al. 2022; Moore et al. 2022; AuYoung et al. 2022). One state-level
campaign run by University of Washington, Seattle, created a website where providers, pregnant
people, and community members could learn more about the risks of COVID-19 and the benefits of
vaccination during pregnancy (Marcell et al. 2022).

#### 2. Strategies to facilitate delivery of COVID-19 vaccination programs

Like COVID-19 testing programs, COVID-19 vaccination programs used a combination of strategies to enhance the effectiveness of their primary approaches. Exhibit IV.3 and the following section are organized by the primary goal(s) of the delivery strategy. Strategies that worked to increase access, awareness, and confidence at the same time were most common. Programs also pursued strategies focused on increasing awareness of and confidence in vaccines and other strategies focused on increasing access. Within each of these sections, we present strategies according to how commonly they appeared in the literature we reviewed.

Strategy	Examples			
Increase access to, awareness of, and confidence in COVID-19 vaccinations				
Form community partnerships to deliver COVID-19 vaccines and messaging	<ul> <li>Partnerships with community-based organizations, such as faith-based organizations and community health organizations (Faherty et al. 2022)</li> <li>Peer vaccine ambassadors (Marquez et al. 2021a)</li> <li>Community advocates (Mathur and Dolgin 2022)</li> </ul>			
Engage multilingual staff	<ul> <li>In-person translators (Malone et al. 2022)</li> <li>Phone translation services (Malone et al. 2022)</li> </ul>			
Coordinating with routine vaccination efforts	Using routine immunization infrastructure (Gregory 2021)			
Increase awareness of and confiden	ce in COVID-19 vaccinations			
Develop population-specific or culturally tailored messaging	<ul> <li>Messaging in multiple languages (Alcendor et al. 2022a)</li> <li>Culturally competent messaging (Feifer et al. 2021)</li> <li>Motivational interviewing and trauma-informed messaging (e.g., Rosen et al. 2023)</li> </ul>			
Use multiple channels to increase reach of vaccination messaging	<ul> <li>Flyers, infographics, and Facebook Live sessions (Alcendor et al. 2022a)</li> <li>Radio (Marquez et al. 2021a)</li> <li>Phone calls (Relias Media 2021)</li> <li>Street outreach (Bigelow et al. 2022)</li> <li>Door-to-door campaigns (Relias Media 2021)</li> </ul>			
Increase access to COVID-19 vaccinations				
Offer walk-up options and expand hours	<ul> <li>Expanded operating hours (Relias Media 2021)</li> <li>Walk-up appointments (Malone et al. 2022)</li> <li>Individualized registration processes (Marquez et al. 2021a)</li> </ul>			
Reduce documentation requirements for vaccination	• No requirement of proof of residency, vaccine eligibility, or health insurance status (Marquez et al. 2021a)			
Provide transportation assistance	<ul> <li>Transportation coordination services (Malone et al. 2022)</li> <li>Partnerships with ride-share apps (key informants)</li> </ul>			
Increase uptake of COVID-19 vaccinations				
Offer financial incentives	Gift cards (key informants)			
Other goals				
Coordinate vaccination with other health and social services to meet health-related social needs	<ul> <li>Referrals to social and case management supports (Gupta et al. 2022)</li> <li>Food supports (Relias Media 2021)</li> </ul>			

Exhibit 19.3. Strategies to racintate actively of covid-15 vaccination programs
---

Like testing programs, most COVID-19 vaccination programs implemented strategies to address all three goals related to COVID-19 vaccination, placing priority on partnerships.

 Programs partnered with trusted community leaders, CBOs, and community members to deliver COVID-19 vaccines and messaging. This helped programs increase their reach among populations of focus (Faherty et al. 2022; Faherty et al. 2021). For example, through the Rockefeller Foundation's U.S. Equity First Vaccination Initiative, partners like CBOs made nearly 15 million connections with community members to disseminate accurate COVID-19 information and held more than 4,000 vaccination events (Faherty et al. 2022). Another program, funded by the NIH and administered by California's statewide alliance, STOP COVID-19 CA, leveraged community partnerships and brought together 11 academic sites and 75 community partners to learn from each other and better

स्फ

### Key informant spotlight: Sharing personal stories of vaccination

A community-based organization that focuses on media strategies and works across several states captured stories from about 500 people talking about their COVID-19 vaccination experiences and then shared those stories at events hosted in conjunction with community partners. The key informant noted that having "real people" share their stories of COVID-19 vaccination was more effective than testimonials from celebrities or others outside the community. understand community concerns about the COVID-19 vaccine, misinformation, and to address racial and ethnic inequities in vaccine hesitancy and uptake (AuYoung et al. 2022). As another example, an Illinois program focused on increasing COVID-19 vaccination rates among people experiencing homelessness partnered with advocates to engage community members at housing projects, soup kitchens, and other local events. They found that directly asking community members about their needs, rather than taking a top-down approach, fostered trust and increased vaccine access (Mathur and Dolgin 2022). Another program administered by an academic institution that sought to increase vaccination rates within non-Latinx Black and Latinx

communities in San Bernardino County, California partnered with faith and community leaders to host educational webinars to address vaccine hesitancy (Abdul-Mutakabbir et al. 2022). One program administered by an academic hospital, the San Francisco Department of Public Health, and community members had peer vaccine ambassadors speak with unvaccinated friends and family about the COVID-19 vaccine, share their positive experiences at the community vaccination site, and provide information about how to register for vaccination (Marquez et al. 2021a).

Several programs serving immigrant and non-English speaking communities had multilingual staff
or translators available on site to ensure accessibility of services. This helped programs reach Latinx
communities (Faherty et al. 2022; Gupta et al. 2022). One program in San Francisco, California had
Spanish-speaking Latinx community members conduct educational outreach such as going door-todoor and hosting townhalls to raise awareness about vaccine eligibility, disseminate vaccine
education, and promote the program's vaccination site (Marquez et al. 2021a). Another program
administered by a primary care clinic in Clarkson, Georgia used a combination of in-person translators
and phone translation services to increase access to COVID-19 vaccinations for non-English speaking
populations (Malone et al. 2022). Likewise, one key informant described their health system's
community health worker program in a tribal nation that paired community health workers with
native speakers of the local tribal language to promote COVID-19 vaccination and testing via outreach.

COVID-19 vaccination programs took advantage of routine vaccination services and messaging. For example, a multi-state program using pharmacists to provide COVID-19 vaccines to American Indians and Alaska Natives found that existing infrastructure from a previous mass vaccination program designed to improve routine immunization rates among Native American children facilitated a successful COVID-19 vaccination rollout (Gregory 2021). Similarly, key informants described efforts to incorporate COVID-19 vaccines into routine vaccination delivery or messaging. A CBO serving tribal populations in several states that previously focused on routine vaccination efforts used some of its strategies (such as peer education about

### Key informant spotlight: Bundling information on COVID-19 vaccination with routine vaccination

A key informant from a foundation with national reach reported that incorporating information about COVID-19 into routine vaccination messaging was effective, given that "people are just done with hearing about COVID." The key informant believed that sharing information more broadly about vaccinations in general, including COVID-19, softened the message and made it more appealing to people who may have otherwise been hesitant to engage.

vaccination) to also promote COVID-19 vaccination. As COVID-19 vaccines become part of a more routine vaccination schedule, with similar funding sources to other vaccinations, bundling services or messaging may become a more prevalent strategy. For example, a key informant representing a health system in a tribal nation described incorporating COVID-19 vaccinations into flu vaccine clinics offered in the community during the fall and winter months.

Programs developed population-specific messaging strategies to increase vaccine awareness and confidence.

Programs developed and translated culturally tailored messaging to ensure the relevance and accessibility of COVID-19 information for their populations of focus. Programs developed messaging in multiple languages to address COVID-19 misinformation among community members who speak English as a second language (Alcendor et al. 2022a). One program administered by the state health department, a health system, faith-based groups, and community-based organizations in Baltimore, Maryland advertised bilingual hotline numbers through Spanish-language local media outlets (Bigelow et al. 2022). Another program in California also developed tailored materials that were informed by the local and contextual needs

### Key informant spotlight: Using trusted messengers

A local health department implemented a trusted messenger program to increase vaccine awareness and acceptance. The health department trained individuals representative of the local population, such as community health workers, to speak with people about COVID-19 vaccination at community events and provided small grants that these individuals could use to develop and implement vaccine awareness campaigns in their communities. The key informant noted that using trusted messengers helped overcome community mistrust in medical institutions due to historical marginalization.

of communities, such as whether they were farmworker or urban communities (AuYoung 2022). Several programs also used trusted messengers from the same backgrounds as communities of focus. These messengers were able to have culturally relevant conversations about COVID-19 vaccination

स्फ

with other community members. For example, one national program administered by a long-term care provider that sought to increase vaccine confidence among Black and Latinx nursing home staff had nursing leaders from racially diverse backgrounds offer small group discussions and one-on-one conversations to answer culturally sensitive questions and increase vaccine acceptance (Feifer et al. 2021). Providing early vaccination to nursing home staff was enabled by the CDC's Pharmacy Partnership for Long-Term Care Program. Another program in Los Angeles County used providers trained in motivational interviewing and trauma- informed care to provide COVID-19 vaccine education and administration (Rosen et al. 2023).

• Programs used a broad range of communication channels, from social media to mass media to doorto-door outreach. This strategy helped programs promote vaccination services and increase the reach of their messaging. For example, one program administered by an academic institution, the state

쨍

### Key informant spotlight: Social media strategies to promote vaccine confidence

A foundation with national reach partnered with media agencies to create campaigns to identify, monitor, and reduce vaccine hesitancy among racial and ethnic minority groups. Media agencies created materials without branding so that communitybased organizations could use their organizational logos and launch them on their social media pages. The lack of centralized branding was a deliberate effort to avoid impressions of government agency involvement, as the foundation recognized that many racial and ethnic minority groups have a historically informed distrust of government and institutional involvement in their health. health department, and community-based organizations in Tennessee developed flyers, infographics, and held Facebook Live sessions focused on vaccine safety and efficacy to address COVID-19 misinformation (Alcendor et al. 2022a). Other programs specifically disseminated their COVID-19 vaccination messaging on Spanish-language radio shows (Marquez et al. 2021a; AuYoung et al. 2022). Additional outreach methods included phone calls (Relias Media 2021; Gregory 2021), street outreach (Bigelow et al. 2022), and door-to-door campaigns (Relias Media 2021; Massachusetts Department of Public Health 2021; Marquez et al. 2021a). Similarly, key informants echoed strategies of disseminating messages through culturally specific media channels and hosting community conversations to address vaccine hesitancy.

### Programs provided participants with additional supports to overcome barriers to services and enhance availability of and access to COVID-19 vaccinations.

• Programs offered extended or shifted hours and walk-in appointments to accommodate community members' working schedules and inability to take time off from work. For example, staff from the Planned Parenthood COVID-19 Vaccination Campaign expanded the operating hours of their vaccine clinics to better serve people who finish their working day in the evening and are unable to take time off (Relias Media 2021). Complicated scheduling and registration processes can also deter individuals who might have unconventional working schedules or do not have time to register for an appointment in advance. To address this, several programs offered walk-in appointments or individualized registration processes that allowed for community members to bypass registration forms and phone lines (Malone et al. 2022; Marquez et al. 2021a; Faherty et al. 2021). Similarly, a key informant's FQHC offered COVID-19 vaccine appointments on evenings and weekends and provided

on-site vaccinations at major employers and social service organizations to increase access among the clinic's patient population.

- Several programs provided COVID-19 vaccinations without requiring identification or proof of insurance, residency, or occupation to increase vaccine access among low-income and immigrant populations. For example, some programs primarily serving Latinx communities provided COVID-19 vaccinations without requiring community members to provide proof of residency, vaccine eligibility, or health insurance status (Marquez et al. 2021a) or identification or proof of occupation (Bigelow et al. 2022). One mobile vaccination program in New York offered free services to all patients, regardless of insurance status (Association of American Medical Colleges 2022). Several key informants from organizations serving people without documentation implemented these strategies as well. For example, one key informant from a CBO in a large city noted that it assured its clients receiving COVID-19 vaccinations that none of their personal data would be shared. The informant also believed its clients were more comfortable receiving vaccinations at the CBO's community center, because they perceived it as a safe space, rather than at a government facility such as a health department.
- A few programs offered recipients transportation assistance. For example, one national program planned to have health insurance providers coordinate transportation services for senior patients (American's Health Insurance Plans 2021), and another program's community engagement coordinator collaborated with community partners to help recipients register for and access transportation to vaccine appointments in Clarkston, Georgia (Malone et al. 2022). A few key informants described partnering with ride-share apps; for example, a national pharmacy retailer partnered with Lyft to provide free or discounted rides for clients to vaccine appointments. Similarly, a CBO partnered with ride-share apps to help transport clients to vaccine appointments at clinics offered through the city health department.

**Programs offered financial incentives to increase uptake for low-income recipients.** Only a few programs identified in the literature provided financial incentives to increase vaccine uptake among low-income communities (Rosen et al. 2023; Relias Media 2021; Faherty et al. 2021). In contrast, offering financial incentives was common among key informants' organizations (including CBOs, health centers, and state and local health departments), usually in the form of gift cards, ranging in value from \$25 to \$300. One key informant from a federal agency noted that there was a high level of interest in providing incentives for COVID-19 vaccination, including from the White House, which may have prompted many programs to offer vaccine incentives. Key informants noted that offering gift cards helped to offset some financial barriers to vaccination, such as money for gas to drive to vaccination events.

**Finally, some programs worked to address social and other health needs while providing vaccine services.** A few vaccination programs identified in the literature provided additional services or referrals to address social and other health care needs such as case management, food supports, ride vouchers, COVID-19 tests, contact tracing, and other preventive health care services (Gregory et al. 2021; Gupta et al. 2022; Ahmad et al. 2022; Mathur et al. 2022). Several key informants' organizations also provided services to meet an identified need in their community, such as food assistance. For example, CBOs and local health departments partnered with food pantries or mobile farmer's markets to distribute food at vaccination events. Other programs addressed unique needs in their community; for example, one CBO partnered with a local organization to provide legal aid at vaccination events.

### 3. Challenges to COVID-19 vaccination program implementation

Like COVID-19 testing programs, COVID-19 vaccination programs faced implementation challenges related to insufficient resources and inefficient program operations and logistics. In this section, we describe these challenges. In the following section, we discuss the strategies program personnel used to facilitate program implementation.

Category	Challenges staff faced in program implementation	Strategies staff used to facilitate program implementation
Resources	Budget and funding constraints, staffing limitations, and issues with meeting vaccine storage and handling requirements posed a challenge to program implementation.	Training existing and additional personnel and volunteers, relying on technical assistance from funders or government agencies, and taking advantage of flexibility from funders to implement innovative strategies helped programs overcome resource limitations.
Operations and logistics	Issues with patient tracking, site-specific challenges, and inconsistent information sharing decreased efficiency of program operations.	Conducting careful planning prior to program rollout and conducting ongoing program monitoring and quality improvement helped programs strengthen their operations.

Exhibit IV.4. Implementation	h challenges and	strategies of COVID-19	vaccination programs
------------------------------	------------------	------------------------	----------------------

#### Programs commonly faced resource challenges.

 Some key informants reported insufficient funding, while others struggled to use the amount of funding that was available. For example, one CBO struggled with limited funding availability at the beginning of the pandemic and restrictions on how grant funds could be used (for example, they could not be used to purchase vaccine incentives). Conversely, even when sufficient funding was available, organizations sometimes struggled to use large amounts of funding in short periods of time. For example, a respondent from a federal agency noted that during the COVID-19 pandemic, there was

more funding going to tribal jurisdictions than ever before, and some grantees experienced challenges quickly expanding their staffing and operations in response.

 Several programs faced staffing challenges that made it difficult for programs to effectively reach community members. For example, some programs had insufficient staff to implement additional vaccination sites and more staff-intense modes of vaccine delivery, such as personalized telephone outreach and door-to-door campaigns (Beste et al. 2021; Le-Morawa et al. 2022). Another program that used pharmacists to provide vaccines to Medicaid-insured populations faced staffing challenges in retail pharmacies (Osibanjo et al. 2022; see spotlight). Some key informants also

# Spotlight on staffing challenges and solutions

**Challenge:** A program that provided vaccines to Medicaid-insured populations through retail pharmacists faced staffing challenges due to competing demands for pharmacists' time, including their responsibilities to provide other vaccinations and fill prescriptions. At times, pharmacists needed to conduct outreach to unvaccinated individuals but did not have the capacity to do so.

**Solution:** The program used a rapid response team composed of nurses and care management staff to conduct scheduling outreach on behalf of pharmacists (Osibanjo et al. 2022).

দ্য

reported staffing challenges, both with hiring new staff and utilizing resources and meeting grant reporting requirements due to limited staff capacity.

• Insufficient or unpredictable vaccine supply, as well as requirements for storing and handling vaccines, hindered program activities. Programs had to develop strategies to minimize disruption for community members (Beste et al. 2021; Public Health—Seattle and King County 2021). For example, one program that delivered vaccines to veterans struggled with inconsistent vaccine supply and had to maintain constant communication with recipients and partners to keep them apprised of the availability of vaccines (Beste et al. 2021). A key informant from a national retail pharmacy chain shared that ensuring that transportation trucks and pharmacies had the capability to store vaccines (for example, having enough ultracold freezers) was a major challenge.

### Programs also faced operational and logistical challenges that hindered appropriate vaccine delivery and messaging.

- Some regional and state programs faced challenges around accessing and sharing patient vaccination data. One program administered by a regional Veteran's Affairs health care system reported being unable to access data on vaccinations that veterans received outside of the VHA because the VHA and state immunization systems are unable to exchange data (Beste et al. 2021). This meant that some veterans received multiple outreach communications despite being vaccinated. Similarly, another program administered by a health plan in Oregon that serves Medicaid found that data lags between the county and pharmacies meant adult care home vaccinators did not always know whether a person had already been vaccinated, making it difficult to identify priority adult care homes for vaccination (Osibanjo et al. 2022).
- Inconsistent information sharing was also a challenge. A state-level program in California in our review found that the lack of infrastructure for consistent information sharing across federal, state, and county agencies made it difficult to understand and communicate the rapidly changing COVID-19 guidelines to its community (AuYoung et al. 2022).
- Several programs that implemented vaccination clinics encountered challenges related to characteristics of their vaccination sites. For example, one program serving tribal reservations in rural settings faced difficulties transporting vaccines (Gregory 2021), and another program serving the San Carlos Apache Tribe struggled to implement mass vaccination events due to inconsistent wireless connectivity (Le-Morawa et al. 2022). Another program in Los Angeles, California faced difficulties implementing community vaccination clinics for unsheltered people experiencing homelessness due to frequent encampment sweeps (Choi et al. 2022; Rosen et al. 2023).

### 4. Strategies to facilitate COVID-19 vaccination program implementation

In this section, we elaborate on the strategies program personnel used to facilitate program implementation introduced in Exhibit IV.4.

While most programs did not describe implementation strategies, those that did commonly used strategies to alleviate resource constraints.

• Some programs trained additional staff and volunteers to expand their capacity or to incorporate new program approaches. For example, as part of the COVID-19 vaccine rollout in the San Carlos Apache Tribe, a program offered trainings with support from FEMA on door-to-door vaccination

ক্ষ

### Key informant spotlight: Training pharmacists

- A national pharmacy retailer partnered with community-based organizations to hold community dialogue events in major cities to gather community feedback about the COVID-19 vaccine; it then used learnings from the events to train pharmacists to talk about the vaccine with clients.
- A national pharmacy association provided educational web-based resources to community pharmacists about increasing COVID-19 vaccine confidence among their patients. The resources covered a range of topics intended to address concerns about and build confidence in the COVID-19 vaccines.

campaigns (Le-Morawa et al. 2022). Trainings also provided personnel (including staff and volunteers) with information on COVID-19 symptoms, transmission, guidelines, vaccine efficacy, and guidance around how to communicate with certain populations (Marguez et al. 2021a; Beste et al. 2021; Faherty et al. 2022; Abdul-Mutakabbir et al. 2022). One neighborhood vaccination program provided site staff COVID-19 education and ongoing refresher trainings that would enable them to answer community questions and address concerns (Marguez et al. 2021a). Key informants also emphasized the importance of staff training; for example, one FQHC aimed for all its clinical staff to become so-called vaccine advocates.

- Key informants valued the technical assistance that they received from funders or government agencies. These included trainings on topics such as effective outreach and messaging to promote COVID-19 vaccines, community engagement strategies, addressing vaccine hesitancy, data and metrics to inform program delivery (such as the <u>Social Vulnerability Index</u>), addressing staff burnout, and sustainability planning. In addition, several CBOs reported their technical assistance providers facilitated connections to local clinical or public health partners that were willing to co-host vaccination events. Some CBOs also had regular meetings with their cohort of grantees implementing similar programs, which was useful for sharing challenges and lessons learned. Key informants that reported the benefits of technical assistance commonly represented CBOs and health departments.
- Several key informants took advantage of flexibilities in their funding sources when implementing COVID-19 vaccination strategies. For example, a key informant from a federal agency noted that its awardees used COVID-19 vaccination funds to purchase vehicles (to offer mobile vaccination) or provide vaccine incentives; using funding for these activities as part of routine vaccination programs was not allowed prior to the pandemic. A state-wide program in California identified reducing bureaucratic obstacles to obtaining funding as a key strategy to minimize the administrative burden on community organizations (AuYoung et al. 2022). In addition to funding, some key informants

(primarily from CBOs) reported receiving resources such as vaccines from local health agencies or clinical partners, which enabled them to use their grant funding for other purposes, such as community outreach.

Programs used other strategies to overcome operational and logistical challenges, including careful implementation planning and ongoing quality improvement.

- **Program planning enabled a smoother vaccine rollout.** Program planning centered around vaccination prioritization strategies, obtaining and storing vaccine supply, and outreach and education strategies (Le-Morawa et al. 2022; Gregory 2021; New York State Department of Health 2020; Peteet et al. 2022; Feifer et al. 2021). For example, prior to the COVID-19 vaccine rollout in the San Carlos Apache Tribe, program staff acquired an ultracold freezer to store vaccines, developed a playbook to administer vaccines based on ACIP guidelines, identified high-priority individuals for vaccination, and developed call lists for future community outreach (Le-Morawa et al. 2022).
- A few programs in the literature, as well as several key informants' organizations, conducted ongoing monitoring and quality improvement strategies during program implementation. Programs used findings from their monitoring to identify lags in vaccination across zip codes and communities and inform their vaccine delivery and messaging approaches. For example, the Puget Sound Veterans Affairs Health Care System Vaccination Drive team regularly monitored vaccine equity by comparing the cumulative proportion of individuals vaccinated by race and ethnicity, sex, and rural status within defined age

### Key informant spotlight: Clinician report cards



A federally qualified health center developed a report card for every clinician that assessed COVID-19 vaccination rates for each clinician's patient panel. The report card also assessed the rate of patients who came in unvaccinated and "converted" by agreeing to receive the vaccine. The key informant noted that this program helped foster a healthy sense of competition among clinicians.

groups. The team then discussed findings and developed proactive, tailored interventions focusing on equitable vaccine delivery (Beste et al. 2021). Another mobile vaccination clinic used ongoing quality improvement to identify disparities in access across groups, evaluate outreach strategies, and understand drivers of vaccine hesitancy (Rosen et al. 2023). The program then developed educational pamphlets and games to address the most common reasons for hesitancy. Similarly, key informants from state and local health departments, as well as a federal funder and a national pharmacy retailer, described regularly reviewing COVID-19 vaccination rates and tracking COVID-19 outbreaks among the communities they serve and using these data to focus their vaccination efforts.

### V. Key findings on routine vaccination

This section provides an overview of guidelines for routine vaccinations and how the COVID-19 pandemic affected routine vaccination rates (Section V.A). We then summarize the routine vaccination programs' primary approaches and delivery strategies, the implementation challenges they experienced, and the implementation strategies they used to overcome those barriers (Section V.B).

# A. Routine vaccination guidelines, changes in vaccination rates during the COVID-19 pandemic, and pandemic-related barriers to routine vaccination

**Guidelines for recommended routine vaccinations vary by age, as outlined in Exhibit V.1 below.** In addition to age-specific guidelines, influenza vaccination is recommended yearly across age groups, starting at age 6 months (CDC 2016).

Age group	Recommended vaccination	Recommended schedule
Children under age 6 ª	Hepatitis B (HepB)	Administered in three doses: at birth, ages 1–2 months, and between ages 6–18 months
	Rotavirus (RV)	Administered in two or three doses (depending on the vaccine brand): at ages 2 months, 4 months, and 6 months
	Diphtheria, pertussis, tetanus (DTaP)	Administered in five doses: at ages 2 months, 4 months, 6 months, between 15–18 months, and between 4–6 years
	Haemophilus influenzae type b (Hib)	Administered in three or four doses (depending on the vaccine brand): at ages 2 months, 4 months, 12 months, and at 6 months in the four-dose series
	Pneumococcal disease (PCV13, PCV15)	Administered in four doses: at ages 2 months, 4 months, 6 months, and between 12–15 months
	Polio (IPV)	Administered in four doses: at ages 2 months, 4 months, between 6–18 months, and between 4–6 years
	Measles, mumps, and rubella (MMR)	Administered in two doses: between ages 12–15 months and between ages 4–6 years
	Varicella (Chickenpox)	Administered in two doses: between ages 12–15 months old and between ages 4–6 years
	Hepatitis A (HepA)	Administered in two doses: at age 12 months and between ages 18–23 months
	Influenza	Recommended yearly after 6 months of age
	COVID-19	The number of doses recommended vary by vaccine history, age, and type of COVID-19 vaccine <sup>e</sup>
Youth between ages 9–17 <sup>b, c</sup>	Meningococcal conjugate vaccine (MenACWY)	Administered in two doses: at ages 11– 12 years and at age 16
	Human papillomavirus (HPV)	Administered in a two-dose series, separated by 6–12 months, starting as young as age 9
	Tetanus, diphtheria, pertussis, booster (Tdap)	Administered between ages 11–12 years

#### Exhibit V.1. Guidelines on routine vaccinations by age group as of April 2023

Age grou	up	Recommended vaccination	Recommended schedule	
		Meningococcal vaccine for serogroup B virus (MenB)	Recommended for those at risk due to an outbreak and for people with specific medical conditions	
		Influenza	Recommended yearly	
		COVID-19	The number of doses recommended vary by vaccine history, age, and type of COVID-19 vaccine <sup>e</sup>	
Adults ag and over	ges 18 r <sup>d</sup>	Hepatitis B (HepB)	Recommended for adults ages 19-59. Administered in two, three, or four doses (depending on the vaccine brand)	
		Tetanus (Td) or Tetanus, diphtheria, pertussis (Tdap)	Td or Tdap booster recommended every 10 years and one Tdap booster recommended during pregnancy	
		Measles, mumps, and rubella (MMR)	Recommended for adults if no evidence of immunity or prior vaccination is available	
		Varicella (Chickenpox)	Recommended for adults if no evidence of immunity or prior vaccination is available	
		Human papillomavirus (HPV)	Recommended for adults through age 26 years, if an initial HPV series was not completed using the recommended dosing intervals	
		Pneumococcal vaccines	Recommended for all adults ages 65 years and older and persons with certain medical conditions	
		Shingles (zoster)	Recommended for adults over age 50	
		Influenza	Recommended yearly	
		COVID-19	The number of doses recommended vary by vaccine history and type of COVID-19 vaccine <sup>e</sup>	
Notes:	The table outlines routine vaccination guidelines. CDC also provides detailed recommendations for catch-up vaccinations for children, for people with specific risk factors, and for people in geographic areas where diseases (such as dengue) are endemic. The following references provide additional information and comprehensive guidelines			
Sources:	a. Cente Childrer	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (February 10, 2023). Recommended Vaccinations for Infants and hildren, Parent-Friendly Version. Birth through 6 Years, United States, 2023.		
https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/ b. Centers for Disease Control		www.cdc.gov/vaccines/schedul	es/easy-to-read/child-easyread.html. Accessed May 2, 2023.	
		ers for Disease Control and Pre	vention. (October 12, 2021). Meningococcal Vaccine Recommendations.	
	c. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (February 10, 2023). Recommended Vaccinations for Children Years Old, Parent-Friendly Version. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/schedules/easy-to-read/adolescent-</u>			
d. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (Ap https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/schedules/hcp/imz/			vention. (April 27, 2023). Adult Immunization Schedule by Age. <u>es/hcp/imz/adult.html#note-pneumo</u> . Accessed May 2, 2023.	
	e. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (May 31, 2023). COVID-19 Vaccine Interim COVID-19 Immu Schedule for Persons 6 Months of Age and Older. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/covid-19/downloads/COVI immunization-schedule-ages-6months-older.pdf</u> . Accessed June 1, 2023.			
Routine relative	e vaccina Iy consi	ation rates for school-age istent for children in the	children and youth fell during the COVID-19 pandemic but were first 24 months of life. Children who were living below the	
poverty data on	<b>y level, u</b> childrer	<b>ninsured or on Medicaid</b> in kindergarten during th	, or in rural areas experienced declines in vaccination rates. CDC	

rates across routine vaccinations (including the 2020 21 school year show a 1-percent decrease in vaccination rates across routine vaccinations (including the measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine; the diphtheria, pertussis, tetanus vaccine; and the varicella vaccine) compared to the 2019–20 school year (Seither et al. 2022). A similar 1-percent decrease occurred between the 2020-21 and 2021-22 school year (Seither et al. 2023). For younger children, born in 2018-2019, vaccination coverage remained consistent during the

pandemic for most routine vaccinations (Hill et al. 2023). However, flu vaccination rates for children ages 6 months to 17 years dipped by 6 percentage points in the 2020–21 flu season compared to the 2019–20 season (Williams et al. 2022). There were also reductions in human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination rates for youth, with one study estimating a 60 percent decline in March–May 2020 compared to March–May 2021 (Stokley 2022; Patel Murthy et al. 2021). Studies have also demonstrated disparities in vaccination coverage for specific populations during the pandemic. For example, despite overall consistency in vaccine coverage for children in the first 24 months of life, one study identified dips in routine vaccination for children under 24 months who were living in rural areas or below the federal poverty level (Hill et al. 2023). The study also noted persistent disparities in vaccination coverage by race and ethnicity and socioeconomic status, with routine vaccination coverage being lowest among Black children and children without private insurance (Hill et al. 2023). Another study similarly identified that children who were uninsured or insured through Medicaid had sharper declines in routine vaccination compared to the general population (Skolnik et al. 2021).

Influenza vaccination rates were associated with COVID-19 vaccination rates for adults ages 18-64. Flu vaccination rates for adults remained relatively consistent between the 2019-20 and 2020-21 flu seasons (Williams et al. 2022; Leuchter et al. 2022). However, this relationship shifted in 2021-22 after the introduction of COVID-19 vaccinations. To illustrate, in the 2021-22 flu season, states with the highest rates of COVID-19 vaccination experienced an increase in rates of flu vaccination compared to the 2019-20 flu season. States with the lowest rates of COVID-19 vaccination in 2021-22 experienced a decrease in flu vaccination rates compared to the 2019-20 flu season (Leuchter et al. 2022). This suggests that factors influencing rates of COVID-19 vaccination, such as mistrust, may have also impacted flu vaccination rates (Leuchter et al. 2022).

Pandemic-related disruptions in health care, fears about COVID-19 transmission, and social and economic impacts on families were primary causes of reduced rates of routine vaccinations. Studies suggest that reduced availability of primary care services during the pandemic, parental concerns about COVID-19 transmission, social and economic effects of the pandemic on families, stay-at-home orders, and disruption to the health care system contributed to declines in routine vaccination rates during the pandemic (Santoli et al. 2021; Stokley 2022; Seither et al. 2022). Programs in our review observed similar pandemic-related barriers to routine vaccinations. For example, one health center in Boston developed a mobile vaccination program after parental concerns about COVID-19 transmission and other social and economic effects from the pandemic led to reduced routine pediatric vaccination rates (Leibowitz et al. 2021). Similarly, another vaccine education outreach program cited the negative impact of stay-at-home orders, fears of contracting COVID-19 in medical settings, and general disruption of health care operations on well-child visits and routine childhood vaccinations (Deerin et al. 2022).

**COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy and relaxed school vaccine requirements may also have impacted routine vaccination rates.** COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy may have affected confidence in routine childhood vaccination and flu vaccination (referred to as a carryover effect) (CDC 2022j; Leuchter et al. 2022). Predominant sources of information on vaccination also impacted vaccine confidence: during the pandemic, people received more vaccine-related information from the news, internet, and social media and less information from primary care clinicians (American Academy of Family Physicians 2021). Relaxed vaccine requirements for remote students, reduced staffing in schools, and lower reporting and response

rates from schools and parents may have also impacted reported routine vaccination rates in schoolbased data (Seither et al. 2022).

### **B.** Routine vaccination programs

Our literature review identified a relatively small number of sources (six) describing programs focused on increasing routine vaccination rates during the COVID-19 pandemic. These programs cited the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on routine vaccination as motivation for their efforts. Observing declines in routine vaccination rates, some federal programs and funders shifted some focus from COVID-19 to support local programs' efforts. For example, the Office of Infectious Disease and HIV/AIDS Policy in OASH, HHS, launched a campaign to promote routine childhood immunizations, Catch-up to Get Ahead.

In this section, we discuss findings from the literature and key informant interviews on how programs used primary approaches and delivery strategies to attempt to improve routine vaccination rates, the implementation challenges they experienced, and their implementation strategies.

### 1. Primary approaches used for routine vaccination programs during the COVID-19 pandemic

While routine vaccination programs used some approaches that COVID-19 testing and vaccination programs used, routine vaccination programs also used traditional primary care settings to increase access to vaccinations. Unlike COVID-19 testing and vaccination programs, routine vaccination programs in our review did not use mass vaccination clinics or vaccination education events as primary approaches during the pandemic. Exhibit V.2. summarizes the routine program approaches described in the literature and by key informants.

Approach	Description	
Increase access to rou	tine vaccinations	
Vaccination in health care settings	Health care settings such as federally qualified health centers administered vaccines at well-child visits and other appointments, or established walk-in clinics to administer routine vaccines at their facilities.	
Community vaccination clinics	Programs held vaccination clinics in convenient community sites where people congregate. The clinics relied on existing infrastructure from the community sites. These were usually recurring initiatives but also included one-time vaccination clinics (for example, at schools).	
Mobile vaccination clinics	Traveling vans or mobile units brought vaccines to convenient locations in the community, and individuals came to the mobile unit to receive vaccines.	
Increase awareness of and confidence in routine vaccinations		
Vaccination education outreach	Programs conducted outreach to populations of focus to share educational information on vaccine- preventable diseases and routine vaccinations to address vaccine hesitancy or to promote and coordinate uptake of vaccines. Outreach methods included social media, phone calls, text messages, radio and television ads, and flyers.	

#### Exhibit V.2. Primary approaches of routine vaccination programs during the COVID-19 pandemic

Routine vaccination programs prioritized community-centered approaches and approaches in health care settings.

• Vaccination in health care settings. Clinical providers typically provide routine vaccinations for children and adults during primary care visits and other types of appointments. During the COVID-19 pandemic, key informants described continuing to use this approach in health care settings such as

FQHCs and tribal health facilities. For example, a key informant from a federal agency reported that the tribal health facilities that it funds offered routine child and adult vaccines at all health care appointments, regardless of the reason for the visit. These tribal health facilities also began offering regular on-site walk-in clinics for routine vaccination.

Community vaccination clinics. Like COVID-19 vaccination clinics, community clinics for routine vaccinations enabled programs to use community sites or community events to deliver vaccines more equitably and make them more convenient for community members. For example, one key informant's CBO began offering routine adult vaccinations on-site at their community center in early 2023, after successfully using this approach for COVID-19 vaccination. Another key informant's local health department used community vaccination sites established during the pandemic (such as those at libraries) to administer routine vaccines. Organizations that reported implementing this approach

in key informant interviews included tribal health systems, a CBO, a state health department, and a local health department.

 Mobile vaccination clinics. Mobile vaccination clinics similarly enabled programs to make services more convenient and tailor them to the needs of specific populations. One program administered by FQHCs in partnership with a hospital that implemented mobile vaccination clinics found that this approach was particularly helpful for reaching families who had COVID-19 transmission concerns (Leibowitz et al. 2021). Routine vaccination programs in our scan that implemented mobile vaccination clinics were administered by FQHCs, a hospital, and a local health department.

### Key informant spotlight: Using COVID-19 infrastructure for routine vaccines

One local health department used mobile units that had provided COVID-19 vaccines to provide routine vaccines in communities with the highest geographic barriers to access. The health department has used the mobile units to administer flu and mpox vaccines, as well as other health services and social supports. The health department also used sites at schools that it had originally established for COVID-19 vaccination to administer flu vaccines.

Vaccination education and outreach was another primary programmatic approach. This approach helped programs increase awareness of routine vaccines and combat declining rates during the pandemic. For example, a rural health care center in Colorado implemented a reminder message campaign for HPV vaccination to improve rates of appointment scheduling (Kepka et al. 2021). Some national programs explicitly implemented vaccine education outreach approaches to increase routine vaccination rates that declined due to the COVID-19 pandemic (Deerin et al. 2022; U.S. Department of Health Human Services 2021; March of Dimes 2021; National Foundation for Infectious Diseases 2022). Of the vaccine education outreach programs we identified, most were administered by national entities, such as federal agencies, national foundations and non-profit organizations, and large hospitals or health systems. Similarly, key informants described campaigns to promote routine vaccinations via email, text, print, and social media. One CBO working with tribal communities across three states also worked with schools to provide technical assistance and educational materials for administrators and nurses to talk about vaccines.

### 2. Strategies to facilitate delivery of routine vaccination programs during the COVID-19 pandemic

Like COVID-19 vaccination programs, routine vaccination programs used several key strategies to enhance the effectiveness of their primary approaches (Exhibit V.3). These strategies simultaneously worked to increase access to, awareness of, and confidence in vaccines.

Exhibit V.3. Strategies to facilitate delivery of routin	ne vaccination programs during the COVID-19
pandemic	

Strategy	Examples		
Increase access to, awareness of, and confidence in routine vaccinations			
Draw on strategies from COVID-19 for	9 for • Telling personal stories (Key informants)		
routine vaccination	<ul> <li>Streamlining check-in processes (Key informants)</li> </ul>		
	Reducing wait times (Key informants)		
	Offering extended hours (Key informants)		
Engage multilingual staff	Diverse staff (Leibowitz et al. 2021)		
	Interpretation staff (Leibowitz et al. 2021)		
Increase awareness of and confidence in routine vaccinations			
Form partnerships to deliver messaging	• Partners disseminate vaccine messaging and advocacy (March of Dimes 2021)		
Use multiple channels to increase reach of	• Text message vaccine reminders (Kepka et al. 2021)		
vaccination messaging	• Email vaccine reminders (Kepka et al. 2021)		
	• Social media (Deerin et al. 2022)		
	Postcards (Deerin et al. 2022)		
	Local newspaper (Deerin et al. 2022)		
	• Radio (Deerin et al. 2022)		
	Patient education from providers (Key informants)		
Other goals			
Coordinate vaccination with other health	Preventive pediatric care (Leibowitz et al. 2021)		
services	Physical examinations (Leibowitz et al. 2021)		

Routine vaccination programs built upon strategies used to deliver COVID-19 vaccination services—or used strategies similar to those used for COVID-19—to enhance vaccine delivery and increase vaccine awareness and confidence.

 Key informants drew on messaging strategies and infrastructure used to promote and deliver COVID-19 vaccination, helping them enhance routine vaccination delivery services. For example, a key informant from an FQHC seeking to improve routine childhood vaccination rates found telling personal stories and testimonials to be an effective method to promote vaccine confidence for COVID-19. This informant (a clinician) began sharing with patients about getting their own children vaccinated against flu and other illnesses. The FQHC also incorporated process improvements from the COVID-19 vaccination rollout into routine vaccination efforts, such as streamlining check-in, reducing wait times, and offering expanded hours for vaccination. Another key informant from a federal agency reported that tribal health facilities implemented similar improvements, such as expanding evening and weekend hours and establishing standing times for walk-in vaccinations. In addition to drawing on process improvements developed for COVID-19 vaccination, some key informants also bundled routine vaccinations, like the flu vaccine, with COVID-19 vaccination at their community vaccination clinics.

 Like COVID-19 programs, one routine vaccination program in our review hired multilingual and diverse staff to facilitate communication with non-English speaking populations and enhance vaccine delivery. The program, administered by health centers and a hospital in Boston, Massachusetts, involved staff "who reflected the diversity of their patient population" to deliver mobile vaccine services (Leibowitz et al. 2021, p. 3). It also offered interpretation services on-site to ensure effective communication.

Like COVID-19 programs, routine vaccination programs used partnerships and specific dissemination strategies to augment primary approaches focused on increasing awareness of and confidence in routine vaccinations.

 Routine vaccination programs partnered with national, state, and community organizations to disseminate information and provide advocacy support. Partnerships with organizations that have a broader reach than programs augmented vaccine education outreach efforts (HHS 2021d; NFID 2022). For example, a national vaccine education outreach program that sought to educate families about recommended vaccines and no-cost access through the Vaccines for Children program proposed using a national network of partners, community leaders, health care providers, and influencers to support dissemination of educational information and advocacy (March of Dimes 2021).

### Key informant spotlight: Community conversations to promote routine vaccination

A community-based organization focused on tribal populations in three states trained community members to share their vaccine-related experiences with their families, friends, and coworkers to encourage routine vaccination, and later COVID-19 vaccination. This organization also hosted community listening sessions led by tribal leaders and providers; they used learnings from these events to inform their education and outreach materials about routine vaccines, as well as the COVID-19 vaccine.

স্য

• **Programs used various channels to effectively disseminate routine vaccination information.** This strategy supported programs' efforts to schedule vaccination appointments (Kepka et al. 2021; Deerin et al. 2022). For example, one program that sought to increase HPV vaccination rates implemented an HPV vaccination reminder message campaign using text messages and email to contact parents or caregivers (Kepka et al. 2021). As part of an HHS-funded, federal program that promoted routine childhood immunizations, FQHCs had staff conduct on-site promotion at health centers; call patients; mail postcards and letters to patients; and use social media, local newspapers, radio, television, and email to promote vaccines (Deerin et al. 2022). Similarly, key informants described clinicians providing patient education on routine vaccination during medical appointments using techniques such as motivational interviewing.

One program that implemented a mobile vaccination clinic also offered other health services to maximize access to vaccinations and preventive care visits (Leibowitz et al. 2021). Specifically, the program offered examinations and other preventive pediatric care to families who might not otherwise seek in-person care due to concerns about COVID-19 transmission.

### 3. Challenges to routine vaccination program implementation

Few of the routine vaccination programs in the literature we reviewed reported implementation challenges. Below we summarize the implementation challenges described in environmental scan sources, followed by the strategies programs used to facilitate program implementation.

Category	Challenges staff faced in program implementation	Strategies staff used to facilitate program implementation
Resources	Budget and funding constraints, staffing limitations, and issues with obtaining supplies posed a challenge to program implementation.	Training existing and additional personnel helped address resource challenges.
Operations and logistics	Lack of time to conduct vaccination activities posed a challenge to program implementation.	Conducting ongoing program monitoring and quality improvement and taking advantage of improvements made during the COVID-19 pandemic for routine vaccination efforts helped programs strengthen their operations.

### Exhibit V.4. Implementation challenges and strategies of routine vaccination programs during the COVID-19 pandemic

While few routine vaccination programs reported implementation challenges, those that did faced resource limitations similar to COVID-19 programs. These limitations were compounded by the pandemic.

- A few key informants reported challenges with bundling routine vaccinations and COVID-19 vaccines due to different funding sources. For example, a CBO noted that routine vaccinations usually still had a cost or required insurance (which could be a barrier to their client population), unlike the COVID-19 vaccine. The CBO was able to overcome this challenge by partnering with its local health department, which was able to secure funding to provide these vaccines for free. A key informant from a federal agency noted that routine and COVID-19 vaccinations had different funding sources (as of March 2023), and different providers were authorized to distribute them, which made it difficult to fully coordinate distribution.
- Some routine vaccination programs faced staffing challenges. One program in the literature faced challenges staffing mobile vaccination clinics aimed at providing routine childhood vaccinations and preventive care visits (Leibowitz et al. 2021). A key informant from a federal agency noted that early in the pandemic, many immunization staff were pulled from their day jobs to work on COVID-19 vaccination efforts, which likely contributed to the decline in routine childhood immunizations during the pandemic.

**Routine vaccination programs also faced operational and logistical challenges related to insufficient time to administer vaccines or conduct needed outreach.** This was driven by the vaccine delivery approaches used by programs or was a general challenge for providers (Kepka et al. 2021; Leibowitz et al. 2021). For example, a program that implemented a mobile vaccination clinic found that mobile initiatives require more time for outreach and scheduling than traditional clinic visits (Leibowitz et al. 2021). Providers in another program reported that they often did not have enough time to administer vaccines (Kepka et al. 2021). Key informants also described staff being overwhelmed by the COVID-19 pandemic

and not having time to focus on routine vaccination efforts. For example, one state health department shared that encouraging COVID-19 and influenza vaccines was "all our providers could handle," rather than focusing on all routine vaccinations.

### 4. Strategies to facilitate routine vaccination program implementation

In this section we elaborate on the strategies introduced in Exhibit V.4 that programs used to facilitate implementation.

### Programs invested in personnel who administer routine vaccination programs, helping to address resource challenges.

Some programs trained their staff on specific vaccines and best practices for vaccine delivery. One program offered staff training about the HPV vaccine (Kepka et al. 2021; see spotlight box). Programs also provided training on how to educate recipients, how to communicate about their respective initiative, and how to schedule appointments (Kepka et al. 2021; Leibowitz et al. 2021). Key informants echoed these strategies; for example, one CBO trained providers on motivational interviewing to encourage routine vaccination for children. Additionally, a federal

### Program spotlight: Personnel training on human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination

A program offered providers training about the HPV vaccine consisting of two one-hour long video call trainings on HPV vaccination systems, vaccine recommendations, and population-specific guidance. Providers were taught how to deliver a compelling and brief recommendation for the HPV vaccine to their patients (Kepka et al. 2021).

agency developed a new strategy—called E3, or Every patient, Every encounter, Every vaccine—to standardize practices among i health care providers and remind them to offer routine vaccinations to every patient, regardless of the reason for the visit.

• As a counterpoint to staff challenges caused or compounded by the pandemic, one key informant noted that investments in staff and partnerships during the pandemic will ultimately benefit routine vaccination programs. This informant from a federal agency noted that states have been able to substantially increase the infrastructure for adult vaccinations by increasing the number of staff and immunization providers they work with. Routine vaccination programs drew on program feedback and investments in data infrastructure to strengthen operations.

Some programs implemented quality improvement and evaluation efforts to learn from operational challenges. One program administered by health centers and a hospital conducted a quality improvement survey with families via telephone and had staff participate in a debrief regarding their experiences after the intervention (Leibowitz et al. 2021; see spotlight). Another program administered by a medical center implemented a pre- and post-intervention survey to assess the effect of its health care provider training efforts on provider knowledge of HPV, HPV vaccination, and barriers to vaccination (Kepka et al. 2021).

# Program spotlight: Conducting quality improvement surveys



দ্য

Providers in the program also shared their experiences supporting the mobile clinics and reported that clear communication and cultural competency were crucial to the program's success (Leibowitz et al. 2021).

• Like investments in staff and partnerships, key informants noted that investments in data infrastructure during the COVID-19 pandemic will benefit routine vaccination programs. For example, a federal agency previously did not receive real-time data on any vaccinations but, because of the pandemic, has required that states must report all vaccine data in real time. Similarly, a CBO serving tribal populations in three states used pandemic funding to provide technical assistance on data reporting to smaller tribal organizations that provide routine vaccination services in addition to COVID-19 vaccinations. The CBO assisted the other organizations with new processes for reporting data to funders on activities implemented to improve vaccine confidence and uptake.

# VI. Programs' approaches to identifying populations and assessing performance

This section provides details on the data sources the programs in our review used to identify priority populations and the metrics they used to assess their performance. We first discuss programs' approaches to identifying populations of focus and then describe how they assessed their activities and success.

### A. Data sources to identify populations at disproportionate risk

In Section II, we described populations that are medically or socially at disproportionate risk of COVID-19 and related adverse outcomes and the populations of focus for the programs we reviewed. In this section, we describe the data sources programs used to identify populations of focus—according to individual risk factors—or areas in need of services (summarized in Exhibit VI.1). Most of these data sources characterize geographic areas rather than people or groups.

Туре	Example Sources	Example Metrics	Advantages	Limitations
National COVID- 19 epidemiology data and data about attitudes about COVID-19 vaccines	<ul> <li>Peer-reviewed literature</li> <li>Federal reporting, for example from the CDC Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports</li> <li>National COVID-19 surveillance data from the CDC <u>COVID Data</u> <u>Tracker</u>, sometimes disaggregated by race and ethnicity</li> <li>National surveys assessing attitudes about COVID-19 vaccination, for example, from the <u>Pew Research Center</u></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>National rates of COVID-19 incidence, test positivity, hospitalizations, and deaths, disaggregated by race/ethnicity</li> <li>Self-reported willingness and intent to be vaccinated</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Provide broad overview of patterns and inequities in disease incidence, prevalence, burden, and public attitudes</li> <li>CDC data are updated regularly</li> <li>Reliable estimates from large national samples; allows for disaggregation by important subpopulations</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Data displayed at the national level do not reveal localized patterns and heterogeneities</li> <li>Missing race and ethnicity data masks disparities in COVID-19 incidence</li> </ul>
Local COVID-19 epidemiology data	<ul> <li>City, county, or state public health department COVID-19 surveillance data</li> <li>County-level COVID-19 surveillance data from the CDC <u>COVID Data</u> <u>Tracker</u></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Neighborhood-level rates of COVID-19 incidence, test positivity, hospitalizations, and deaths, disaggregated by race/ethnicity</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Identify hotspots and heterogeneity in COVID-19 burden within cities, counties, and states</li> <li>Respond to real- time community needs (with ongoing monitoring)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Limited testing availability in communities with low income and communities of color results in under- assessment of COVID- 19 incidence</li> <li>Missing race and ethnicity data masks disparities in COVID-19 incidence</li> <li>Limited availability of reliable local data,</li> </ul>

#### Exhibit VI.1. Data sources used to identify populations at disproportionate risk and direct services

Туре	Example Sources	Example Metrics	Advantages	Limitations
				especially disaggregated by race/ethnicity or other demographic characteristics
Local data on COVID-19 testing and vaccination	<ul> <li>Local information on availability of testing venues</li> <li>Vaccination rates from health care organizations, local public health departments, or county- level data from the CDC <u>COVID Data Tracker</u>, sometimes disaggregated by race and ethnicity</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Locations or numbers of neighborhoods that have few known testing venues</li> <li>Percent of residents vaccinated, disaggregated by race and ethnicity</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Identify communities in need of more services</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Differences in reporting make it difficult to identify and prioritize communities of focus</li> <li>Limited availability of reliable local data, especially disaggregated by race/ethnicity or other demographic characteristics</li> </ul>
Data on community characteristics	<ul> <li>CDC's <u>Social Vulnerability</u> <u>Index</u> (SVI)</li> <li>COVID-19 Vulnerability Index, constructed using Medicare data</li> <li>Neighborhood racial and ethnic composition data from the U.S. Census or <u>American Community</u> <u>Survey</u></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Census tract SVI score</li> <li>Percent of residents with different racial identities (for example, percent non- Hispanic Black)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Places focus on "upstream" social and structural factors that shape multiple health inequities</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Geographic boundaries for census-based measures may not correspond to people's neighborhood definitions</li> <li>SVI and racial/ethnic composition do not capture all barriers to testing and vaccination</li> </ul>
Data from communities (often qualitative)	<ul> <li>Referrals from service providers</li> <li>Community working groups</li> <li>Surveys of participants or community members</li> <li>Social media</li> <li>Expert input</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Counts of people with greater risk of adverse outcomes, such as homebound adults</li> <li>Qualitative descriptions of a community's barriers, needs, and opportunities</li> <li>Fears, misinformation, strengths expressed online</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Illuminates contextual or community-specific considerations that would be missed using other data sources</li> <li>Integrates community voice in data for decision making</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Qualitative research is sometimes perceived as less rigorous or valuable</li> </ul>
Multiple data sources used in combination	<ul> <li>National and local</li> <li>Qualitative and quantitative</li> </ul>	• Multiple	<ul> <li>Triangulating data sources provides a more accurate picture of community needs and assets</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Time- and resource- intensive</li> </ul>

Note: Advantages and limitations of metrics and data sources are based on subject matter expertise of research team. Most sources we reviewed did not explicitly describe such advantages and limitations. National COVID-19 epidemiology data, obtained from published literature and federal reporting helped programs describe COVID-19 transmission, burden, and inequities by individual risk factors, including race, ethnicity, age, or relevant social factors. Peer-reviewed and gray literature sources on COVID-19 testing and vaccination programs often cited other published information on disparities or needs among specific groups (Abdul-Mutakabbir et al. 2022; Chamie et al. 2022; Kepka et al. 2021). Many programs cited federal reporting from the CDC's *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR)* (Abdul-Mutakabbir et al. 2021; Washington et al. 2022) and COVID Data Tracker (Abdul-Mutakabbir et al. 2021; Abdul-Mutakabbir et al. 2022; Alcendor et al. 2022), often disaggregated by race and ethnicity to describe racial inequities in COVID-19 incidence, morbidity, mortality, and vaccination rates (Mullin et al. 2022; Peteet et al. 2022). However, it was not always clear whether these programs used this information to identify populations of focus as they designed programs, or whether they used it to communicate specific populations' (already well-known) need for services or the role of structural, social, and medical factors in driving COVID-19 inequities. Several programs also cited national surveys to describe attitudes about COVID-19 vaccination, including confidence or willingness to be vaccinated (Bigelow et al. 2022; Budhwani et al. 2023; Washington et al. 2022).

Local epidemiology data on COVID-19 transmission and burden helped programs develop place-based interventions. Surveillance data from city, county, and state health departments enabled programs to select service delivery sites in communities facing greater levels of transmission, hospitalization, and death from COVID-19 (Jaklevic et al. 2021; Kim et al. 2021; McCollum et al. 2022). For example, a COVID-19 testing program in Chicago used daily reports on the number of COVID-19 cases from the City of Chicago to identify specific neighborhoods with clusters of cases (Kim et al. 2021). Disaggregating COVID-19 data by race or other demographic factors enabled programs to identify inequities within cities or states and plan service sites accordingly (Brown et al. 2021; Chamie et al. 2022; DeGarmo et al. 2022; Kim et al. 2021). Other testing programs used local epidemiology data in conjunction with machine learning and mapping approaches to identify emerging hotspots of COVID-19 transmission (Atrium Health 2020; Whanger et al. 2022). For example, a mobile testing clinic in West Virginia used a machine learning algorithm to identify counties with predicted one-week increases in COVID-19 incidence based on local epidemiology and other data (Whanger et al. 2022).

**Reviewing place-based data on COVID-19 testing and vaccination access and use helped programs identify specific communities in need of more testing and vaccination resources.** Several COVID-19 testing programs selected communities with low testing availability (Hernandez et al. 2022; Whanger et al. 2022). For example, one program deployed mobile vans to communities with limited or no testing venues; however, authors did not state the data source used to determine testing availability (Whanger et al. 2022). Vaccination programs often focused their efforts in communities with low rates of vaccination using data from health care organizations (Beste et al. 2021; Bigelow et al. 2022), state health departments (Alcendor et al. 2021), or localized (rather than national) vaccination information from the COVID Data Tracker (Abdul-Mutakabbir et al. 2022); key informants echoed these approaches.

**Programs used place-based data to prioritize communities identified as socially vulnerable without an explicit focus on COVID-19 transmission or burden.** Social vulnerability stems from structural and social inequities and reflects community capacity to respond to stresses such as COVID-19 outbreaks (Tsai et al. 2022). Several programs identified communities of focus using data from the CDC Social Vulnerability Index (SVI), an area-based measure of community resilience often used for planning and allocating

resources (Berkley-Patton et al. 2022; Massachusetts Department of Public Health 2021; Public Health— Seattle and King County 2021). Key informants also described using the SVI as a data source, including representatives of a CBO, a state health department, a foundation, and several federal agencies. One program constructed its own COVID-19 Vulnerability Index using Medicare data (Baker et al. 2021). Programs in our literature review that aimed to serve specific racial and ethnic groups also referenced data on neighborhood racial composition to determine service locations (Barrett et al. 2022; Dumproff et al. 2022; Gillwald et al. 2022; Singler et al. 2023) or used the American Community Survey to understand the demographics of communities they reached (Baker et al. 2021).

Other programs used qualitative data to identify specific people or populations and plan services, including data from physician referrals, community work groups, surveys, social media, and experts' knowledge of communities. Several programs used physician referrals to identify people at high risk of COVID-19 or severe outcomes, including veterans with multiple risk factors (Beste et al. 2021) and adults who were older, frail, or homebound (Goldberg et al. 2020). Programs also used community work groups to prioritize populations, understand contextual factors, and plan service delivery. For example, one program planned the site for their COVID-19 vaccination intervention based on expert input from a working group of local community partners (AuYoung et al. 2021). Based on their deep knowledge of the community, the working group was able to provide more nuanced information about intersectional

### Key informant spotlight: Using social listening



Staff from a foundation working throughout the country and its funded community-based organizations followed social media conversations about COVID-19 testing and vaccination to identify emerging patterns of COVID-related fears, strengths, concerns, and misinformation. This socalled social listening approach enabled program staff to identify real-time topics of conversation predominant among specific communities and respond in contextually specific ways. factors affecting risk of COVID-19 exposure, including occupation and household composition for specific groups. As another example, a COVID-19 testing program in Northern California formed a Latino COVID-19 collaborative comprised of community partners, residents, and academics. To plan locations for COVID-19 testing events, the collaborative conducted a brief survey of community members to understand barriers to testing and met monthly to discuss findings and plan test sites accordingly (Chamie et al. 2022). Several key informants described similar approaches to identifying populations of focus based on historical knowledge of the communities they serve.

Synthesizing multiple data sources helped programs gain a robust understanding of community needs and assets and plan accordingly. Many of the programs we reviewed began with an overview of national epidemiologic data to describe inequities in the COVID-19 burden across social groups, then assessed more localized data or expert input to select communities of focus (Barry et al. 2020; Brown et al. Public Health - Seattle and King County 2021). Some programs combined population characteristics from several data sources to select program sites (Barrett et al. 2022; Whanger et al.

### Key informant spotlight: Combining the Social Vulnerability Index with qualitative input

A state health department mapped data from the Social Vulnerability Index at the zip code level. The health department then found trusted partners (local public health boards, tribal public health boards, federally qualified health centers, and community-based organizations) in those zip codes to collect data about level of need for vaccines, and then the state health department allocated vaccines accordingly.

2022). For example, a multi-city mobile vaccination program run by the Puget Sound Veterans Affairs Health Care System developed a survey to assess veterans' risk factors for severe COVID-19 outcomes, aggregated survey data at the zip code level, and combined survey data with place-based sociodemographic data to prioritize sites for mobile vaccination clinics (Beste et al. 2021). A vaccine equity team then assisted program planners in interpreting emerging trends and tailoring services accordingly. Key informants sometimes reported using multiple data sources as well. For example, one key informant representing an academic institution working statewide combined test positivity rates with geographic information to understand distance from testing centers in zip codes with high test-positivity rates.

### **B.** Metrics programs reported using to assess performance

In this section, we describe the metrics and data sources programs used to assess their performance and understand the effects of their work. Programs in our review that mentioned specific metrics or data sources for this purpose typically assessed *program outputs*, which are measures of the quantity and quality of program activities and service delivery. Some programs also assessed *program outcomes*, which are measures of changes among program recipients, such as changes to COVID-19 testing and vaccination awareness and confidence and changes in testing and vaccination rates. Table VI.2 lists outputs and short-term outcomes used by programs in our review.

Focus	Program outputs	Program outcomes
COVID-19 testing	Measures of outreach	Population rates of testing
	Number of clinics and events	
	Number of appointments made	
	Number of tests ordered	
	Number of tests administered	
	Number of people tested	
	Geographic reach of services	
	Participant satisfaction	

### Exhibit VI.2. Metrics programs used to assess their effectiveness
Focus	Program outputs	Program outcomes	
COVID-19 vaccination	<ul> <li>Measures of outreach or education efforts</li> <li>Number of clinics and events</li> <li>Number of appointments made</li> <li>Number of vaccing doces administered</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Changes in knowledge about vaccination and willingness or intent to be vaccinated (vaccine confidence)</li> <li>Population rates of vaccination</li> </ul>	
Routine vaccination	<ul> <li>Number of vaccine doses administered</li> <li>Number of people vaccinated</li> <li>Geographic reach of services</li> <li>Participant satisfaction</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Population rates of vaccination, sometimes in relation to pre-pandemic rates</li> </ul>	

Note: Metrics in this table reflect only those that were used by the programs we reviewed. There are other possible metrics that we did not see in this targeted review such as changes in knowledge about or confidence in COVID-19 testing, or COVID-19 vaccinations metrics that distinguish between any dose, first dose, series completion, or boosters. Many metrics could be assessed overall and by race, ethnicity, age, and other demographic characteristics.

#### 1. Program outputs

Types of program outputs in our review were similar across COVID-19 testing, COVID-19 vaccination, and routine vaccination programs. Programs generally tracked outputs using data they collected as a part of their operations. They commonly disaggregated these outputs by demographic characteristics such as age and race.

**Programs focused on outreach and education assessed their reach using a variety of measures, depending on the type of outreach or education activity.** Examples include number of phone calls made (Deerin et al. 2022), text messages sent (Marquez et al. 2021a), doors knocked on (Relias Media 2022), radio advertisements aired (Long et al. 2021), and social media advertisements distributed (Singler et al. 2023). Some vaccine education campaigns tracked user engagement with and reactions to social media (Marcell et al. 2022; Singler et al. 2023). Programs also monitored the number of people attending educational events. For example, in one NIH-funded program, mental health therapists delivered a COVID-19 educational intervention to 254 clients from March to June 2021 (Venegas-Murillo et al. 2021).

## Programs delivering testing and vaccination services typically counted services and people served to characterize their activities, although some assessed geographic reach or participant satisfaction.

• Number of clinic sites or number of events held. Programs tracked the number of sites established or used, including at mass sites, health care setting-based clinics, venue-based clinics, and mobile units, as well as the number of testing and vaccination events they held at these sites (Dumproff et al. 2022; Hernandez et al. 2021). For example, a FQHC-administered program delivering COVID-19 testing to people experiencing homelessness offered testing in 37 Health Care for the Homeless (HCH) clinics across the nation (Berner et al. 2022). Because their goal was to serve many people in one location, mass testing and vaccination clinics tended to have fewer sites; for example, one mass testing program hosted two drive-through and six walk-up testing sites in Chicago (Kim et al. 2021). Testing and vaccination programs that characterized their services as events reported the number of events held, usually over a specific time frame (Faherty et al. 2022; DeGarmo et al. 2022; Berner et al. 2022; Evans et al. 2021). For example, a program run by the Los Angeles County Health Department in partnership with the University of California, Los Angeles held over 157 vaccination events for people experiencing homelessness in Los Angeles, as of August 2021 (Choi et al. 2022).

- Number of home test kits ordered and vaccine appointments made. Several at-home testing programs tracked the number of test kits distributed (Barrett et al. 2022; Singler et al. 2023). Vaccination programs tracked the number of appointments made (Osibanjo et al. 2022).
- Number of tests and vaccines delivered and number of persons receiving tests or vaccination. The most common program outputs tracked by COVID-19 testing programs were the number of tests they administered and the number of people they tested. For example, a mass testing site in West Virginia administered 98,846 tests between May and December of 2020 (Dumproff et al. 2022). A walk-up testing site in New Orleans tested 9,721 individuals over a 50-day period (Hernandez et al. 2021). Likewise, COVID-19 and routine vaccination programs tracked the number of individuals vaccinated and the number of vaccine doses administered. For example, a routine vaccination program in Boston delivered 146 vaccinations to 50 children through mobile clinics (Leibowitz et al. 2021). Many programs reported the demographics of people receiving services (Baker et al. 2021; Bigelow et al. 2021).
- Geographic reach of testing and vaccination services. Some programs described their geographic reach, including the number of counties they served (Baker et al. 2021; Brown et al. 2021; Dumproff et al. 2022) and distance traveled or census tract coverage among people receiving services (Chamie et al. 2022; Hernandez et al. 2021). Several sources in this review included maps to show programs' geographic reach (Brown et al. 2021; Hernandez et al. 2021). Likewise, one key informant at a local health department described regularly updating a map of intervention sites to show where vaccination mobile units had been deployed to deliver vaccines.
- Participant satisfaction. Programs assessed participants' satisfaction with testing and vaccination services to understand opportunities for improvement; this could be characterized as either an output or outcome. Several programs administered surveys to assess satisfaction with testing and vaccination services (Baker et al. 2021; Leibowitz et al. 2021; Marquez et al. 2021a; Sears et al. 2022; Whanger et al. 2022). For example, a mobile COVID-19 testing program asked families questions about the ease of scheduling appointments, convenience of the mobile vaccination unit, quality of care, and whether services were offered in a way that was easy to understand and met their cultural and language needs (Leibowitz et al. 2021). Despite the emphasis on community buy-in and engagement, few programs seemed to measure community satisfaction more broadly.

#### 2. Program outcomes

Program outcomes are changes in program participants' behavior, knowledge, skills, status (such as vaccination status), or level of functioning. Examples of short-term outcomes include changes in vaccine awareness, knowledge, or confidence and increased rates of testing and vaccination uptake at the community or population level. Long-term outcomes could include reduced COVID-19 transmission, morbidity, and mortality, although only one of the programs we reviewed assessed a long-term outcome (Hansotte et al. 2021).

Programs conducting vaccination outreach and education used surveys to measure changes in knowledge and attitudes. As a part of their evaluation efforts, several programs administered surveys to measure changes in program recipients' knowledge about vaccination and willingness to be vaccinated, before and after receiving the intervention (Sears et al. 2022; Venegas-Murillo et al. 2022). For example, a community-academic partnership that delivered a vaccine education webinar to Black churchgoers in the western U.S. documented a statistically significant increase in participants' willingness to be vaccinated after the webinar in comparison to before (Peteet et al. 2022). No testing programs in our review assessed changes in people's attitudes about testing, likely because we did not identify testing programs focused on education or outreach without a testing delivery component. A few other testing and vaccination

## Program spotlight: Increasing vaccination knowledge and self-efficacy among tribal communities in Arizona

A partnership between the University of Arizona and three tribal communities implemented a COVID-19 vaccination education campaign to increase vaccine knowledge and self-efficacy among tribal community members through outreach from trusted community members and culturally tailored printed materials. Comparisons of pre-test and post-test survey results indicated statistically significant changes in knowledge about how the COVID-19 vaccine works, possible side effects, and how to schedule vaccine appointments (Sears et al. 2022).

surveyed knowledge and attitudes at a single point in time, but they did so to understand barriers to services rather than program effectiveness (Chamie et al. 2022; Long et al. 2021).

## Program spotlight: Increasing testing among Latinx communities through culturally tailored promotion and outreach

The Oregon Saludable: Juntos Podemos (Healthy Oregon: Together We Can) program randomized communities to receive culturally tailored COVID-19 testing information, designed to increase trust and delivered by *promotoras*, versus outreach as usual. By comparing population-level rates of testing among Latinx people in treatment versus control counties, authors were able to show that the program increased testing among the Latinx community (Degarmo et al. 2022). Some assessed changes in rates of testing and vaccination at the community level. For example, several vaccination programs assessed vaccination rates using immunization registries or other surveillance data (Osibanjo et al. 2022; Marguez et al. 2021a; Public Health—Seattle and King County 2021). One routine vaccination program reported trends in children's sevenvaccine series relative to pre-pandemic trends, given the focus on addressing interruptions to routine vaccination schedules during COVID-19 (Deerin et al. 2022). Although less common than for the vaccination programs, several testing programs also measured community-level testing rates: one program compared rates between census tracts with walk-up versus drivethrough testing options (Hernandez et al. 2022); another program compared changes over time in population testing rates between counties receiving different kinds of testing outreach strategies (DeGarmo et al. 2022).

Other programs, including both outreach and service delivery programs, quantified differences in testing and vaccination rates between people receiving specific interventions and a control group. For example, several programs designed randomized controlled trials to compare culturally tailored outreach strategies for testing and vaccination services to standard strategies (Barrett et al. 2022; Berkley-Patton et al. 2022; Budhwani et al. 2022; Degarmo et al. 2022). Similarly, a key informant's academic institution compared outcomes for participants in testing events throughout the state to a control group. Outcomes of interest included adherence to recommended CDC guidelines, such as isolating when infection happened, masking, and vaccination status.

Testing and vaccination programs reported outcomes that were disaggregated by race, ethnicity, age, gender, and social factors (Beste et al. 2021; DeGarmo et al. 2022; Hansotte et al. 2021). This approach enabled programs to explicitly evaluate their impact on testing and vaccine inequities. For example, an article describing a community testing clinic, run by a county health department in partnership with CBOs, reported changes in countywide testing rates by race and ethnicity during the study period (Hansotte et al. 2021). Key informants from state and local health departments, as well as a national pharmacy retailer, likewise described using vaccine dashboards or other internal databases to assess vaccination data by race and ethnicity, or among certain groups such as people experiencing housing insecurity. A key informant from a federal agency also noted that its awardees were required to monitor vaccination coverage among demographic subgroups and communities with high social vulnerability (using the SVI).

## VII. Discussion

This environmental scan report has several strengths relative to the substantial literature on policies and programs intended to reduce remaining COVID-19 testing and vaccination disparities. Many published studies, including review or synthesis papers, focus on a single population group. Our literature search included programs focused on all populations that are medically or socially at disproportionate risk of COVID-19 or related adverse outcomes. We also reviewed programs implemented at the local, state, and federal level, focused on a range of outcomes for COVID-19 testing and vaccination and routine vaccination. In addition, we synthesized findings from peer-reviewed and gray literature and key informant interviews, which helps us mitigate publication bias and develop more holistic findings than other studies.

Because of the breadth of our focus and methods, we can identify patterns in barriers to services and cross-cutting themes in programs' approaches and strategies. Our analysis revealed that many barriers— and programs' efforts to help people overcome them—are not unique to testing or vaccination. These themes enabled us to create a taxonomy of program activities that aids understanding of what programs did and why. For example, both testing and vaccination programs sought to overcome access barriers by bringing services closer to people, and commonly worked with trusted messengers and community leaders to increase confidence in services. This taxonomy is based on sources we reviewed and is thus a work in progress; we expect to refine it in future phases of the project. Preliminarily, themes based on the sources we reviewed point to where information on promising practices might be most broadly useful. They also serve as a foundation for identifying less common and novel strategies, in both the sources we reviewed and in future research.

In the following discussion, we highlight themes in barriers to services and the strategies programs used to address resulting needs (Section VII.A). Next, we comment on programs' implementation experiences and attempts to assess their performance (Section VII.B). Finally, the breadth of this environmental scan makes it possible to point to gaps in the literature. We close with a discussion of opportunities for further research, including for the survey and site visits planned as part of this study (Section VII.C).

## A. Key findings across testing and vaccination programs

The COVID-19 testing and vaccination programs and routine vaccination programs that we reviewed worked to address similar barriers to service use. It is not surprising that programs with different foci addressed barriers such as lack of primary care access, lack of transportation, low income, and misinformation, given that these barriers are rooted in historic and structural inequities. For example, transportation barriers reflect economic inequality and maldistribution of public and private transportation resources. Misinformation is exacerbated by distrust of medical and public health systems among minoritized populations.

Some barriers were more common in the literature than expected: although distrust and low confidence are well known barriers to vaccination, they also posed barriers to COVID-19 testing. Distrust of medical and public health systems affected willingness to engage in testing as well as vaccination, necessitating trauma-informed approaches to service delivery (Neely et al. 2021). This finding is underscored by

multiple delivery strategies that testing programs used to increase trust, such as working with community partners, using trusted community messengers, and prioritizing patient dignity.

Most barriers to COVID-19 testing and vaccination and routine vaccination predated the pandemic, although the pandemic added complexity. Inequities in social conditions are longstanding and continue to drive observable differences in access and service use across multiple systems, including health care. But some access and other barriers arguably rose to a higher level of complexity during the COVID-19 pandemic. Supply chain disruptions and pandemic-related policies such as stay-at-home orders and early limits on vaccination eligibility inhibited both testing and vaccination for the same populations bearing the brunt of longstanding social inequities. Although there were many similar barriers across program foci, the scan revealed several barriers unique to testing. Fear of missing work for a positive test result was a new barrier that emerged with the pandemic, and was more significant for people with low-wage jobs. In addition, lack of Internet access may have posed a relatively severe barrier to testing, compounding other barriers, since internet access is generally required not only to make an appointment but also to check one's results.

Barriers to service use cluster and compound each other, resulting in multiple needs that are difficult for a single organization to address and helping to explain the prevalence of partnership strategies. As noted, social factors such as residential segregation, the inequitable allocation of social and health resources, concentrated poverty, over-representation in low-wage jobs and in the prison systems, and higher levels of chronic stress cluster together to create higher barriers to wellness for Black, Latinx, Indigenous, and other communities of color (Egede and Walker 2020; Pirtle 2020). This results in complex and multi-level needs among specific communities. Our finding that partnerships were common across programs we reviewed might reflect that partnerships are better suited than single organizations to address multiple needs. Although partnerships are a common strategy in other public health interventions, the COVID-19 pandemic seems to have expanded the range of partners working together. For example, the National Guard partnered with community organizations, although several programs noted that the National Guard's presence caused fear in some communities.

**Programs with all three study foci**—**COVID-19 testing and vaccination and routine vaccination developed similar approaches, or primary mechanisms, for service delivery to enhance access**. Programs sought to reduce travel burden on program recipients and to make services as convenient as possible. The most common approaches to delivering services were community clinics, followed by mobile clinics. COVID-19 vaccination and routine vaccination programs also commonly used stand-alone educational outreach approaches (without an accompanying service delivery component), although this approach was not used by testing programs in our review.

Likewise, programs used similar delivery strategies to enhance the effectiveness of their primary approaches and achieve desired outcomes. These strategies were frequently asset-based, leveraging existing community resources and relationships to meet multiple program goals. The most common delivery strategies across all programs were forming partnerships with community organizations and trusted leaders, using multiple channels to increase the reach of messaging, and developing populationspecific or culturally tailored messaging. Many programs also engaged multi-lingual staff and coordinated with other health care services. We also found some strategies unique to testing or vaccination programs among the programs we reviewed. Offering financial and other supports (such as food and hotel vouchers) for people testing positive was a strategy unique to COVID-19 testing programs. Offering financial incentives to get vaccinated was a strategy unique to COVID-19 vaccination programs in the programs we reviewed.

Routine vaccination programs drew on resources and strategies used for COVID-19 vaccinations to close gaps in routine vaccinations. However, only a few COVID-19 vaccination programs in the literature we reviewed coordinated their efforts with routine vaccination efforts. As COVID-19 vaccines become more routinized, bundling them with routine vaccinations may become a more prevalent strategy. However, given both low COVID-19 vaccination uptake among some population groups and declining rates of routine vaccinations, effective strategies might also need to take advantage of opportunities to bundle vaccines with other health or social services, not related to vaccination.

**The programs in this review helped people navigate barriers but did not address their root causes.** For example, offering extended hours does not address the labor conditions that prevent essential workers from taking time off to get a test or vaccine. Providing services in convenient locations helps people without access to transportation but does not address the inequitable distribution of wealth and resources that results in differential car ownership or residence in areas without public transportation. However, fixing structural issues is out of the scope and reach of testing and vaccination programs.

The approaches and strategies programs used to help people overcome barriers to COVID-19 services are likely to be relevant in the next public health crisis. Without additional structural interventions, the next pandemic is likely to result in similar inequities in testing and vaccination rates. Programs may find themselves using many of the same approaches and strategies they developed during the COVID-19 pandemic in future pandemics or public health crises. To lessen the burden on programs to help people overcome barriers in times of crisis, federal policies, such as the free testing and vaccination and stimulus payments authorized by the CARES Act, could help to ameliorate structural inequities if they were extended and expanded.

## **B.** Understanding programs' implementation experiences and performance

Testing and vaccination programs experienced similar implementation challenges, including resource limitations and logistical challenges. However, most of the sources we reviewed did not describe implementation challenges and strategies. Budget and funding constraints, limited staff, and shortages of tests and vaccines all posed barriers to programs' effectiveness, in addition to supplies of equipment like freezers. Logistical challenges varied somewhat by program focus, although patient tracking and information sharing were cited by both testing and vaccination programs. Programs worked to develop creative solutions to these challenges, making use of volunteers, donated supplies, partners' infrastructure, technical assistance, funding flexibilities, and other implementation strategies.

**Programs commonly tracked** *outputs* using data they collected as a part of their operations, such as the number of events they held and the number of tests and vaccines they administered. Relatively few programs assessed *outcomes*, such as changes in vaccine awareness, knowledge, or confidence among program participants or increased rates of testing and vaccination uptake at the community or population level. Outputs are helpful in specific ways. For example, they help programs quantify their reach and provide funders with information on how many people they were able to serve from different communities. Programs can also use outputs to understand how they can adjust implementation to reach

more or different people, especially if they pair outputs with qualitative information on implementation experience or with community feedback. We did not see specific examples of programs conducting this kind of holistic implementation evaluation in the literature we reviewed, likely because they did not have the capacity or funding to do that work.

Focusing on outputs alone, such as the number of people programs reach or the number of services they deliver, might not reveal the effectiveness of program approaches. For example, outputs might not reveal whether program approaches ultimately worked to reduce testing or vaccine disparities, how many people programs need to reach to make a difference in testing or vaccination rates for certain groups, or how well or how quickly certain approaches worked compared to alternatives. Ideally, to gain a full understanding of their effectiveness, programs would synthesize outputs and outcomes and seek to learn about the relationships between them. Doing so helps programs understand the connections between program design, implementation choices, and outcomes. This would increase learnings available to programs and the field more broadly but would require additional capacity and funding.

Outcomes that incorporate comparative information put programs on a better footing to understand their effectiveness and share practices that advance the field. Several sources in our review were able to use comparative outcome data, such as testing rates resulting from different program approaches, vaccination status compared to a baseline or control group, or vaccination and testing rates for different demographic groups. Other metrics that could help programs put their work in perspective include community test positivity, speed of vaccine coverage in a community, and maintenance of high routine vaccination rates for specific communities, all compared to baseline measures.

Other than a few programs that used satisfaction surveys, programs we reviewed did not report efforts to solicit community feedback. How communities perceive testing and vaccination programs should matter a great deal for any efforts to serve communities at disproportionate risk. There is evidence to suggest that engaging communities to design COVID-19 testing and vaccination approaches is more effective than top-down approaches (Gilmore et al. 2020; Bogdewic and Ramaswamy 2021). Likewise, engaging communities to request feedback and to help define effectiveness—that is, what works for them—might help programs define promising and best practices in community-specific ways (Center for Evaluation Innovation 2017).

## C. How these findings inform the survey and site visits for the study

This ASPE/OASH project is intended to develop and disseminate findings on promising and best practices for closing gaps in COVID-19 testing and vaccination and routine vaccinations and for reducing inequities in testing and vaccination in future pandemics. Ultimately, these practices could help to reduce the human and societal devastation of large-scale infectious disease outbreaks and the disproportionate impacts on those most at risk.

To achieve these goals, best practices must meet the needs of the communities they seek to serve and be feasible, replicable, and sustainable. They should help future programs select approaches and decide how to deliver and implement them, including how to overcome likely implementation challenges. They should also influence how federal and state agencies and private funders support local programs—for example, findings of this report suggest that flexibility in funding guidelines will help local programs adapt to changing conditions.

This environmental scan is only a first step in developing findings that will be useful to the field and to funders. Our findings point to the need for further research on the following topics.

- **Context and how it interacts with programs.** Future research could shed light on how federal, state, or tribal policy contexts intersect and matter for programs, and on best practices for programs working in specific contexts. New research could also focus on how programs have evolved, shifted, and adapted as context changes, and on how community characteristics such as resilience can improve service delivery.
- Information programs need to make choices. Most sources we reviewed for this environmental scan did not report implementation challenges or strategies for overcoming them. Programs need additional information on these topics to make design and implementation choices. Future research could also shed light on the kinds of information programs need to understand how to align programmatic options with community needs.
- Effectiveness. This report illuminates patterns in programs' approaches and strategies but cannot determine which are most effective, and the available information on outcomes is limited. More research is needed on the approaches and strategies that programs view as effective, and how they assess this. More importantly, future research should assess community views of what works well, and how programs take community views into account, if at all.

The project team will use the findings and unanswered questions from this environmental scan to shape a national survey of local organizations and site visits to states and tribal organizations. Guided by an expert panel of federal and nonfederal experts in COVID-19 testing and vaccination, the project will use these data sources and a theoretical framework to identify and disseminate best practices for reducing testing and vaccine inequities that support the efforts of local, state, tribal, and national organizations and public agencies at all levels. Synthesized findings from the environmental scan, national surveys, and site visits can help to inform efforts to strengthen capacity and preparedness for the next pandemic or public health crisis, as well as efforts to advance equity in health care, health, and wellbeing in the meantime.

## References

- Abdul-Mutakabbir, J.C., S. Casey, V. Jews, A. King, K. Simmons, M.D. Hogue, J.C. Belliard, et al. "A Three-Tiered Approach to Address Barriers to COVID-19 Vaccine Delivery in the Black Community." *Lancet Global Health*, vol. 9, no. 6, 2021, pp. e749–e750.
- Abdul-Mutakabbir, J.C., C. Granillo, B. Peteet, A. Dubov, S.B. Montgomery, J. Hutchinson, S. Casey, et al. "Rapid Implementation of a Community-Academic Partnership Model to Promote COVID-19 Vaccine Equity Within Racially and Ethnically Minoritized Communities." *Vaccines*, vol. 10, no. 8, 2022.
- Abdul-Mutakabbir, J.C., F. Tillman, J.R. Marcelin, I.M. Saunders, and V. Arya. "Slowed Progression: The Utility of Test to Treat Initiatives in Improving the Neglected Inequities of COVID-19 Among Racially/Ethnically Minoritized Groups." *Journal of the American Pharmacists Association*, vol. 63, no. 1, 2023, pp. 424–429. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1016/j.japh.2022.10.025</u>.
- Administration for Strategic Preparedness and Response (ASPR). "Fact Sheet: COVID-19 Test to Treat." n.d.a <u>https://aspr.hhs.gov/TestToTreat/Pages/fact-sheet-covid19-t2t.aspx</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- ASPR. "Get to know DRIVe." n.d.b <u>https://drive.hhs.gov/about.html</u>. Accessed April 2023.
- ASPR. "Test to Treat." March 2022. <u>https://aspr.hhs.gov/TestToTreat/Pages/default.aspx</u>. Accessed January 2023.
- Alcendor, D.J. "Targeting COVID Vaccine Hesitancy in Rural Communities in Tennessee: Implications for Extending the COVID-19 Pandemic in the South." *Vaccines*, vol. 9, no. 11, 2021.
- Alcendor, D.J., P.D. Juarez, P. Matthews-Juarez, S. Simon, C. Nash, K. Lewis, and D. Smoot. "Meharry Medical College Mobile Vaccination Program: Implications for Increasing COVID-19 Vaccine Uptake Among Minority Communities in Middle Tennessee." *Vaccines*, vol. 10, no. 2, 2022a.
- Alcendor, D.J., P. Matthews-Juarez, D. Smoot, J.E.K. Hildreth, M. Tabatabai, D. Wilus, K.Y. Brown, et al.
   "The COVID-19 Vaccine and Pregnant Minority Women in the Us: Implications for Improving Vaccine Confidence and Uptake." *Vaccines*, vol. 10, no. 12, 2022b.
- American Academy of Family Physicians. "Surveying the Effect of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Public Confidence in Vaccines and Vaccine Messengers: Lessons Learned and Challenges Ahead." October 2021. <u>https://www.aafp.org/dam/AAFP/documents/patient\_care/immunizations/vaccine-surveypandemic.pdf</u>. Accessed April 4, 2023.
- American's Health Insurance Plans. "Health Insurance Providers Commit to Help Millions of Seniors in Underserved Communities Receive COVID Vaccines." March 3, 2021. <u>https://www.ahip.org/news/press-releases/health-insurance-providers-commit-to-help-millions-of-</u> <u>seniors-in-underserved-communities-receive-covid-vaccines</u>. Accessed January 2023.
- American Rescue Plan Act of 2021. H.B. 1319. 117th Cong. 2021.

Anderson, L., T. File, J. Marshall, K. McElrath, and Z. Scherer. "New Tool Tracks Vaccination and Vaccine Hesitancy Rates Across Geographies, Population Groups." 2021. <u>https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2021/04/how-do-covid-19-vaccination-and-vaccinehesitancy-rates-vary-over-time.html</u>. Accessed March 20, 2023.

- Appa, A., G. Chamie, A. Sawyer, K. Baltzell, K. Dippell, S. Ribeiro, E. Duarte, et al. "SARS-CoV-2 PCR and Antibody Testing for an Entire Rural Community: Methods and Feasibility of High-Throughput Testing Procedures." *Archives of Public Health*, vol. 79, no. 1, 2021, pp. 125.
- Association of American Medical Colleges. "Vaccine Vans: Bringing COVID-19 Testing and Vaccination to an Underserved Community in Brooklyn." October 2022. <u>http://web.archive.org/web/20230321010907/https://www.aamc.org/resource-</u> <u>library/collaborative-student-volunteer-and-service-projects/vaccine-vans-bringing-covid-19-</u> <u>testing-and-vaccination-underserved-community-brooklyn</u>. Accessed April 11, 2023.
- Association of Public Health Laboratories (APHL). "About COVID-19 Testing." (n.d.). <u>https://www.aphl.org/programs/preparedness/Crisis-Management/COVID-19-</u> <u>Response/Pages/About.aspx</u>. Accessed March 16. 2023.
- Atrium Health. "Atrium Health Expands Access to COVID-19 Testing in Underserved and Minority Communities." April 2020. <u>https://atriumhealth.org/about-us/newsroom/news/2020/04/atriumhealth-expands-access-to-covid19-testing-in-underserved-and-minority-communities</u>. Accessed January 2023.
- AuYoung, M., P. Rodriguez Espinosa, W.T. Chen, P. Juturu, M. T. Young, A. Casillas, P. Adkins-Jackson, et al. "Addressing Racial/Ethnic Inequities in Vaccine Hesitancy and Uptake: Lessons Learned from the California Alliance against COVID-19." *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 2022, pp. 1–14.
- Baillargeon, J., E. Polychronopoulou, Y.F. Kuo, M.A. Raji. "The Impact of Substance Use Disorder on COVID-19 Outcomes." *Psychiatr Serv.* vol. 72, no.5, 2021, pp. 578-58.
- Baker, D.R., K. Cadet, and S. Mani. "COVID-19 Testing and Social Determinants of Health Among Disadvantaged Baltimore Neighborhoods: A Community Mobile Health Clinic Outreach Model." *Population Health Management*, vol. 24, no. 6, 2021, pp. 657–663.
- Barrett, E.S., T.R. Andrews, J. Roy, P. Greenberg, J.M. Ferrante, D.B. Horton, M. Gordon, et al.
  "Community- Versus Health Care Organization-Based Approaches to Expanding at-Home COVID-19 Testing in Black and Latino Communities, New Jersey, 2021." *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 112, 2022, pp. s918–s922.
- Barry, K., M. McCarthy, G. Melikian, V. Almeida-Monroe, M. Leonard, and A.S. De Groot. "Responding to COVID-19 in an Uninsured Hispanic/Latino Community: Testing, Education and Telehealth at a Free Clinic in Providence." *Rhode Island Medical Journal*, vol. 103, no. 9, 2020, pp. 41–46.
- Barry, V., S. Dasgupta, D.L. Weller, J.L. Kriss, B.L. Cadwell, C. Rose, C. Pingali, et al. "Patterns in COVID-19 Vaccination Coverage, by Social Vulnerability and Urbanicity United States, December 14, 2020–May 1, 2021." *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, vol. 70, no. 22, 2021, pp. 818–824.
- Bennett, S. "American Indians have the highest Covid vaccination rate in the US." 2021. <u>https://www.pbs.org/wgbh/nova/article/native-americans-highest-covid-vaccination-rate-us/</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- Berkley-Patton, J., C.B. Thompson, T. Templeton, T. Burgin, K. P. Derose, E. Williams, F. Thompson, et al.
   "COVID-19 Testing in African American Churches Using a Faith-Health-Academic Partnership."
   American Journal of Public Health, vol. 112, 2022, pp. S887–s891.

- Berner, L., A. Meehan, J. Kenkel, M. Montgomery, V. Fields, A. Henry, A. Boyer, et al. "Clinic- and Community-Based SARS-CoV-2 Testing Among People Experiencing Homelessness in the United States, March-November 2020." *Public Health Reports*, vol. 137, no. 4, 2022, pp. 764–773.
- Beste, L.A., A. Chen, J. Geyer, M. Wilson, L. Schuttner, C. Wheat, J. Rojas, et al. "Best Practices for an Equitable COVID-19 Vaccination Program." *NEJM Catalyst*, vol. 2, no. 10, 2021.
- Bigelow, B.F., R.E. Saxton, A. Flores-Miller, H.H. Mostafa, M.J. Loss, K.H. Phillips, A.M. Moore, et al.
   "Community Testing and SARS-CoV-2 Rates for Latinxs in Baltimore." *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, vol. 60, no. 6, 2021, pp. e281–e286.
- Bigelow, B.F., R.E. Saxton, D.A. Martínez, A. Flores-Miller, J.M. Shin, C. Parent, S. Williams, et al. "High Uptake and Series Completion of COVID-19 Vaccine at Community-Based Vaccination for Latinos with Limited English Proficiency." *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, vol. 28, no. 6, 2022, pp. E789–E794.
- Bogdewic, S., R. Ramaswamy. "Developing Complexity-Informed COVID-19 Responses to Optimize Community Well-Being: A Systems Thinking Approach." *Systems*, vol. 9, no. 68, 2021.
- Boyd, A. D., and D. Buchwald. "Factors That Influence Risk Perceptions and Successful COVID-19 Vaccination Communication Campaigns with American Indians" *Science Communication*, vol. 44, no. 1, 2022, pp. 130–139.
- Braveman, P. A., E. Arkin, D. Proctor, T. Kauh, and N. Holm. "Systemic And Structural Racism: Definitions, Examples, Health Damages, And Approaches To Dismantling: Study examines definitions, examples, health damages, and dismantling systemic and structural racism." *Health Affairs*, vol. 41, num. 2, 2022, pp. 171-178.
- Brown, L., V. Billings, W. Pilkington, and D. Kumar. "Facilitating COVID-19 Testing in Historically Marginalized Populations by Leveraging Community Partnerships." *North Carolina Medical Journal*, vol. 82, no. 4, 2021, pp. 301.
- Brown-DeVeaux, D.V., B.R. Richards, S. Gilles, and J. Johnson. "The Impact of African-American Nurses: How the Implementation of a Community-Based Model Increased Vaccination Rates in Marginalized Communities in NYC." *Journal of National Black Nurses Association*, vol. 32, no. 2, 2021, pp. 23–27.
- Budhwani, H., A.C. Maragh-Bass, E.E. Tolley, M.L.G. Comello, M.C.D. Stoner, M. Adams Larsen, D.
   Brambilla, et al. "Tough Talks COVID-19 Digital Health Intervention for Vaccine Hesitancy Among Black Young Adults: Protocol for Hybrid Type 1 Effectiveness Implementation Randomized Controlled Trial." *JMIR Research Protocols*, 2023.
- Burki, T. "Increasing COVID-19 vaccine uptake in Black Americans." The Lancet, vol. 21, 2021, pp.1500-1501.
- Buro, A.W., K. Roman Candelaria, R. Bailey, F. Luna, A. Albizu-Jacob, M. Stern, and L. Redwine.
   "Exploration of Multilevel Barriers and Strategies That Affected Early COVID-19 Vaccination and Testing in Rural Latino Communities in Southwest Florida." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol. 19, no. 18, 2022. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.3390/ijerph191811785</u>.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). "Seasonal Influenza (Flu) Vaccination and Preventable Disease." 2016. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/vpd/flu/index.html</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.

- CDC. "Equity in Adult Vaccination." 2020a. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/health-equity/index.html</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- CDC. "Evaluating and Reporting Persons Under Investigation (PUI)." 2020b. https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/85453. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- CDC. "Evaluating and Testing Persons for Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)." 2020c. https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/85933. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- CDC. "Overview of Testing for SARS-CoV-2." 2020d. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20200614014804/https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-</u> <u>ncov/hcp/testing-overview.html</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- CDC. "Risk of Exposure to COVID-19." 2020e. <u>http://web.archive.org/web/20230605045026/https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-</u> <u>ncov/community/health-equity/racial-ethnic-disparities/increased-risk-exposure.html</u>. Accessed August 18, 2023.
- CDC. "CDC Announces \$2.25 Billion to Address COVID-19 Health Disparities in Communities that are at High-Risk and Underserved." 2021a. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2021/p0317-COVID-19-Health-Disparities.html</u>. Accessed January 2023.
- CDC. "CDC Crisis Response Cooperative Agreement: COVID-19 Public Health Workforce Supplemental Funding Guidance." 2021b. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/orr/readiness/00\_docs/cdc\_crisis\_response\_covid\_19\_funding\_ph\_workforce\_guidance\_may\_2021.pdf</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- CDC. "CDC Expands Eligibility for COVID-19 Booster Shots." 2021c. https://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2021/p1021-covid-booster.html. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- CDC. "CDC-RFA-OT21-2103. National Initiative to Address COVID-19 Health Disparities Among Populations at High-Risk and Underserved, Including Racial and Ethnic Minority Populations and Rural Communities Department of Health and Human Services." 2021d. <u>https://www.grants.gov/web/grants/view-opportunity.html?oppId=332034</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- CDC. "COVID-19 Vaccination Supplemental Funding: Funding for the Implementation and Expansion of the COVID-19 Vaccination Program." 2021e. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/covid-19/downloads/vaccination-supplemental-funding.pdf</u>. Accessed April 11, 2023.
- CDC. "COVID-19 Vaccination Supplement 4 (April 2021)." 2021f. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/covid-19/downloads/COVID-19-Vaccination-Supplemental-4-Guidance.pdf</u>. Accessed April 11, 2023.
- CDC. "Interim Public Health Recommendations for Fully Vaccinated People." 2021g. https://web.archive.org/web/20210730122824/https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019ncov/vaccines/fully-vaccinated-guidance.html#previous. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- CDC. "Overview of Testing for SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19)." 2021h. <u>http://web.archive.org/web/20210603042942/https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/testing-overview.html</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.

- CDC. "CDC COVID-19 Response Health Equity Strategy: Accelerating Progress Towards Reducing COVID-19 Disparities and Achieving Health Equity." 2022a. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-</u> ncov/community/health-equity/cdc-strategy.html. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- CDC. "COVID-19 by County." 2022b. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/your-health/covid-by-county.html</u>. Accessed March 16. 2023.
- CDC. "COVID-19 Testing: What You Need to Know." 2022c. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/symptoms-testing/testing.html</u>. Accessed August 18, 2023.
- CDC. "FAQ: COVID-19 Data and Surveillance." 2022d. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/faq-surveillance.html</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- CDC. "Operation Expanded Testing." 2022e. <u>https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/119671</u>. Accessed August 18, 2023.
- CDC. "Overview of COVID-19 Vaccines." 2022f. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-</u> <u>ncov/vaccines/different-vaccines/overview-COVID-19-vaccines.html#janssen-when-to-consider</u>. Accessed March 17, 2023.
- CDC. "Overview of Testing for SARS-CoV-2, the Virus That Causes COVID-19." 2022g. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/testing-overview.html. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- CDC. "Risk of COVID-19-Related Mortality." 2022h. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/science/data-review/risk.html</u>. Accessed March 20, 2023.
- CDC. "Science Brief: Indicators for Monitoring COVID-19 Community Levels and Making Public Health Recommendations." 2022i. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/science/science-briefs/indicators-monitoring-community-levels.html</u>. Accessed May 2, 2023.
- CDC. "State of Vaccine Confidence Insights Report: Routine Immunizations on the Schedule for Everyone." 2022j. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/covid-19/downloads/SoVC-RISE-report-11-17-22.pdf</u>. Accessed April 4, 2023.
- CDC. "Testing Strategies for SARS-CoV-2." 2022k. <u>http://web.archive.org/web/20230316154916/https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/lab/resources/sars-cov2-testing-strategies.html</u>. Accessed August 18, 2023.
- CDC. "12 COVID-19 Vaccination Strategies for Your Community." 2022I. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/covid-19/vaccinate-with-confidence/community.html</u>. Accessed January 2023.
- CDC. "CDC Museum COVID-19 Timeline." 2023a. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/museum/timeline/covid19.html</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- CDC. "Flu Vaccination Coverage Update." 2023b. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/flu/spotlights/2022-2023/flu-vaccine-update.htm</u>. Accessed April 11, 2023.
- CDC. "Health Equity." 2023c. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/health-equity/index.html</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023
- CDC. "Risk for COVID-19 Infection, Hospitalization, and Death By Age Group." 2023d. <u>http://web.archive.org/web/20230320071643/https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/investigations-discovery/hospitalization-death-by-age.html</u>. Accessed August 18, 2023.

- CDC. "Stay Up to Date with COVID-19 Vaccines Including Boosters." 2023e. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/vaccines/stay-up-to-date.html</u>. Accessed March 17, 2023.
- CDC. "Underlying Medical Conditions Associated with Higher Risk for Severe COVID-19: Information for Healthcare Professionals." 2023f. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/clinical-</u> <u>care/underlyingconditions.html</u>. Accessed March 20, 2023.
- CDC. "National Initiative to Address COVID-19 Health Disparities Among Populations at High-Risk and Underserved, Including Racial and Ethnic Minority Populations and Rural Communities." 2023g. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/publichealthgateway/partnerships/COVID-19-Health-Disparities-OT21-</u> 2103.html. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- CDC. "The Federal Retail Pharmacy Program for COVID-19 Vaccination." 2023h. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/covid-19/retail-pharmacy-program/index.html</u>. Accessed April 11, 2023.
- Centene Corporation. "Understanding Why Underserved Populations are Disproportionately Impacted by COVID-19." June 15, 2020. <u>https://www.centene.com/news/underserved-populations-</u> <u>disproportionately-impacted-by-covid-19.html</u>. Accessed August 18, 2023.
- Center for Evaluation Innovation, Institute for Foundation and Donor Learning, Dorothy A Johnson Center for Philanthropy, Luminare Group. "Equitable Evaluation Framework (EEF) Framing Paper." Equitable Evaluation Initiative, July 2017. <u>www.equitableeval.org</u>. Accessed May 1, 2023.
- Chamie, G., P. Prado, Y. Oviedo, T. Vizcaíno, C. Arechiga, K. Marson, O. Carrera, et al. "Reproducibility and Implementation of a Rapid, Community-Based COVID-19 'Test and Respond' Model in Low-Income, Majority-Latino Communities in Northern California." *PloS One*, vol. 17, no. 10, 2022, pp. e0276257.
- Chidambaram, P., R., Garfield. "COVID-19 Cases and Deaths in Long-Term Care Facilities through June 2021" 2021. <u>https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-covid-19/issue-brief/covid-19-cases-and-deaths-in-long-term-care-facilities-through-june-2021/</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- Chidavaenzi, N.Z., N. Agathis, Y. Lees, H. Stevens, J. Clark, D. Reede, A. Kunkel, et al. "Implementation of a COVID-19 Screening Testing Program in a Rural, Tribal Nation: Experience of the San Carlos Apache Tribe, January–February 2021." *Public Health Reports*, vol. 137, no. 2, 2022, pp. 220–225. =
- Choi, K., R. Romero, P. Guha, G. Sixx, A. D. Rosen, A. Frederes, J. Beltran, et al. "Community Health Worker Perspectives on Engaging Unhoused Peer Ambassadors for COVID-19 Vaccine Outreach in Homeless Encampments and Shelters." *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, vol. 37, no. 8, 2022, pp. 2026–2032.
- CMS. "Biden-Harris Administration Requires Insurance Companies and Group Health Plans to Cover the Cost of At-Home COVID-19 Tests, Increasing Access to Free Tests." 2022a. <u>https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/press-releases/biden-harris-administration-requires-insurancecompanies-and-group-health-plans-cover-cost-home</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- CMS. "A Guide to Using the Accountable Health Communities Health-Related Social Needs Screening Tool: Promising Practices and Insights." 2022b. <u>https://innovation.cms.gov/media/document/ahcm-screeningtool-companion</u>. Accessed May 8, 2023.

- Collins, F. "Learning to Protect Communities with COVID-19 Home Testing Programs." 2021. <u>https://directorsblog.nih.gov/2021/10/07/learning-to-protect-communities-with-covid-19-home-testing-programs/</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- Corneli, A., K. McKenna, C. Dombeck, N. Molokwu, J. Taylor, L. Vergara, D. K. Benjamin, Jr., et al.
   "Caregivers of Black and Latino/a/X Students and School Personnel Perspectives on School-Based
   SARS-CoV-2 Testing: Implications for Testing and Test-to-Stay Programs In k-12 Schools." *Journal of School Health*, 2022.
- Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act. H.R. 748. 116th Cong. 2020.
- Crane, J.T., R. Fabi, D. Pacia, C. P. Neuhaus, and N. Berlinger. "'We're Here to Take Care of Our Community': Lessons Learned from the U.S. Federal Health Center COVID-19 Vaccine Program." *Health Promotion Practice*, 2023.
- Crist, C. "CDC: Fully Vaccinated Can Skip Routine COVID Testing." 2021. <u>http://web.archive.org/web/20221130005921/https://www.webmd.com/vaccines/covid-19-vaccine/news/20210604/cdc-says-fully-vaccinated-can-skip-routine-covid-testing</u>. Accessed August 18, 2023.
- Coones, S. "Prominent Pastor, Scientists, Researchers Seek to Ease Vaccine Fears in Minority Populations." *IRB Advisor*, vol. 21, no. 3, 2021, pp. 1–5.
- Cuadros, D.F., A.J. Branscum, Z. Mukandavire, F.D. Miller, and N. MacKinnon. "Dynamics of the COVID-19 Epidemic in Urban and Rural Areas in the United States." *Annals of Epidemiology*, vol. 59, 2021, pp. 16–20.
- Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security Agency (CISA). "Guidance on essential critical infrastructure workers: version 4.0." 2020. <u>https://www.cisa.gov/publication/guidance-essential-critical-infrastructure-workforce</u>. Accessed May 2, 2023.
- Davis, T., J. Singh, J. G. Lance, L. Latiolais, C. Kevil, J. Bodily, M. Sapp, et al. "COVID-19 Community Testing in Rural Areas: A Partnership between an Academic Medical Center and Community Clinics." *Journal of Community Medicine & Health Education*, vol. 10, no. 4, 2020.
- Deerin, J.F., A.A. Gyekye-Kusi, J. Doss-Walker, H. Bablak, and D. Kim. "Evaluation of 'Catch up to Get Ahead' Efforts on Administration of Routine Childhood Vaccinations During COVID-19 Pandemic, United States Indian Health Service, 2020." *Journal of Public Health Policy*, vol. 43, no. 4, 2022, pp. 613–620.
- DeGarmo, D.S., S. De Anda, C.C. Cioffi, H.F. Tavalire, J.A. Searcy, E.L. Budd, E. Hawley McWhirter, et al. "Effectiveness of a COVID-19 Testing Outreach Intervention for Latinx Communities: A Cluster Randomized Trial." *JAMA Network Open*, vol. 5, no. 6, 2022.
- Demeke, J., S.M. McFadden, D. Dada, J.N. Djiometio, D. Vlahov, L. Wilton, M. Wang, et al. "Strategies That Promote Equity in COVID-19 Vaccine Uptake for Undocumented Immigrants: A Review." *Journal of Community Health*, vol. 47, no. 3, 2022a, pp. 554–562.
- Demeke, J., S.R. Ramos, S.M. McFadden, D. Dada, J. Nguemo Djiometio, D. Vlahov, L. Wilton, et al. "Strategies That Promote Equity in COVID-19 Vaccine Uptake for Latinx Communities: A Review." *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 2022b, pp. 1–9.

- DeSalvo, K., B. Hughes, M. Bassett, G. Benjamin, M. Fraser, S. Galea, and J.N. Gracia. "Public Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs." NAM Perspectives. April 2021.
- Dooling, K., M. Marin, M. Wallace, N. McClung, M. Chamberland, G.M. Lee, H.K. Talbot, et al. "The Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices' Updated Interim Recommendation for Allocation of COVID-19 Vaccine — United States, December 2020." *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, vol. 69, 2021, pp. 1657–1660.
- Dumproff, J.B., J. Bishara, N. Copeland, and T. Fredricks. "Integrating U.S. National Guard with Public Health Partners at COVID-19 Testing Sites in West Virginia Counties with High Rural and Minority Populations: Lessons Learned." *Health Security*, vol. 20, no. 1, 2022, pp. 58–64.
- Egede, L.E., and R.J. Walker. "Structural racism, social risk factors, and Covid-19—a dangerous convergence for Black Americans." *New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 383, no. 12, 2020, pp. e77.
- Evans, A., J. Webster, and G. Flores. "Partnering with the Faith-Based Community to Address Disparities in COVID-19 Vaccination Rates and Outcomes Among Us Black and Latino Populations." JAMA, vol. 326, no. 7, 2021, pp. 609–610.
- Faherty, L.J., J.S. Ringel, M.V. Williams, A.M. Kranz, L. Perez, L.B. Schulson, A.D. Gittens, et al. "The U.S. Equity-First Vaccination Initiative: Early Insights." Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation, 2021.
- Faherty, L.J., J.S. Ringel, A.M. Kranz, L. Baker, B. Phillips, M.V. Williams, L. Perez, et al. "Putting Equity First in COVID-19 Vaccination." Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation, 2022.
- Falope, O., M.K. Nyaku, C. O'Rourke, L. V. Hermany, B. Plavchak, J. Mauskopf, L. Hartley, and M.E. Kruk. "Resilience Learning from the COVID-19 Pandemic and Its Relevance for Routine Immunization Programs." *Expert Review of Vaccines*, vol. 22, no. 11.
- Feagin J.R., Ducey K. Racist America. Routledge, 2018.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency. "FEMA Funds Community Engagement for COVID-19 Vaccinations." May 2021. <u>https://www.fema.gov/fact-sheet/fema-funds-community-engagement-covid-19-vaccinations</u>. Accessed August 18, 2023.
- Feifer, Richard A., LaShuan Bethea, and Elizabeth M. White. "Racial Disparities in COVID-19 Vaccine Acceptance: Building Trust to Protect Nursing Home Staff and Residents." *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, vol. 22, no. 9, 2021, pp. 1853–1853.
- Feuer, W. "CDC Reverses Controversial Coronavirus Guidance That Said People Without Symptoms May Not Need a Test." 2020. <u>https://www.cnbc.com/2020/09/18/cdc-reverses-coronavirus-guidance-that-said-people-without-symptoms-may-not-need-a-test.html</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- Food and Drug Administration (FDA). "Screening for COVID-19: Deciding Which Test to Use When Establishing Testing Programs." n.d.(a). <u>https://www.fda.gov/media/146666/download</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- FDA. "COVID-19 Test Basics." n.d.(b). <u>https://www.fda.gov/consumers/consumer-updates/covid-19-test-basics</u>. Accessed March 16. 2023.
- FDA. "COVID-19 Vaccines." n.d.(c). <u>https://www.fda.gov/emergency-preparedness-and-response/coronavirus-disease-2019-covid-19/covid-19-vaccines#authorized-vaccines</u>. Accessed March 17, 2023.

- FDA. "Coronavirus (COVID-19) Update: FDA Issues New Policy to Help Expedite Availability of Diagnostics." 2020. <u>https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/coronavirus-covid-19-update-fda-issues-new-policy-help-expedite-availability-diagnostics</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- FDA. "FDA Authorizes Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine for Emergency Use in Children 5 Through 11 Years of Age." 2021. <u>https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-authorizes-pfizer-biontech-covid-19-vaccine-emergency-use-children-5-through-11-years-age</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- FDA. "At-Home COVID-19 Antigen Tests-Take Steps to Reduce Your Risk of False Negative Results: FDA Safety Communication." 2022a. <u>https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/safety-</u> <u>communications/home-covid-19-antigen-tests-take-steps-reduce-your-risk-false-negative-results-</u> <u>fda-safety</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- FDA. "Coronavirus (COVID-19) Update: FDA Authorizes Moderna and Pfizer-BioNTech Bivalent COVID-19 Vaccines for Use as a Booster Dose in Younger Age Groups." 2022b. <u>https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/coronavirus-covid-19-update-fda-authorizes-moderna-and-pfizer-biontech-bivalent-covid-19-vaccines</u> Accessed March 16, 2023.
- FDA. "Coronavirus (COVID-19) Update: FDA Authorizes Moderna and Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccines for Children Down to 6 Months of Age." 2022c. <u>Coronavirus (COVID-19) Update: FDA</u> <u>Authorizes Moderna and Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccines for Children Down to 6 Months of Age</u> <u>| FDA</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- FDA. "Coronavirus (COVID-19) Update: FDA Expands Eligibility for Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine Booster Dose to Children 5 Through 11 Years." 2022d. <u>https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/coronavirus-covid-19-update-fda-expands-eligibility-pfizer-biontech-covid-19-vaccine-booster-dose</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- FDA. "Coronavirus (COVID-19) Update: FDA Authorizes Bivalent Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine as Booster Dose for Certain Children 6 Months Through 4 Years of Age." 2023. <u>https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/coronavirus-covid-19-update-fda-authorizes-bivalent-pfizer-biontech-covid-19-vaccine-booster-dose</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- Gaffney, A., S. Woolhandler, and D.U. Himmelstein. "COVID-19 Testing and Incidence Among Uninsured and Insured Individuals in 2020: a National Study." *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, vol. 37, no. 5, 2022, pp. 1344–1347.
- Gillwald, K., S.H. Lee, A. Paegle, P. Mead, T. Acker, N.B. Roberts, and A.C. Dunn. "Rapid COVID-19 Testing and on-Site Case Investigation and Contact Tracing in an Underresourced Area of Salt Lake City, Utah, December 2020-April 2021." *Public Health Reports*, vol. 137, no. 2, 2022, pp. 56s–60s.
- Gleason, J., W., Ross, A., Fossi, H., Blonsky, J., Tobias, M., Stephens. "The Devastating Impact of Covid-19 on Individuals with Intellectual Disabilities in the United States." NEJM Catalyst, vol. 2, no. 2, 2021.
- Goldberg, S.A., R.A. Bonacci, L.C. Carlson, C.T. Pu, and C.S. Ritchie. "Home-Based Testing for SARS-CoV-2: Leveraging Prehospital Resources for Vulnerable Populations." *Western Journal of Emergency Medicine: Integrating Emergency Care with Population Health*, vol. 21, no. 4, 2020, pp. 813–816.
- Gregory, N. "COVID-19 Vaccines in Tribal Communities Save Lives, Preserve Culture." *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, vol. 78, no. 10, 2021, pp. 835–839.

- Gilmore, B., R., Ndejjo, A., Tchetchia, V., de Claro, E. Mago, A. Diallo, et al. "Community engagement for COVID-19 prevention and control: a rapid evidence synthesis." *BMJ Global Health*, vol. 5, 2020, pp. e003188.
- Gonzales, A., E.C. Lee, V. Grigorescu, S.R. Smith, N. de Lew, and B.D. Sommers. "Overview of Barriers and Facilitators in COVID-19 Vaccine Outreach." Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, Office of Health Policy, 2021. <u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/reports/covid-19-vaccine-outreach</u>. Accessed April 14, 2023.
- Gumbrecht, J., J. Howard, M. Fox, and J. Bonifield. "CDC Recommends COVID-19 Boosters for All Adults." *CNN*, 2021. <u>https://www.cnn.com/2021/11/19/health/covid-vaccine-boosters-fda-cdc/index.html</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- Gupta, P.S., A.M. Mohareb, C. Valdes, C. Price, M. Jollife, C. Regis, N. Munshi, et al. "Mobile Health Services for COVID-19: Counseling, Testing, and Vaccination for Medically Underserved Populations." *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 112, no. 11, 2022, pp. 1556–1559.
- Guzman, J. "CDC: People Exposed to Coronavirus but Have No Symptoms May Not Need to Be Tested." 2020. <u>https://thehill.com/changing-america/well-being/prevention-cures/513710-cdc-people-exposed-to-coronavirus-but-have-no/</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- Hacker, K., J. Auerbach, R. Ikeda, C. Philip, and D. Houry. "CDC'S Approach to Social Determinants of Health." 2022. <u>https://jphmpdirect.com/2022/10/07/cdcs-approach-to-social-determinants-of-health/?utm\_source=BHPN+Website+Newsletter+List&utm\_campaign=c46a03e0a4-</u> <u>EMAIL\_CAMPAIGN\_2019\_12\_19\_07\_21\_COPY\_01&utm\_medium=email&utm\_term=0\_c39fafc581-c46a03e0a4-356406371</u>. Accessed March 20, 2023.
- Hansotte, E., E. Bowman, P.J. Gibson, B. E. Dixon, V.R. Madden, and V.A. Caine. "Supporting Health Equity through Data-Driven Decision-Making: A Local Health Department Response to COVID-19." *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 111, 2021, pp. S197–S200.
- Haroun, A., and H. Brueck. "The CDC Quietly Changed Its Guidance to Say Even Vaccinated People Should Get Tested If They've Been Exposed to COVID-19." 2021. <u>https://news.yahoo.com/cdcquietly-changed-guidance-even-</u> 182418244 html?guccounter=18.gucc. referrer=2HP0cHM6Iv02d2cuVmluZvEib20v8.gucc. referrer

<u>183418244.html?guccounter=1&guce\_referrer=aHR0cHM6Ly93d3cuYmluZy5jb20v&guce\_referrer\_s</u> <u>ig=AQAAANQVEIXrSkCEWhaGp-B4cs71XSTxO2B6mmUMNCMCzup3cXO4zfigvs-A27O74kuTFT-</u> <u>VMpjSIqFPCXrV9iZqhXEKSIKQNWDa\_pc9BChBTyJGJ-3jre8sYz4J1xCREBw1frqI5URhfi75ZI-</u> <u>CLZXzcDPQLqL80kreiliZscaCoQkw</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.

- Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health. "NIH Funding to Help Researchers Scale Up COVID-19 Testing in Underserved Communities." October 7, 2020. <u>https://www.hsph.harvard.edu/news/features/nih-funding-to-help-researchers-scale-up-covid-19-testing-in-underserved-communities/</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- Hill, H.A., M. Chen, L.D. Elam-Evans, D. Yankey, J. A. Singleton. "Vaccination Coverage by Age 24 Months Among Children Born During 2018–2019 — National Immunization Survey–Child, United States, 2019–2021." Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, vol. 72, no.2, 2023, pp.33-38.
- Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA). "Rural Tribal COVID-19 Response Program." April 2020. <u>https://www.hrsa.gov/grants/find-funding/HRSA-20-135#:~:text=What%20is%20the%20program%3F,disease%20(COVID%2D19)</u>. Accessed January 2023.

- HRSA. "COVID-19 Coverage Assistance Fund." March 2021. <u>https://www.hrsa.gov/provider-relief/about/covid-19-coverage-assistance</u>. Accessed January 2023.
- HRSA. "Community-Based Outreach to Build COVID-19 Vaccine Confidence." 2022a. https://www.hrsa.gov/coronavirus/community-based-outreach. Accessed March 17, 2023.
- HRSA. "COVID-19 Claims Reimbursement to Health Care Providers and Facilities for Testing, Treatment, and Vaccine Administration for the Uninsured." 2022b. <u>https://www.hrsa.gov/providerrelief/about/covid-uninsuredclaim#:~:text=Health%20care%20providers%20who%20have,rates%2C%20subject%20to%20availabl e%20funding. Accessed January 2023.</u>
- HRSA. "Ensuring Equity in COVID-19 Vaccine Distribution." 2022c. <u>https://www.hrsa.gov/coronavirus/health-center-program</u>. Accessed March 17, 2023.
- HRSA. "Rural Health Clinic (RHC) COVID-19 Programs." 2022d. https://www.hrsa.gov/sites/default/files/hrsa/coronavirus/rhc-covid-program-activitiesinfographic.pdf. Accessed March 17, 2023.
- HRSA. "Rural Health Clinic COVID-19 Testing and Mitigation (RHCCTM) Program." 2022e. https://www.hrsa.gov/coronavirus/rural-health-clinics/testing. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- HRSA. "Rural Health Clinic Vaccine Confidence (RHCVC) Program." February 2022f. https://www.hrsa.gov/coronavirus/rural-health-clinics/confidence. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- HRSA. "Rural Health Clinic COVID-19 Vaccine Distribution (RHCVD) Program." February 2022g. https://www.hrsa.gov/coronavirus/rural-health-clinics/distribution. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- HRSA. "Expanding Access to COVID-19 Testing Supplies." 2023. https://www.hrsa.gov/coronavirus/testing-supplies. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- Hernandez, J.H., D. Karletsos, J. Avegno, and C.H. Reed. "Is COVID-19 Community Level Testing Effective in Reaching At-Risk Populations? Evidence from Spatial Analysis of New Orleans Patient Data at Walk-up Sites." *BMC Public Health*, vol. 21, no. 1, 2021, pp. 632. https://doi.org/doi:10.1186/s12889-021-10717-9.
- Illinois Department of Public Health. "IDPH Announces Distribution of 1 Million Free COVID-19 Rapid Tests for Vulnerable Illinoisans." November 2022. <u>https://dph.illinois.gov/resource-</u> <u>center/news/2022/november/idph-announces-distribution-of-1-million-free-covid-19-rapid-</u> tes.html. Accessed January 2023.
- Isasi, F., M.D. Naylor, D. Skorton, D.C. Grabowski, S. Hernandez, and V.M Rice. "Patients, Families, and Communities COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs." NAM Perspectives, vol. 2021, November 2021. https://doi.org/doi:10.31478/202111c
- Islam, S.J., A. Nayak, Y. Hu, A. Mehta, K. Dieppa, Z. Almuwaqqat, Y. Ko, et al. "Temporal Trends in the Association of Social Vulnerability and Race/Ethnicity with County-Level COVID-19 Incidence and Outcomes in the USA: An Ecological Analysis." *BMJ Open*, vol. 11, 2021, p. e048086.
- Jaklevic, M.C. "Surgeon Fills COVID-19 Testing Gap in Philadelphia's Black Neighborhoods." *JAMA*, vol. 325, no. 1, 2021, pp. 14–16. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1001/jama.2020.22796</u>.

- Jain, B., J.A. Paguio, J.S. Yao, U. Jain, E.C. Dee, L.A. Celi, B. Ojikutu. "Rural-Urban Differences in Influenza Vaccination Among Adults in the United States, 2018-2019." Am J Public Health, vol. 112, no. 2, 2022, pp. 304-307.
- Johns Hopkins. "COVID-19 Testing: Understanding the "Percent Positive." August 2020. <u>https://publichealth.jhu.edu/2020/covid-19-testing-understanding-the-percent-</u> <u>positive#:~:text=The%20percent%20positive%20(sometimes%20called,people%20who%20are%20g</u> etting%20infected%3F. Accessed May 8, 2023.
- Juarez, R., N. Siegal, A.K. Maunakea. "The Effects of COVID-19 Vaccine Mandates in Hawaii." *Vaccines,* vol. 10, no.5, 2022, pp. 773.
- Kates, J., J. Tolbert, and J. Michaud. "The COVID-19 'Vaccination Line': An Update on State Prioritization Plans." 2021. <u>https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-covid-19/issue-brief/the-covid-19-vaccination-line-an-update-on-state-prioritization-plans/</u>. Accessed March 17, 2023.
- Kaiser Family Foundation. "How are States Addressing Racial Equity in COVID-19 Vaccine Efforts?" March 2021. <u>https://www.kff.org/racial-equity-and-health-policy/issue-brief/how-are-states-addressing-racial-equity-in-covid-19-vaccine-efforts/</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- Kepka, D., K. Christini, E. McGough, A. Wagner, G. Del Fiol, B. Gibson, S. Ayres, et al. "Successful Multi-Level HPV Vaccination Intervention at a Rural Healthcare Center in the Era of COVID-19." *Frontiers in Digital Health*, vol. 3, 2021. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.3389/fdgth.2021.719138</u>.
- Khanijahani, A., S. Iezadi, K. Gholipour, S. Azami-Aghdash, and D. Naghibi. "A Systematic Review of Racial/Ethnic and Socioeconomic Disparities in COVID-19." *International Journal for Equity in Health*, vol. 20, no. 1, November 2021.
- Kim, S.J., K. Watson, N. Khare, S. Shastri, C.L. Da Goia Pinto, and N.T. Nazir. "Addressing Racial/Ethnic Equity in Access to COVID-19 Testing through Drive-Thru and Walk-in Testing Sites in Chicago." *Medical Research Archives*, vol. 9, no. 5, 2021. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.18103/mra.v9i5.2430</u>.
- Kriss, J.L., M. Hung, A. Srivastav, C.L. Black, M.C. Lindley, J.T. Lee, R. Koppaka, et al. "COVID-19
  Vaccination Coverage, by Race and Ethnicity National Immunization Survey Adult COVID Module, United States, December 2020–November 2021." *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, vol. 71, no. 23, 2022, pp. 757–763.
- Laster Pirtle, Whitney N. "Racial Capitalism: A Fundamental Cause of Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic Inequities in the United States." *Health Education & Behavior*, vol. 47, no. 4, 2020, pp. 504-508.
- Landes, S.D., M.A., Turk, M.K., Formica, K.E., McDonald, J.D., Stevens. "COVID-19 outcomes among people with intellectual and developmental disability living in residential group homes in New York State." Disabil Health J vol.13, 2020.
- Leibowitz, A., L. Livaditis, G. Daftary, L. Pelton-Cairns, C. Regis, and E. Taveras. "Using Mobile Clinics to Deliver Care to Difficult-to-Reach Populations: A COVID-19 Practice We Should Keep." *Preventive Medicine Reports*, vol. 24, 2021. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101551</u>.
- Leifheit, K.M., L.H., Chaisson, J.A., Medina, R.N., Wahbi, C.L., Shover. "Elevated Mortality Among People Experiencing Homelessness With COVID-19." *Open Forum Infect Dis*. Vol. 8, no. 7, 2021, pp, ofab301.

- Leuchter, R.K., N. Jackson, J. Mafi, C. Sarksian, and D. Geffen. "Association Between Covid-19 Vaccination and Influenza Vaccination Rates." New England Journal of Medicine, vol. 386, 2022, pp. 2531–2532.
- Le-Morawa, N., A. Kunkel, J. Darragh, D. Reede, N.Z. Chidavaenzi, Y. Lees, D. Hoffman, et al. "Effectiveness of a COVID-19 Vaccine Rollout in a Highly Affected American Indian Community, San Carlos Apache Tribe, December 2020-February 2021." *Public Health Reports*, 2022. https://doi.org/doi:10.1177/00333549221120238.
- Linder, A., V. Wilson McCarthy, C. Green, B. Nazdam, D. Jamieson, and K. Stilt. "Animal Markets and Zoonotic Disease in the United States." Harvard Law School, Brooks McCormick Jr. Animal Law & Policy Program and New York University, Center for Environmental & Animal Protection, 2023. <u>https://animal.law.harvard.edu/wp-content/uploads/Animal-Markets-and-Zoonotic-Disease-in-the-United-States.pdf</u>
- MacDonald, N.E. "Vaccine hesitancy: Definition, scope and determinants." *Vaccine*, vol. 33, no. 34, 2015, pp. 4161-4164.
- Malone, B., E. Kim, R. Jennings, R.A. Pacheco, and A. Kieu. "COVID-19 Vaccine Distribution in a Community with Large Numbers of Immigrants and Refugees." *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 112, no. 3, 2022, pp. 393–396. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.2105/ajph.2021.306608</u>.
- Manuel, D.G., R. Delatolla, D.N. Fisman, M. Fuzzen, T. Graber, G.M. Katz, J. Kim, et al. "The Role of Wastewater Testing for SARS-CoV-2 Surveillance." *Science Briefs of Ontario COVID-19 Science Advisory Table*, vol. 2, no. 40, 2021.
- Marcell, L., E. Dokania, I. Navia, C. Baxter, I. Crary, S. Rutz, M.J. Soto Monteverde, et al. "One Vax Two Lives: A Social Media Campaign and Research Program to Address COVID-19 Vaccine Hesitancy in Pregnancy." *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, vol. 227, no. 5, 2022, pp. 685–685. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2022.06.022</u>.
- March of Dimes. "March of Dimes Launches Campaign to End Health Disparities in Routine Immunizations." November 18, 2021. <u>https://www.marchofdimes.org/about/news/march-dimes-launches-campaign-to-end-health-disparities-routine-immunizations</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- Marquedant, K. "Study Finds Racial and Ethnic Disparities in COVID-19 Vaccine Uptake." February 1, 2022. <u>https://www.massgeneral.org/news/press-release/study-finds-racial-and-ethnic-disparities-in-covid-19-vaccine-uptake</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- Marquez, C., A.D. Kerkhoff, J. Naso, M. G. Contreras, E. Castellanos Diaz, S. Rojas, J. Peng, et al. "A Multi-Component, Community-Based Strategy to Facilitate COVID-19 Vaccine Uptake Among Latinx
   Populations: From Theory to Practice." *PloS One*, vol. 16, no. 9, 2021a. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0257111</u>.
- Marquez, N., J.A. Ward, K. Parish, B. Saloner, S. Dolovich. "COVID-19 Incidence and Mortality in Federal and State Prisons Compared With the US Population, April 5, 2020, to April 3, 2021." *JAMA*, vol. 326, no. 18, 2021b, pp. 1865-1867.

- Massachusetts Department of Public Health. "Baker-Polito Administration Launches Targeted Outreach Initiative in 20 Hardest Hit Communities to Increase Equity in COVID-19 Vaccine Awareness and Access; \$1m to Support Vaccination in Historically Underserved Communities." February 2021. <u>https://archives.lib.state.ma.us/bitstream/handle/2452/843386/on1249030866-2021-02-16.pdf</u>. Accessed January 2023.
- Mathur, P.K., and N. Dolgin. "Crafting Successful State-Level Public Health Interventions to Vaccinate Homeless Populations During COVID-19." *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 112, no. 4, 2022, pp. 601–603. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.2105/ajph.2022.306719</u>
- Massetti, G.M., B.R. Jackson, J.T. Brooks, C.G. Perrine, E. Reott, A.J. Hall, D. Lubar, et al. "Summary of Guidance for Minimizing the Impact of COVID-19 on Individual Persons, Communities, and Health Care Systems — United States, August 2022." Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, vol. 71, no. 33, 2022, pp. 1057–1064.
- McCollum, C.G., T.N. Creger, A.I. Rana, L.T. Matthews, S.D. Baral, G.A. Burkholder, W.A. Curry, et al. "COVID Community-Engaged Testing in Alabama: Reaching Underserved Rural Populations through Collaboration." *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 112, no. 10, 2022, pp. 1399–1403.
- McGarry, B.E., A.D. Gandhi, M. Syme, S.D. Berry, E.M. White, D.C. Grabowski. "Association of State COVID-19 Vaccine Mandates With Staff Vaccination Coverage and Staffing Shortages in US Nursing Homes." *JAMA Health Forum*, vol. 29, no.7, 2022, pp. e222363.
- Meghani, S.H., and R.M. Gallagher. "Disparity vs inequity: toward reconceptualization of pain treatment disparities." *Pain Medicine*, vol. 9, no. 5, 2008, pp. 613-623.
- Merrick, E., J.P. Weissman, and S.J. Patel. "Utilizing Google Trends to Monitor Coronavirus Vaccine Interest and Hesitancies." *Vaccine*, vol. 40, no. 30, June 2022, pp. 4057-4063.
- Miller, M.F., M. Shi, A. Motsinger-Reif, C.R. Weinberg, J.D. Miller, and E. Nichols. "Community-Based Testing Sites for SARS-CoV-2 — United States, March 2020–November 2021." *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, vol. 70, 2021, pp. 1706–1711.
- Miller, S., L.R. Wherry, and B. Mazumder. "Estimated Mortality Increases During the COVID-19 Pandemic by Socioeconomic Status, Race, and Ethnicity." *Health Affairs*, vol. 40, no. 8, 2021.
- Molling, P.E., T.T. Holst, B.G. Anderson, K. Fitzgerald, M. Eddy, B.D. Weber, B. Schwan, et al. "Drive-Through Satellite Testing: An Efficient Precautionary Method of Screening Patients for SARS-CoV-2 in a Rural Healthcare Setting." *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health*, vol. 11, 2020, pp. 1–6.
- Moore, D., L.N. Mansfield, E. O. Onsomu, and N. Caviness-Ashe. "The Role of Black Pastors in Disseminating COVID-19 Vaccination Information to Black Communities in South Carolina." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol. 19, no. 15, 2022.
- Morello, L., and D. Lim. "FDA Authorizes Pfizer Vaccine for Kids 12 to 15." *Politico*, 2021. <u>https://www.politico.com/news/2021/05/10/vaccine-pfizer-teens-authorized-</u> <u>486677#:~:text=The%20Food%20and%20Drug%20Administration%20said%20Pfizer%27s%20corona</u> <u>virus,by%20the%20time%20the%20next%20school%20year%20starts</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.

- Mullin, S., S. Wang, I. Morozova, J. Berenson, N. Asase, D. J. Rodney, S. Arthur, et al. "Testing Communication Concepts on COVID-19 Contact Tracing Among Black and Latinx/Hispanic People in the United States." *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, vol. 9, no. 6, 2022, pp. 2300– 2316.
- Muric, G., Y. Wu, and E. Ferrara. "COVID-19 Vaccine Hesitancy on Social Media: Building a Public Twitter Data Set of Antivaccine Content, Vaccine Misinformation, and Conspiracies." *JMIR Publications*, vol. 7, no. 11, 2021.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. *Framework for Equitable Allocation of COVID-19 Vaccine*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2020.
- National Foundation for Infectious Diseases. "Keep Up the Rates." 2021. <u>https://www.nfid.org/keep-up-the-rates/</u>. Accessed January 2023.
- National Governors Association. "Prioritizing Equity in Covid-19 Vaccinations: Promising Practices from States to Reduce Racial and Ethnic Disparities." March 2021. <u>https://www.nga.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2021/03/Duke-NGA\_Equity-in-Covid-19-Vaccination.pdf</u>. Accessed January 2023.
- National Institute of Biomedical Imaging and Bioengineering. "NIH Mobilizes National Innovation Initiative for COVID-19 Diagnostics." 2020. <u>https://www.nibib.nih.gov/news-events/newsroom/nih-mobilizes-national-innovation-initiative-covid-19-diagnostics</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- National Institutes of Health (NIH). "NIH Expands Research to Improve COVID-19 Testing Among Underserved and Vulnerable Populations." November 2020. <u>https://www.nih.gov/newsevents/news-releases/nih-expands-research-improve-covid-19-testing-among-underservedvulnerable-populations</u>. Accessed January 2023.
- NIH. "NIH to Assess and Expand COVID-19 Testing for Underserved Communities." September 2020. <u>https://www.nih.gov/news-events/news-releases/nih-assess-expand-covid-19-testing-underserved-communities#:~:text=September%2030%2C%202020-</u> <u>NIH%20to%20assess%20and%20expand%20COVID%2D19%20testing%20for%20underserved,for%2</u> <u>Ounderserved%20and%20vulnerable%20populations.</u> Accessed January 2023.
- NIH. "RADx-UP." 2020. https://radx-up.org/. Accessed January 2023.
- NIH. "About CEAL." 2023. https://covid19community.nih.gov/about. Accessed April 2023.
- Nayak, A., S.J. Islam, A. Mehta, Y.A. Ko, S.A. Patel, A. Goyal, S. Sullivan, et al. "Impact of Social Vulnerability on COVID-19 Incidence and Outcomes in the United States." *medRxiv* [preprint], April 2020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101%2F2020.04.10.20060962</u>.
- Ndugga, N., Hill, L., S. Artiga. "COVID-19 Cases and Deaths by Race/Ethnicity: Current Data and Changes Over Time." 2022. <u>https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-covid-19/issue-brief/covid-19-cases-and-deaths-by-race-ethnicity-current-data-and-changes-over-time/</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- Neely, J., A. Eddins, N. Lesure, D. Dee, R. Real, R. Singer, N. Crooks, et al. "Privacy, or the Lack Thereof, and Its Implications for Dignity in Mobile COVID-19 Testing." SAGE Open Nursing, vol. 7, 2021. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1177/23779608211029096</u>.

New York State Department of Health. "New York State's Covid-19 Vaccination Program: Executive Summary." October 2020.

https://www.governor.ny.gov/sites/default/files/atoms/files/NYS\_COVID\_Vaccination\_Program\_Bo ok\_10.16.20\_FINAL.pdf. Accessed January 2023.

- Nguyen, K.H., E. Anneser, A. Toppo, J.D. Allen, J.S. Parott, and L. Corlin. "Disparities in National and State Estimates of COVID-19 Vaccination Receipt and Intent to Vaccinate by Race/Ethnicity, Income, and Age Group Among Adults ≥ 18 Years, United States." *Vaccine*, vol. 40, no. 1, January 2022, pp.107– 113.
- NYU Silver School of Social Work. "Dr. Marya Gwadz Awarded NIH Grant to Support COVID-19 Testing in Underserved and Vulnerable Populations." January 2022. <u>https://socialwork.nyu.edu/news/2022/dr-marya-gwadz-awarded-nih-grant-to-support-covid-19-testing-in-.html</u>. Accessed January 2023.
- Ohio Department of Health. "Get Tested for COVID-19." <u>https://coronavirus.ohio.gov/resources/general-resources/get-tested-for-covid-19</u>. Accessed January 2023.
- O'Neil, S., and D.B. Wesley. "A Clear Pathway to Progress and a Framework for Advancing Health Equity." 2021. <u>https://www.mathematica.org/blogs/a-clear-pathway-to-progress-and-a-framework-for-advancing-health-equity</u>. Accessed March 20, 2023.
- Oregon Health Authority. "COVID-19 Vaccine Information for Providers." <u>https://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/PREVENTIONWELLNESS/VACCINESIMMUNIZATION/IMMUNIZATI</u> <u>ONPROVIDERRESOURCES/Pages/COVIDvaccine.aspx</u>. Accessed January 2023.
- Osibanjo, O., K. Benkstein, J. Slater, and A. Shah. "The Role of Managed Care Clinical Pharmacists in Improving COVID-19 Vaccination Rates for Culturally Specific Medicaid Populations." *Journal of the American College of Clinical Pharmacy*, vol. 5, no. 8, 2022, pp. 812–820. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1002/jac5.1662</u>.
- Patel Murthy. B., Murthy, Zell E, Kirtland, K., Jones-Jack, N., Harris, L., Sprague, C. et al. "Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on administration of selected routine childhood and adolescent vaccinations— 10 U.S. jurisdictions, March–September 2020." Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, vol. 70, 2021, pp. 840-845.
- PBS News Hour. "Updated COVID-19 Booster Shots Are Now Available. Here's What You Need to Know." 2022. <u>https://www.pbs.org/newshour/health/updated-covid-19-booster-shots-are-now-available-heres-what-you-need-to-know#:~:text=On%20Sept.%201%2C%202022%2C%20the%20Centers%20for%20Disease,Drug%20Administration%E2%80%99s%20emergency%20use%20authorization%20of%20the%20shots. Accessed March 16, 2023.</u>
- Peteet, B., V. Watts, E. Tucker, P. Brown, M. Hanna, A. Saddlemire, M. Rizk, et al. "Faith, Fear, and Facts: A COVID-19 Vaccination Hesitancy Intervention for Black Church Congregations." *Vaccines*, vol. 10, no. 7, 2022. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.3390/vaccines10071039</u>.
- Pfizer. "Addressing Disproportionate Childhood Vaccination." 2023. <u>https://www.pfizer.com/news/articles/addressing\_disproportionate\_childhood\_vaccination</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.

- Pond, E.N., L. Rutkow, B. Blauer, A.A. Alonso, S.B. de Lis, and J.B. Nuzzo. "Research Brief Report: Disparities in SARS-CoV-2 Testing for Hispanic/Latino Populations: An Analysis of State-Published Demographic Data." *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, vol. 28, no. 4, 2022, pp. 330.
- Public Health—Seattle and King County. "King County Unified Regional Strategy: COVID-19 Vaccine Delivery." April 2021. <u>https://kingcounty.gov/~/media/depts/health/communicable-</u> <u>diseases/documents/C19/king-county-strategy-for-vaccine-delivery.ashx?la=en</u>. Accessed January 2023.
- Pullan, S., and M. Dey. "Vaccine Hesitancy and Anti-Vaccination in the Time of COVID-19: A Google Trends Analysis." *Vaccine*, vol. 39, no. 14, April 2021, pp. 1877-1881. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.03.019</u>

Quest Diagnostics. "Quest Diagnostics Partners with CDC to Extend \$0 Out-of-pocket COVID-19 Diagnostic Testing to Underserved Communities." 2022. <u>https://newsroom.questdiagnostics.com/2022-07-07-Quest-Diagnostics-Partners-with-CDC-to-Extend-0-Out-of-pocket-COVID-19-Diagnostic-Testing-to-Underserved-Communities</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.

- Rader, B., A. Gertz, A.D. Iuliano, M. Gilmer, L. Wronski, C.M. Astley, K. Sewalk et al. "Use of At-Home COVID-19 Tests—United States, August 23, 2021–March 12, 2022." *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, vol. 71, no. 13, 2022, pp. 489. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7113e1</u>
- Reitsma, M.B., J.D. Goldhaber-Fiebert, and J.A. Salomon. "Quantifying and Benchmarking Disparities in COVID-19 Vaccination Rates by Race and Ethnicity." *JAMA Network Open*, vol. 4, no. 10, October 2021, p. e2130343.

http://jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.30343.

- Relias Media. "Reproductive Health Organizations Help Vaccinate Patients, Communities: Planned Parenthood Targets Minority Populations." *Contraceptive Technology Update*, vol. 42, no. 8, 2021, pp. 1–4.
- Rockfeller Foundation. "The Rockefeller Foundation Partners With iHealth Labs, CareEvolution, Amazon, and Six State Health Departments to Deliver Free Covid-19 Tests to Vulnerable Communities." January 2022. <u>https://www.rockefellerfoundation.org/news/the-rockefeller-foundation-partners-</u> <u>with-ihealth-labs-careevolution-amazon-and-six-state-health-departments-to-deliver-free-covid-19-</u> tests-to-vulnerable-communities/. Accessed January 2023.
- Romano S.D., A.J. Blackstock, E.V. Taylor, S.E. Felix, S. Adjeiet, C. Singleton, J. Fuld, et al. "Trends in Racial and Ethnic Disparities in COVID-19 Hospitalizations, by Region—United States, March–December 2020." *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, vol. 70, April 2021, pp.560–565.
- Rosen, A.D., A. Senturia, I. Howerton, E.U. Kantrim, V. Evans, T. Malluche, J. Miller, et al. "A COVID-19 Vaccination Program to Promote Uptake and Equity for People Experiencing Homelessness in Los Angeles County." *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 113, no. 2, 2023, pp. 170–174. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.2105/ajph.2022.307147</u>.
- Roth, Ella. "State Strategies to Increase COVID-19 and Routine Immunizations in Advance of Back-to-School." National Academy for State Health Policy blog, August 23, 2021.

- Rubin-Miller, L., C. Alban, S. Artiga, and S. Sullivan. "COVID-19 Racial Disparities in Testing, Infection, Hospitalization, and Death: Analysis of Epic Patient Data." 2020. <u>https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-</u> <u>covid-19/issue-brief/covid-19-racial-disparities-testing-infection-hospitalization-death-analysis-epic-</u> <u>patient-data/</u>. Accessed March 20, 2023.
- Ryerson, A.B., C.E. Rice, M. Hung, S.A. Patel, J.D. Weeks, J.L. Kriss, G. Peacock, et al. "Disparities in COVID-19 Vaccination Status, Intent, and Perceived Access for Noninstitutionalized Adults, by Disability Status — National Immunization Survey Adult COVID Module, United States, May 30–June 26, 2021." *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, vol. 70, no. 39, 2021, pp. 1365–1371.
- Saelee, R., E. Zell, B.P. Murthy, P. Castro-Roman, H. Fast, L. Meng, L. Shaw, et al. "Disparities in COVID-19
   Vaccination Coverage Between Urban and Rural Counties United States, December 14, 2020–
   January 31, 2022." Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, vol. 71, no. 9, 2022, pp. 335–340.
- Saloner, B., K., Parish, J.A., Ward, G., DiLaura, S., Dolovich. "COVID-19 Cases and Deaths in Federal and State Prisons." *JAMA*. Vol. 324, no.6, pp. 602–603. doi:10.1001/jama.2020.12528
- Santoli, J.M., M.C. Lindley, M.B. DeSilva, E.O. Kharbanda, M.F. Daley, L. Galloway, J. Gee, et al. "Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Routine Pediatric Vaccine Ordering and Administration — United States, 2020." Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, vol. 69, no. 19, May 15, 2020, pp. 591-593. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/69/wr/mm6919e2.htm. Accessed January 2023.
- Schnirring, L. "Early US Indicators Show Ongoing Slight Rise in COVID-19 Activity." July 21, 2023. <u>Early US</u> <u>indicators show ongoing slight rise in COVID-19 activity | CIDRAP (umn.edu)</u>. Accessed August 1, 2023.
- Sears, G., M. Tutt, S. Sabo, N. Lee, N. Teufel-Shone, A. Baca, M. Bennett, et al. "Building Trust and Awareness to Increase Az Native Nation Participation in COVID-19 Vaccines." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol. 20, no. 1, 2022.
- Seither, R., J. Laury, A. Mugerwa-Kasujja, C.L. Knighton, and C.L. Black. "Vaccination Coverage with Selected Vaccines and Exemption Rates Among Children in Kindergarten — United States, 2020–21 School Year." *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, vol. 71, 2022, pp. 561–568.
- Seither, R., K. Calhoun, O. Bidemi Yusuf, D. Dramann, A. Mugerwa-Kasujja, C.L. Knighton, and C.L. Black.
  "Vaccination Coverage with Selected Vaccines and Exemption Rates Among Children in Kindergarten — United States, 2021–22 School Year." *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, vol. 72, 2023, pp. 26-32. 2023.
- Servick, K. "'Huge Hole' in COVID-19 Testing Data Makes It Harder to Study Racial Disparities." *Science*, July 10, 2020. <u>https://www.science.org/content/article/huge-hole-covid-19-testing-data-makes-it-</u> harder-study-racial-disparities. Accessed January 2023.
- Simmons, A., A. Chappel, A.R. Kolbe, L. Bush, and B.D. Sommers. "Health Disparities by Race and Ethnicity During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Current Evidence and Policy Approaches." March 6, 2021. Available at <u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/migrated\_legacy\_files//199516/covid-equityissue-brief.pdf</u>. Accessed April 11, 2023.
- Singler, L., G. Uhlenbrauck, G. Corbie-Smith, A. Richmond, A. Hattem, K. Linney, and M. Cohen-Wolkowiez. "Say Yes! COVID Test: A Health Communication Campaign to Encourage Use of Rapid, at-Home Antigen." *Inquiry*, vol. 60, 2023. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00469580221146046</u>.

- Skolnik, A., A. Bhatti, A. Larson, R. Mitrovich. "Silent Consequences of COVID-19: Why It's Critical to Recover Routine Vaccination Rates Through Equitable Vaccine Policies and Practices." Ann Fam Med, vol. 19, no. 6, 2021, pp. 527-531.
- Smith A.R., J. DeVies, E. Caruso, L. Radhakrishnan, M. Sheppard, Z. Stein, R.M. Calanan, et al. "Emergency Department Visits for COVID-19 by Race and Ethnicity—13 States, October– December 2020." *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, vol. 70, no. 15, April 2021, pp.566– 569.
- Sparks, G., A. Kirzinger, and M. Brodie. "KFF COVID-19 Vaccine Monitor: Profile of the Unvaccinated." 2021. <u>https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-covid-19/poll-finding/kff-covid-19-vaccine-monitor-profile-of-the-unvaccinated/</u>. Accessed March 20, 2023.
- Stokley, S. "National and State-Level HPV Vaccination Coverage." 2022. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/acip/meetings/downloads/slides-2022-06-22-23/02-HPV-Stokley-508.pdf</u>. Accessed March 29, 2023.
- Tan, T.Q., R. Kullar, T.H. Swartz, T.A. Mathew, D.A. Piggott, and V. Berthaud. "Location Matters: Geographic Disparities and Impact of Coronavirus Disease 2019." *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, vol. 222, no. 12, 2020, pp. 1951–1954.
- The Covid Tracking Project. "Long-Term-Care COVID Tracker." 2021. https://covidtracking.com/nursinghomes-long-term-care-facilities. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- Thomson, A., K. Robinson, and G. Vallée-Tourangeau. "The 5As: A practical taxonomy for the determinants of vaccine uptake." *Vaccine*, vol. 34, no. 8, 2016, pp. 1018-1024.
- TsaiT.C., B.H., Jacobson, E.J. Orav, A.K., Jha. "Association of community-level social vulnerability with US acute care hospital intensive care unit capacity during COVID-19." *Healthc (Amst)* vol. 10, no.1, pp. 100611.
- UC Davis Health. "UC Davis to Offer Free COVID-19 Testing for Central Valley Farmworkers." October 1, 2020. <u>https://health.ucdavis.edu/news/headlines/grant-allows-uc-davis-to-test-farmworkers-for-covid-19-at-their-workplace/2020/09</u>. Accessed January 2023.
- UNC Health and UNC School of Medicine. "Health Equity Research, and Partners Receive \$80 million NIH Grant to Expand COVID-19 Testing." October 1, 2020. <u>https://news.unchealthcare.org/2020/10/duke-clinical-research-institute-unc-center-for-health-equity-research-and-partners-receive-80-million-nih-grant-to-expand-covid-19-testing/</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- University of Utah. "New Initiatives Awarded \$4.7 Million to Encourage COVID-19 Testing in Underserved Communities and Schools." April 2022. <u>https://healthcare.utah.edu/publicaffairs/news/2022/04/4-scaleup-ii</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- Urban Institute. "Data Are Essential to Prioritizing Racial and Ethnic Equity in COVID-19 Vaccination." February 2021. <u>https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/data-are-essential-prioritizing-racial-and-ethnic-equity-covid-19-vaccination</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.

U.S. Department of Agriculture. "Emergency Rural Health Care Grants Track 1: Recovery Grants Application Guide." August 2021.

https://www.rd.usda.gov/sites/default/files/508 rd erhctrackoneapplicationguide 091721.pdf. Accessed April 12, 2023.

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). "Join the COVID-19 Community Corps!" 2021a. https://wecandothis.hhs.gov/covidcommunitycorps#:~:text=The%20Corps%2C%20launched%20in% 20April,health%2C%20communities%2C%20and%20economy. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- HHS. "Biden Administration Announces Actions to Expand COVID-19 Testing." 2021b. <u>https://public3.pagefreezer.com/content/HHS.gov/18-02-</u> <u>2021T04:26/https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2021/02/17/biden-administration-announces-</u> <u>actions-expand-covid-19-testing.html</u>. Accessed March 16, 2023.
- HHS. "COVID-19 Testing and Diagnostics Working Group (TDWG)." 2021c. <u>https://www.hhs.gov/coronavirus/testing/testing-diagnostics-working-group/index.html</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- HHS. "Featured Priority: Catch-Up Immunization." 2021d. <u>https://www.hhs.gov/vaccines/featured-priorities/catch-up-vaccination/index.html</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- HHS. "HHS Announces New \$350 Million Initiative to Increase COVID-19 Vaccinations." November 2022. https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2022/11/22/hhs-announces-new-350-million-initiative-increasecovid-19-vaccinations.html. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of Minority Health. "HHS Announces Partnership with Morehouse School of Medicine to Fight COVID-19 in Racial and Ethnic Minority and Vulnerable Communities." June 23, 2020.
   <a href="https://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/omh/Content.aspx?ID=17500&lvl=2&lvlid=8">https://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/omh/Content.aspx?ID=17500&lvl=2&lvlid=8</a>. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. "CDBG-CV Program." 2021. https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/cdbg-cv/. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- U.S. Government Accountability Office. "Federal Efforts to Provide Vaccines to Racial and Ethnic Groups." February 2022. <u>https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-22-105079</u>. Accessed April 4, 2023.
- Venegas-Murillo, A.L., M. Bazargan, S. Grace, S. Cobb, R. Vargas, S. Givens, S. Li-Sarain, et al. "Mitigating COVID-19 Risk and Vaccine Hesitancy Among Underserved African American and Latinx Individuals with Mental Illness through Mental Health Therapist-Facilitated Discussions" *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 2022, pp. 1–13.
- Wang, Q.Q., D.C. Kaelber, R. Xu, N.D. Volkow. "COVID-19 risk and outcomes in patients with substance use disorders: analyses from electronic health records in the United States." *Mol Psychiatry*. vol. 26, no. 1, 2021, pp. 30-39.
- Wasfy, J.H., M.K. Hidrue, H. Rockett, E.T. Cafiero-Fonseca, T.G. Ferris, and M.G. del Carmen.
   "Socioeconomic and Demographic Characteristics of Both Inpatients and Outpatients with Positive Testing for SARS-CoV-2." *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, vol. 36, 2021, pp. 2522–2524.

- Washington, T.A., W. Glenn, J. Barreras, and A. Ramos. "COVID-19 Prevention Program to Encourage Vaccination Uptake Among Substance-Using Black and Latinx Sexual Minority Men." *Health and Social Work*, vol. 47, no. 4, 2022, pp. 301–304. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1093/hsw/hlac022</u>.
- Webb Hooper, M., A.M. Nápoles, and E.J. Pérez-Stable. "COVID-19 and Racial/Ethnic Disparities." Journal of the American Medical Association, vol. 323, no. 24, May 2020, pp. 2466–2467. http://jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/jama.2020.8598.
- Weixel, N. "CDC adds COVID vaccine to routine immunization schedule for kids, adults." February 9, 2023. <u>https://news.yahoo.com/cdc-adds-covid-vaccine-routine-</u> 230629686.html?guccounter=1&guce\_referrer=aHR0cHM6Ly93d3cuYmluZy5jb20v&guce\_referrer\_s ig=AQAAANQVEIXrSkCEWhaGp-B4cs71XSTxO2B6mmUMNCMCzup3cXO4zfigvs-A27074kuTFT-VMpjSIqFPCXrV9iZqhXEKSIKQNWDa\_pc9BChBTyJGJ-3jre8sYz4J1xCREBw1frqI5URhfi75ZI-CLZXzcDPQLqL80kreiliZscaCoQkw. Accessed May 2, 2023.
- Whanger, S., S.K. Davis, E. Kemper, J. Heath-Granger, and S.L. Hodder. "Novel Strategies to Increase COVID-19 Testing among Underserved and Vulnerable Populations in West Virginia." *American Journal of Public Health*, vol. 112, 2022, pp. S892–S895.
- White House. "Fact Sheet: Biden Administration Announces Historic \$10 Billion Investment to Expand Access to COVID-19 Vaccines and Build Vaccine Confidence in Hardest-Hit and Highest-Risk Communities." 2021a. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-</u> <u>releases/2021/03/25/fact-sheet-biden-administration-announces-historic-10-billion-investment-toexpand-access-to-covid-19-vaccines-and-build-vaccine-confidence-in-hardest-hit-and-highest-riskcommunities/. Accessed April 2023.</u>
- White House. "Fact Sheet: President Biden to Announce All Americans to be Eligible for Vaccinations by May 1, Puts the Nation on a Path to Get Closer to Normal by July 4th." 2021b. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/03/11/fact-sheet-presidentbiden-to-announce-all-americans-to-be-eligible-for-vaccinations-by-may-1-puts-the-nation-on-apath-to-get-closer-to-normal-by-july-4th/. Accessed March 29, 2023.</u>
- Whitener, K., and A. Corcoran. "Decline in Routine Childhood Vaccinations Puts Children, Families and Communities at Risk of Outbreak." 2021. <u>https://ccf.georgetown.edu/2021/07/15/decline-in-routine-childhood-vaccinations-puts-children-families-and-communities-at-risk-of-outbreak/</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- Williams, E., J. Kates, and R. Rudowitz. "Update on Children's COVID-19 and Routine Vaccination Trends Heading into Winter and as Respiratory Viruses Surge." 2022. <u>https://www.kff.org/policywatch/update-on-childrens-covid-19-and-routine-vaccination-trends-heading-into-winter-and-asrespiratory-viruses-surge/</u>. Accessed March 29, 2023.
- Willis, D. E., B. E. Montgomery, J. P. Selig, J. A. Andersen, Shah, S. K., Li, J., ... P. A. and McElfish. "COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy and racial discrimination among US adults." *Preventive Medicine Reports*, vol. 31, no. 102074. 2023.
- Winterbauer, E., P.D. Levy, D. Calhoun, T. Elwell, E. Fishbein, S. Donohue, and J. Little. "Qualitative Review of Promising Practices for Testing Vulnerable Populations at Off-Site COVID-19 Testing Centers." *Healthcare*, vol. 9, no. 1, 2021.

- World Health Organization. "Strategy to Achieve Global Covid-19 Vaccination by Mid-2022." n.d. <u>https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/immunization/covid-19/strategy-to-achieve-global-covid-19-vaccination-by-mid-2022.pdf</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- World Health Organization (WHO). "A Conceptual Framework for Action on the Social Determinants of Health." 2010. <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241500852</u>. Accessed March 20, 2023.
- World Health Organization. "COVID-19 Pandemic Fuels Largest Continued Backslide in Vaccinations in Three Decades." July 2022. <u>https://www.who.int/news/item/15-07-2022-covid-19-pandemic-fuels-largest-continued-backslide-in-vaccinations-in-three-decades</u>. Accessed April 12, 2023.
- World Health Organization. "Social determinants of health." 2023. Available at <a href="https://www.who.int/health-topics/social-determinants-of-health#tab=tab\_1">https://www.who.int/health-topics/social-determinants-of-health#tab=tab\_1</a>. Accessed May 8, 2023.

# Appendix A. Additional information on research methodology for the literature review

Exhibit A.1 lists the search terms and search strings we used to identify scholarly and gray literature.

Exhibit A.1.	Literature	search	terms and	search	strings
--------------	------------	--------	-----------	--------	---------

Category	Search term		
Search terms for scholarly literature			
Subjects	<ol> <li>COVID* AND test*</li> <li>COVID* AND vaccin* OR immuniz* OR immunis* OR innoculat*</li> <li>Routine OR compulsory* OR scheduled OR mandatory OR Monovalent OR Bivalent OR booster) AND (vaccin* OR immunis* OR immuniz* OR innoculat*)</li> </ol>		
Population of interest	(race OR racial OR racism OR ethnic* OR nonwhite OR Black* OR (African N2 American) OR Hispanic OR Latin* OR Mexican* OR Dominican* OR Haitian* OR Asian* OR Hmong OR Vietnamese OR (Native N2 American) OR (American N2 Indian) OR (pacific N2 islander) OR (Native N2 Hawaiian) OR indigenous OR native* OR Indian* OR tribe OR tribal OR refugee* OR immigrant* OR undocument* OR elder* OR (older N2 adult) OR (limited N2 English) OR disabilit* OR disabled OR Medicaid OR rural OR impair* OR homeless* OR incarcerated OR (chronic* N2 (ill OR illness)) OR "chronically ill" OR pregnan* OR "low income" OR poor OR poverty OR lesbian OR gay OR "bi-sexual" OR bisexual OR transgender OR LGBTQ* OR "at risk" OR "high risk" OR minorit* OR marginali* OR discrimin* OR segregat* OR "under-insured" OR underinsured OR uninsured OR "under-resourced" OR underresourced OR vulnerabl* OR disadvantag*)		
Topic	( (uptake OR confiden* OR hesitan* OR trust OR mistrust OR barrier OR program* OR interven* OR initiat* OR incentiv* OR implement* OR policy OR policies OR coverage OR strateg* OR educat* OR expand* OR communit* OR clinic* OR progress* OR challeng* OR attitude* OR measur* OR practice* OR campaign* OR study OR model* OR respon* OR resource* OR recommend* OR opportunit* facilitat* OR aware* OR Local* OR "Community-Based" OR communit* OR "Place-Based" OR "Local Health" OR Jurisdiction* OR "Indian Health" OR IHS OR "Federally Qualified" OR "Health Center*" OR FQHC OR Pharmac* OR nonprofit OR "Non-profit" OR City OR cities OR County OR counties OR State OR states OR Territor* OR Federal* OR Nationwide OR Tribal) ) OR AB ( (uptake OR confiden* OR hesitan* OR trust OR mistrust OR barrier OR program* OR interven* OR initiat* OR incentiv* OR implement* OR policy OR policies OR coverage OR strateg* OR educat* OR expand* OR communit* OR clinic* OR progress* OR challeng* OR attitude* OR measur* OR practice* OR campaign* OR study OR model* OR respon* OR resource* OR communit* OR clinic* OR progress* OR challeng* OR attitude* OR measur* OR practice* OR campaign* OR study OR model* OR respon* OR resource* OR recommend* OR opportunit* facilitat* OR aware* OR Local* OR "Community-Based" OR "communit* OR "Place-Based" OR "Local Health" OR Jurisdiction* OR "Indian Health" OR IHS OR "Federally Qualified" OR "Health Center*" OR FOHC OR Policies OR courtive* OR measur* OR practice* OR campaign* OR study OR model* OR respon* OR resource* OR recommend* OR opportunit* facilitat* OR aware* OR Local* OR "Community-Based" OR "Community-Based" OR "Communit* OR "Place-Based" OR "Local Health" OR Jurisdiction* OR "Indian Health" OR IHS OR "Federally Qualified" OR "Health Center*" OR FQHC OR Pharmac* OR nonprofit OR "Non-profit" OR City OR communit* OR "Place-Based" OR "Local Health" OR Jurisdiction* OR "Indian Health" OR IHS OR "Federally Qualified" OR "Health Center*" OR FQHC OR Pharmac* OR nonprofit OR "Non-profit" OR City OR cities OR Cou		
Geography	"United States" OR america* OR "USA" OR alabama OR alaska OR arizona OR arkansas OR california OR colorado OR connecticut OR delaware OR "District of Columbia" OR florida OR georgia OR hawaii OR idaho OR illinois OR indiana OR iowa OR kansas OR kentucky OR louisiana OR maine OR maryland OR massachusetts OR michigan OR minnesota OR mississippi OR missouri OR montana OR nebraska OR nevada OR "New Hampshire" OR "New Jersey" OR "New Mexico" OR "New York" OR carolina OR dakota OR ohio OR oklahoma OR oregon OR pennsylvania OR "Rhode Island" OR tennessee OR texas OR utah OR vermont OR virginia OR washington OR wisconsin OR Wyoming		

Category	Search term		
Search strings for gray literature			
COVID-19	(Covid testing) AND (race minority vulnerable underserved) AND		
testing	(program model initiative campaign strategy)		
COVID-19	(Covid vaccination) AND (race minority vulnerable underserved) AND		
vaccination	(program model initiative campaign strategy)		
Routine	(routine vaccination) AND Covid AND (race minority vulnerable underserved) AND		
vaccination	(program model initiative campaign strategy)		

\*Asterisks denote search terms that are root words and that we searched in the sources with a variety of word endings. For example, the search engine searched the term "test\*" as "test", "tests", "tests", and "tester".

Exhibit A.1. provides information on how many sources we identified through our searches and through items provided by ASPE, how many sources screened in, how many sources Mathematica content experts identified as highly relevant, how many sources we reviewed, and source categories. We first screened in sources based on a review of the source title if they met the following inclusion criteria: (1) source title discusses COVID-19 testing or COVID-19 vaccination best practices, recommendations, or guidance; (2) source title discusses routine vaccination best practices, recommendations, or guidance; or (3), source title discusses COVID-19 vaccination, COVID-19 testing, or routine vaccination programs or initiatives. We also applied the following exclusion criteria: (1) source was published before 2020; (2) source does not focus on the United States. We further prioritized sources by reviewing the title and abstract for explicit discussion of programs, initiatives, campaigns, models, and strategies.

#### Exhibit A.2. Sources identified, screened, deemed highly relevant, and reviewed

Identification (N = 1,079)

Peer-reviewed (n = 931)
 Google (n = 120)
 Other<sup>b</sup> (n = 28)

#### Screening (N = 460)

• Peer-reviewed (n = 395)

- Google (n = 44)
- Other<sup>b</sup> (n = 21)

Relevance and full review (N = 127)<sup>a</sup> •Peer-reviewed (n = 62) •Google (n = 44)

•Other<sup>b</sup> (n = 21)

Note: The reference list includes more than the 127 reviewed papers because we conducted supplementary searching to inform complete descriptions of barriers to COVID-19 testing and vaccination, structural racism, federal guidelines and recommendations on testing and vaccination, and other topics.

<sup>a</sup> We reviewed all sources deemed highly relevant.

<sup>b</sup> Sources with the "Other" designation include items provided by ASPE, such as gray literature and links to federal programs that we included after de-duplicating sources.

#### Exhibit A.3. Sources reviewed and included in analysis

Source type or focus	Count		
COVID-19 testing	35		
COVID-19 vaccinations	33		
Routine vaccinations	6		
Federal programs	30		
Synthesis papers <sup>a</sup>	23		

<sup>a</sup> Sources included in the "Synthesis papers" group are sources that we identified through our peer-reviewed literature and gray literature searches that synthesized information on multiple programs, initiatives, campaigns, models or strategies at a high level or described general best practices related to COVID-19 vaccinations, COVID-19 testing, or routine vaccinations, but did not describe one program in depth. They also included papers on barriers to testing and vaccination.

## Appendix B. Organizations included in key informant interviews

Exhibit B.1 presents the types of organizations that key informants represent and number of interviews with each type of organization.

Category	Number of organizations	Description
Clinical/local providers	4 clinical organizations/health systems 2 local health departments	<ul> <li>FQHC in the Midwest</li> <li>Tribal health system in the West</li> <li>National pharmacy retailer</li> <li>National pharmacy association</li> <li>Local health department in the South</li> <li>Local health department in the Midwest</li> </ul>
State health departments	1 academic institution 2 state health departments	<ul> <li>Academic institution in the West</li> <li>State health department in the Northeast</li> <li>State health department in the South</li> </ul>
CBOs	6 CBOs	<ul> <li>CBO in Midwest that serves a large immigrant population</li> <li>CBO in West that that works to advance health and racial equity among the populations they serve</li> <li>CBO in South that works in 3 primarily rural counties</li> <li>CBO that uses media and communications strategies to serve Black populations, primarily in the South.</li> <li>CBO focused in tribal populations on Northwest</li> <li>CBO in South that primarily serves Latinx populations</li> </ul>
Funders	2 non-federal funders	- Foundations that fund health interventions in the U.S. and abroad.
	5 federal funders	<ul> <li>Federal agencies that fund health services/ public health programs and respond to disasters</li> </ul>

#### Exhibit B.1. Organizations included in key informant interviews

We developed and used semi-structured interview guides tailored for the following categories of key informants: (1) clinical and local providers, (2) state health departments, (3) CBOs, and (4) funders. Exhibit B2. presents the research questions covered in these interview guides, by respondent type. We developed interview questions for each category of key informants related to the research questions.

### Exhibit B.2. Research questions covered interview guides, by respondent type

	Clinical/local providers	State health depts	CBOs	Funders
<b>RQ1.</b> [Policy context] What policies did local, state, or federal jurisdictions use to increase COVID-19 testing and vaccination (for example, public health system structure, laws, and regulations, etc.) in underserved populations? What policies were effective at increasing outcomes of interest?		Х		х
<b>RQ2.</b> [Resource distribution/Administrative preparedness] How did programs use resources (such as funding, staffing, materials) provided by local, state, or federal jurisdictions to increase COVID-19 testing and vaccination? What challenges did programs face using resources? What resources were effective?	Х	X	x	x
<b>RQ3.</b> [ <b>Program definition</b> ] What key programs deliver COVID-19 testing and vaccination services to underserved populations?	x	х	х	х
<b>RQ3.</b> [Program implementation] (1) Through what entities/mechanisms are programs delivered? (2) What are the combinations of intervention strategies that make up the programs? (3) Do the programs/intervention strategies vary by population? (4) What are the barriers and facilitators to implementing these programs/intervention strategies? (5) How has program delivery changed over time?	Х		x	x
<b>RQ4.</b> [Ensure equity] How do programs identify the populations they intend to receive the COVID-19 testing and vaccination services? How are data, metrics (indices, data tools), or intentional strategies used to identify the intended populations, including strategies to identify underserved populations that existed prior to the pandemic? How has this changed over time?	х	Х	x	х
<b>RQ 8. [Evaluating programs]</b> How are COVID-19 testing and vaccination programs in underserved population(s) being evaluated? Are there metrics (for example, indices, data tools) used to identify and assess implementation and program outcomes? What data or resources are needed to develop these metrics?	х	Х		х
<b>RQ10.</b> [Ensuring routine vaccinations] How have federal, state, or local jurisdictions ensured that children and adults are up-to-date for routinely recommended vaccines during the pandemic?	х	х		х
<b>RQ12.</b> [Novel strategies for bundling vaccines] What novel strategies to promote COVID-19 vaccines simultaneously with routine vaccines are being used? What strategies or resources from the COVID-19 vaccination rollout can be utilized for routinely recommended vaccines for children and adults?	x	Х		х
## Appendix C. Glossary of terms

## Exhibit C.1. Glossary of terms

Term	Definition
Equity concepts	
Health inequity	Health disparities that are deemed unfair or that stem from some form of injustice ( <u>Meghani &amp; Gallagher 2008</u> )
Health-related social needs	Barriers to health, experienced at the individual level, that are within the purview of health care providers to identify and help address, such as housing instability, safety needs, food insecurity, and financial strain, among others ( <u>CMS 2022</u> )
Social determinants of health	The conditions in which people are born, grow, work, live, worship, and age, including neighborhood environments, schools, and the workplace (World Health Organization 2023)
Structural racism	Public and private policies, norms, and cultural representations that inherently lead to unequal freedom, opportunity, value, resources, advantage, restrictions, constraints or disadvantage for individuals and populations according to their race or ethnicity (Braveman et al. 2022)
Program goals	
Awareness	The degree to which individuals have knowledge of the need for, and availability of, recommended vaccines [or testing] and their objective benefits and risks (Thomson et al. 2016)
Access	The ability of individuals to be reached by, or to reach, recommended vaccines [or testing] ( <u>Thomson et al. 2016)</u>
Confidence	Trust in (1) the effectiveness and safety of vaccines [or testing]; (2) the system that delivers them, including the reliability and competence of the health services and health professionals and (3) the motivations of policymakers who decide on the needed vaccines [or testing] (MacDonald 2015)
Uptake	The action of getting a vaccine or test <sup>a</sup>
Metrics	
Testing or vaccination rate	Uptake of COVID-19 testing or vaccination, generally measured as a proportion of the eligible population, or: # people tested or vaccinated/total eligible population x 100% (Leuchter et al. 2022)
Test positivity rate	Sometimes called the "positivity rate," quantifies the percentage of all coronavirus tests performed that are actually positive, or: (positive tests)/(total tests) x 100% (Johns Hopkins 2020)
Terms relevant to study goals	
Promising practices	A practice that worked within one organization, shows promise for becoming a best practice, has some objective basis for a claim of effectiveness, and has potential for replication among other organizations (Brennan et al. 2011).
Best practices	A practice that has been proven to be effective in improving population health through rigorous evaluations. It is effective in a specific real-life setting and likely to be replicable in other settings (Brennan et al. 2011).

<sup>a</sup> The term "uptake" was used in many ways across the sources in our scan, as well as the epidemiology literature more broadly. Some sources use uptake synonymously with rate, which is a population-level measure (for example, <u>Leuchter et al. 2022</u>). For the purposes of this report, we define uptake as an individual-level action or outcome.